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PART I
Item 1. Business

Who Are We?
Rohm and Haas Company was incor-
porated in 1917 under the laws of the
State of Delaware.  Our shares are
traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “ROH.”  

We are a global specialty materials
company that began over 90 years ago
when a chemist and a businessman
decided to form a partnership to
make a unique chemical product for
the leather industry.  That once tiny
firm, now known as Rohm and Haas
Company, reported sales of $6.4 bil-
lion in 2003 on a portfolio of global
businesses including specialty chemi-
cals, electronic materials and salt.
Today, we leverage science and tech-
nology in many different areas to
design materials and processes that
enable our customers’ products to
work.  We serve many different market
places, the largest of which include:
construction and building; electron-
ics; household products and personal
care; packaging; food and retail; and
automotive.  To serve these markets,
we operate over 100 manufacturing
and 30 research facilities in 27 coun-
tries with approximately 17,300
employees.  Our geographic reach
continues to expand with 53% of our
sales in North America, 27% in
Europe, 17% in Asia-Pacific and 3% in
Latin America.

Yet, despite the remarkable changes
our company has undergone since it
was founded by Otto Röhm, the scien-
tist, and Otto Haas, the businessman,
Rohm and Haas remains remarkably
true to the original vision of its
founders:  to be a high quality suppli-
er of specialty materials that improve
the quality of life.  Over five years ago,

we began to diversify our portfolio of
product offerings to enhance our spe-
cialty chemical business by acquiring
Morton International’s Chemical and
Salt businesses, and complementing
our Electronics Materials business
through the acquisitions of LeaRonal
and Rodel.  With the acquisition of
these and other important businesses
in the past five years, we have doubled
our sales, balanced our portfolio sea-
sonally, expanded our geographic
reach and product opportunities to
meet market demand and enhanced
our cash generating abilities.  

Our specialty chemical, electronic
materials and salt businesses will be
discussed in more detail later in this
section.

What is Our
Focus?
In 2003, our focus was and will con-
tinue to be in 2004:

• Organic Growth;
• Cash Generation; and
• Corporate Governance.

Organic Growth
To increase sales in our existing seg-
ments, we are focused on:

• Marketing excellence - focusing our
energies on the fastest growing
market segments; cultivating our
name recognition in the market-
place and differentiating our-
selves from our competitors; 

• Innovation - continually striving to
bring new products to the market-
place; modifying our portfolio as
needed to meet the changing mar-
ketplace, while leveraging our
world class acrylic and electronic
materials technologies; 

• Geographic reach - leveraging our
geographic footprint to take
advantage of market demand; and

• Growth through efficiency -  leverag-
ing technology in all forms, includ-
ing our Enterprise Resource
Planning system, and information
technology systems to control costs
and gain operational efficiencies.

Cash Generation
We will use our ability to generate cash
flow from operating activities and our
strong cash position to maintain flexi-
bility in our balance sheet, while con-
tinuing the company’s long history of
increasing dividend payments.

Corporate Governance
Our company was built and contin-
ues to rely on a strong foundation of
core values.  We believe that these
values are the bedrock of our success.
We strive to operate at the highest
levels of integrity and ethics and in
support of this, require that all
salaried employees, as well as the
members of our Board of Directors,
receive compliance training and
annually certify their compliance
with our internal Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics.  We have identi-
fied the following as our core values:

• Ethical behavior; 
• Integrity in our business interac-

tions – with customers, suppliers
and each other; and

• Trust – trust that we will do what
we promise to do.

Our Board of Directors has invested
substantial time in examining our
business practices with regard to the
norms of institutional  integrity.  Our
Board is comprised of 14 Directors,
of whom 12 are non-employees.  Our
Audit, Nominating and Compen-
sation committees of the Board are
all composed entirely of independ-
ent directors.
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Products from our Coatings business-
es are sold globally, with approxi-
mately 60% of sales in North
America, 25% in Europe, 10% in
Asia-Pacific and 5% in Latin
America.  Sales for all three of these
businesses fluctuate depending on
the season and are sensitive to fluctu-
ating raw material costs.

Architectural and Functional Coatings is
the largest of the businesses in the
Coatings segment.  In 1953, we pio-
neered the acrylic waterborne chem-
istry that has evolved into our cur-
rent high quality, technologically
advanced product offerings of
binders and additives for acrylic
paint.  Our technology improves the
durability, tint retention, adhesion,
stain resistance and opacity of paint.

Our customer base includes well
known, high quality paint suppliers.
In addition to the architectural and
decorative coatings markets, this seg-
ment also offers products that serve a
wide variety of coatings to:  industrial
markets for use on metal, wood and
in traffic paint; the building industry
for use in roofing materials, insula-
tion and cement markets; and con-
sumer markets for use in paper, tex-
tiles and non-woven fibers, graphic
arts and leather markets.

Powder Coatings produces a compre-
hensive line of powder coatings that
are sprayed onto consumer and
industrial products and parts in a
solid form.  During the powder coat-
ing process, tiny particles receive an
electrostatic charge as they pass
through the sprayer, which causes

them to stick to the product.  The
product is later baked in an oven,
where the particles melt onto the
product to form the final coating.
Powder coatings are more cost-effec-
tive than liquid coatings and provide
similar or enhanced benefits, includ-
ing increased durability such as tem-
perature and wear resistance.  Our
powder coatings are used on a wide
variety of  products, ranging from
door handles to patio and deck fur-
niture, to windshield wipers, televi-
sions and industrial shelving.  

Automotive Coatings formulates and
manufactures decorative and func-
tional coatings for plastic automotive
parts such as bumper covers and inte-
rior and exterior trim of cars and
trucks.  

What Businesses Do We Operate?
Our portfolio of businesses is strong, seasonally diverse and well positioned overall for future growth.  The table below
summarizes our six reporting segments and sales recorded in 2003:

COATINGS
Coatings is our largest reportable segment and is comprised of three businesses: 

Rohm and Haas Company

(dollars in millions) 2003 Sales % 2002 Sales %

Coatings $ 2,135 33% $ 1,866 33%

Adhesives and Sealants 632 10% 592 10%

Electronic Materials 1,079 17% 987 17%

Performance Chemicals 1,382 22% 1,217 21%

Salt 801 12% 706 12%

Monomers 1,152 18% 970 17%

Elimination of Intersegment Sales (760) (12%) (611) (10%)

Total Sales $ 6,421 100% $ 5,727 100%

(dollars in millions) 2003 Sales % 2002 Sales %

Architectural and Functional Coatings $ 1,704 80% $ 1,531 82%

Powder Coatings 324 15% 226 12%

Automotive Coatings 107     5% 109     6%

Total Sales $ 2,135 100% $ 1,866 100%
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ADHESIVES and
SEALANTS
Our Adhesives & Sealants segment
was formed in 1999 from a combina-
tion of Morton adhesives and Rohm
and Haas adhesives:  

2003 Sales 2002 Sales

(dollars in millions)

$   632 $   592

The Adhesives and Sealants business
provides a vast array of value adding
products derived from a broad range
of technologies including our world
class acrylic technology.  Our prod-
ucts are supported with market rec-
ognized best-in-class end-use applica-
tions know-how.   Products from our
Adhesives and Sealants business are
sold globally, with approximately
40% in North America, 45% in
Europe, 10% in Asia Pacific and 5%
in Latin America.  

The packaging adhesives sold in this
segment are designed to deliver

unique attributes for the flexible
packaging market.  Our customer
base includes the companies who
convert films, foils and papers used
by the food and consumer goods
industries in packaging their prod-
ucts.  Our solvent-based, solventless
and water-borne laminating adhe-
sives enhance the adhesion between
the multiple layers of materials com-
monly found in a variety of products
such as candy bar wrappers, plastic
food packaging, multi-wall bags for
pet foods, and container board.  Our
coatings products are usually applied
to protect or enhance the image of
printed surfaces or to enhance the
barrier properties for applications
such as cheese packaging.  Our heat
seal adhesives are typically used in
applications such as sealing yogurt
containers and our cold seal adhe-
sives are generally used in applica-
tions such as sealing of candy bar
wrappers.  Also included in this seg-
ment are flexible laminating adhe-

sives for industrial applications and
products supplied to companies who
manufacture synthetic leather. 

The pressure sensitive and construc-
tion adhesives deliver the end-use
properties required by our customers
who in turn manufacture tapes,
labels and a variety of other products.
Other end-uses for our products
include medical adhesives, protective
films and caulks for the construction
industry.  All of these products are
built from our unique capabilities in
acrylic emulsions technologies.  

Our transportation adhesives are tai-
lored to the unique needs of the
automotive industry with adhesives
for rubber-to-metal bonding applica-
tions such as engine vibration damp-
ening, structural adhesives for panel
laminating, and adhesives used in
interior trim applications, including
headliners used to pad the interior
roof of cars and trucks. 

Business Markets Products End Uses

Architectural • Building and construction • An array of versatile • House paints
and Functional • Home improvement acrylic emulsion polymers • Traffic paints

• Paper and other technologies • Metal coatings
• Graphic arts • A range of  additives, • Coated papers
• Apparel such as thickeners, • Printing inks
• Home and office goods extenders and opacifiers • Non-woven fibers
• Transportation • Textile finishes

• Insulation
• Leather

Powder • Home and office goods • Epoxy, polyester, silicone and • Architectural 
• Recreation acrylic powder coatings aluminum
• Lawn and garden • Lamineer – a low • Shelving
• Transportation temperature curing coating • Tables and chairs
• Building and construction • Office furniture

• Cabinetry
• Machinery
• Gas grills

Automotive • Transportation • Solvent and water-based • Cars
coatings for exterior and • Trucks
interior plastic parts



ELECTRONIC MATERIALS
This segment is comprised of three businesses:  
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Our Electronic Materials businesses
are focused on inventing new materi-
als that make electronic devices faster,
smaller, more powerful and less
expensive for the consumer.  We offer
fully compatible, leading-edge chem-
istry used to make the semiconductor
chips and printed wiring boards found
in today’s most sophisticated electron-
ic devices.  Our products are sold glob-
ally, with approximately 50% of sales
in Asia-Pacific, 30% in North America
and 20% in Europe.

The Printed Wiring Board business
develops and delivers the technology,
materials and fabrication services for
increasingly powerful, high-density
printed wiring boards in computers,
cell phones, automobiles and many
other electronic devices today.  We are
a leading global supplier of specialty
chemicals and materials used in the
fabrication of printed circuit boards.
We are focused on the development of
technologies such as metallization, liq-
uid and dry film photoresist for imag-
ing and embedded passives.

Metallization is considered by most to
be the "heart" of the printed circuit
board. It constitutes the physical con-
nectivity as well as the current flow
medium through which all electrical
signals are routed in the board. As
technology and functionality continue
to evolve in electronics, the need to
establish reliable connectivity is
becoming more and more crucial. In
response to this dynamic in the indus-
try, we continue to lead with advanced
technology metallization solutions
designed to deliver the cutting edge in
capability and reliability to today's
demanding printed circuit board
architectures.

Our imaging products provide capa-
bility for electronic circuit patterning,
three-dimensional structuring, selec-
tive metal plating and etching, and
protective soldermask coatings. Our
product offerings cover the full range
of application needs, from laser direct
imaging to ultra fine-line resolution to
high volume production.

Printed Circuit Board designers face
formidable challenges of supporting
increased functionality in decreasing
form factors for high-speed circuits.
Embedded passive technology can
open up valuable space on the board
surface while also improving the elec-
trical performance and reliability of
high density, high-speed designs. We
have developed a thin-film, high sheet
resistivity resistor material under the
trade name InSite™ in response to
this market need.

Our Electronic and Industrial Finishing
business develops and delivers innova-
tive materials and processes that boost
the performance of a diverse range of
electronic, optoelectronic and indus-
trial packaging and finishing applica-
tions.  We supply integrated coating
processes critical for interconnection,
EMI shielding, corrosion resistant,
and decorative applications.

Microelectronics develops and supplies
integrated products and technologies
on a global basis enabling our cus-

Business Markets Products End Uses

Adhesives and • Packaging • Formulated adhesives • Flexible packaging
Sealants • Automotive • Acrylic emulsion polymers • Pressure-sensitive

• Construction • Primer, barrier and top-coat tapes and labels
• Graphic arts coatings products • Carton sealing
• Food packaging and 
• Consumer goods masking tapes
• Medical • Anti-vibration 

components
• Caulks and sealants
• Laminated panels
• Synthetic leather

(dollars in millions) 2003 Sales % 2002 Sales %

Printed Wiring Board $ 301 28% $ 288 29%

Electronic and Industrial Finishes 164 15% 146 15%

Microelectronics 614 57% 553 56%

Total Sales $ 1,079 100% $ 987 100%
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tomers to drive leading edge semicon-
ductor design to boost performance
of semiconductor devices powered by
smaller and faster chips.  This business
also develops and delivers materials
used for chemical mechanical polish-
ing (CMP), the process used to create
the flawless surfaces required to make

faster and more powerful integrated
circuits and electronic substrates. 

Our pad and slurry technology plat-
forms for CMP are based on strong
fundamentals, critical raw materials,
top talent and state of the art labora-
tories and tools.  As one of the pio-
neers in polishing technology, our

industry experience has tuned our
problem-solving capability so we can
respond quickly and effectively to cus-
tomer needs. Our products, which
include polishing pads, pad condition-
ers, polishing slurries and reactive
chemical solutions, are used in the fab-
rication of almost every type of elec-
tronic chip made today. 

Business Markets Products End Uses

Printed Wiring • Electronic devices • Enabling technology • Cellular phones
Board • Communication for all aspects of the • Personal computers

• Computers manufacture of • Cars and trucks
• Transportation printed wiring boards; • Home appliances
• Recreation • Products such as: photoresists, • Office equipment

solder mask, electroless and • Electronic games
electrolytic copper

Electronic and • Electronic devices • Materials and technology for • Cellular phones
Industrial Finishes • Communication integrated circuit packaging, • Personal computers

• Computers connectors and industrial • Cars and trucks
• Transportation finishing • Home appliances
• Plating or plastic/EMI • Office equipment
• Connector finishing • Electronic games

• Steel and metal 
finishing

Microelectronics • Electronics and • Essential technology for • Cellular phones
communication devices creating state-of-the-art • Personal computers

• Transportation integrated circuits: photo resists, • Cars and trucks
• Home and office goods developers, removers, anti- • Home appliances
• Recreation reflective coatings, chemical • Office equipment

mechanical planarization • Electronic games
(CMP) pads and slurries

Note:  In 2004, the Electronic
Materials business units will be identi-
fied in all of our financial reports
under the following names:  The
Printed Wiring Board business will be
referred to as Circuit Board
Technologies; Electronic and Industrial

Finishing will be called Packaging and
Finishing Technologies, and the Micro-
electronics business will be reported
under the name Semiconductor Tech-
nologies. These changes are in line
with changes the business has made in
their positioning in the marketplace

to better align their names with their
technologies and unify their brand-
ing under the Rohm and Haas
Electronic Materials name.  We will
continue to report the Electronic
Materials segment earnings under
the existing name.
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Regionally, about 40% of our prod-
ucts are sold in each of the North
American and European regions,
15% in Asia-Pacific and about 5% in
Latin America.  These businesses

provide products that serve a diverse
set of markets, from consumer prod-
ucts, to additives used to manufac-
ture plastic and vinyl products, to
water treatment and purification

processes for food and pharmaceuti-
cal markets, to newsprint processing
and are best described individually
by the table below:

PERFORMANCE CHEMICALS
This segment includes the sales and operating results of Plastics Additives, Process Chemicals (which was formed in 2003
by combining Inorganic and Specialty Solutions and Ion Exchange Resins), Consumer and Industrial Specialties and other
smaller business groups.   

(dollars in millions) 2003 Sales % 2002 Sales %

Plastics Additives $ 535 39% $ 430 35%

Process Chemicals 378 27% 375 31%

Consumer and Industrial Specialties 428 31% 388 32%

Other 41     3% 24     2%

Total Sales $ 1,382 100% $ 1,217 100%

Business Markets Products End Uses

Plastics Additives • Building and • A wide range of additives • PVC pipe
construction that impart desired properties • Vinyl siding

• Packaging into the end plastic or help • Wall systems
• Home and office goods processing machinery run more • Vinyl windows
• Transportation efficiently (acrylic-based impact • Fencing and decks

modifiers and processing aids, • Plastic packaging
tin-based stabilizers and lubricants) • Interior auto parts

• Appliances and 
business machines

Process Chemicals • Paper • Sodium borohydride and • Newspaper
• Industrial processing related technologies • Corrosion inhibitors
• Lubricants • Salt-forming bases • Pharmaceutical
• Fuels • Anion and cation ion processes
• Water processing exchange resins • Dyes
• Food processing • Adsorbents • Soft drinks and 
• Electronics juices
• Bioprocessing • Ultra pure water
• Chemical processing • Catalysis

• Electricity
production

Consumer and • Household products • Antimicrobials, dispersants, • Laundry and
Industrial • Personal care acrylic emulsions and a range dishwasher 
Specialties • Industrial processing of other technologies detergents

• Building and • Shampoos and 
construction conditioners

• Floor polishes
• Paints



9.

SALT
With the acquisition of Morton Salt
in 1999, we obtained the rights to
some of the most recognized con-
sumer brand names and product
symbols in the United States and in
Canada.  Our well recognized “little
salt girl” is the trademark of Morton
Salt and one of our most valuable
intangible assets.  We also acquired
the leading brand in Canada,
Windsor Salt.

2003 Sales 2002 Sales

(dollars in millions)

$   801 $   706

Salt, the heart of all products sold by
this segment, is produced through
vacuum pan production, solar evapo-
ration or mining.  Even though the
consumer salt business is best known,
this segment extends well beyond
table and specialty salts and includes

salt used for water conditioning, ice
control, food processing,
chemical/industrial and agricultural
use.  Highway ice control sales are
driven by the effects of winter weath-
er.  This seasonality has balanced our
total portfolio of businesses, nicely
complementing stronger sales in the
Spring and Summer from many of
our Coatings businesses.

Business Markets Products End Uses

Salt • Consumer • Salt • Table salt
• Food processing • Home and industrial water
• Industrial processing conditioning salt
• Chemical processing • Ice control salt (highway  
• Water Conditioning de-icing and consumer)

• Chemical/industrial processing salt
• Animal feed salt
• Industrial food processing

MONOMERS
This segment produces methyl
methacrylate, acrylic acid and associ-
ated esters as well as specialty

monomer products.  Monomers
serve as the building block for many
of our acrylic technologies in our
other business segments and are also

sold externally for applications such
as superabsorbent polymers and
acrylic sheet.

(dollars in millions) 2003 Sales 2002 Sales

Total Sales $ 1,152 $ 970

Less:  Intersegment Sales (760 ) (611 )

Total External Sales $ 392 $ 359

Business Markets Products End Uses

Monomers • Building and construction • Methyl methacrylate • Adhesives
• Personal care • Acrylic acid • Paints and coatings
• Automotive • Associated esters • Floor polishes
• Packaging • Specialty monomers • Hair sprays

• Super absorbent products
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Raw Materials
We use a broad range of raw materi-
als across our operations, and the raw
materials used vary widely among
many of our businesses.  In most
cases, these raw materials are pur-
chased from multiple sources under
short- and long-term supply con-
tracts.  For 2004, we expect the sup-
ply of petrochemicals to be adequate
to meet our demand.  If the overall
supply for certain raw materials
becomes limited, obtaining alterna-
tive suppliers and the quantities we
require could be difficult. 

Our Coatings, Adhesives and
Sealants, Performance Chemicals
and Monomer operations use a vari-
ety of commodity chemicals as raw
materials.  We purchase over 3.0 bil-
lion pounds of petrochemical-based
raw materials globally for these busi-
nesses.  The largest of these raw
materials include:  acetone, ammo-
nia, butanol, ethanol, methanol,
propylene, styrene and vinyl acetate
monomer.  We also purchase approx-
imately 25 million mmbtu’s of natu-
ral gas for use in our manufacturing
operations.  Petrochemical-based raw
material prices have been volatile
and can fluctuate significantly over
relatively short periods of time.  Raw
material price changes had, in 2003,
and may continue to have in 2004, a
material impact on our consolidated
results of operations.  Additionally,
availability of these materials can also
vary due to seasonality, supplier
capacity and customer demand.   

Our Salt segment relies on rock salt
and brine well reserves.  Refer to Item
2. Properties, for more information.

Competition and Seasonality
We experience vigorous competition
in each of our segments.  Our com-
petitors include many large, multina-
tional chemical firms based in
Europe, Asia and the United States as
well as a number of regional and
local competitors.  In some cases, we
compete against firms that produce
commodity chemicals, purchased by
us as raw materials to make our prod-
ucts.  However, we do not believe this
places us at any significant competi-
tive disadvantage.  Most of our prod-
ucts are specialty chemicals which
are sold to customers who demand a
high level of customer service and
technical expertise from us and our
sales force.  Our Salt segment is most
affected by weather-related sales of
highway ice-control salt.  To a much
lesser extent, sales in the Coatings
segment destined for the architectur-
al paint market are affected by weath-
er in various regions.

Environmental
A discussion of environmental relat-
ed factors can be found in Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and is incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Note 25:
Contingent Liabilities, Guarantees and
Commitments in the accompanying
Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Research and Development
We believe that one of the keys to our
success is product innovation.  We
are committed to ongoing invest-
ment in research and development
as a way to differentiate our existing
products, while bringing new tech-

nologies and innovative, high value
products to market.  We believe that
our many intellectual properties are
of substantial value in the manufac-
turing, marketing and application of
our various products.  Though we are
not dependent, to a material extent,
upon any one trademark, patent or
license, certain of our businesses may
be so dependent.  

As such, we allocate a significant
amount of our operating budget to
research and development.  With the
exception of 2003, historically we have
increased our annual spend from year
to year.  In 2003 however, total spend-
ing decreased from $260 million in
2002 to $238 million in 2003.  The
decrease was primarily driven by:  1)
the discontinuation of our gene regu-
lation research program in late 2002,
which was donated to the University
of Pittsburgh in 2003;  2) the absence
of one-time costs in 2003 directly asso-
ciated with previous restructuring ini-
tiatives, primarily the shutdown of our
Bristol Technical Center in
September  2002;  and 3) improved
cost controls and the benefits earned
from earlier restructuring efforts.
Our 2001 spend was $230 million. In
2004, we expect to spend approxi-
mately $250 million.  Approximately
two-thirds of our research and devel-
opment efforts are currently focused
in the Electronic Materials and
Coatings segments.  

Our principal research and develop-
ment laboratories for our chemicals
businesses are located in Spring
House, Pennsylvania.  A list of our
technical and research centers
throughout the world can be found
in Item 2. Properties.
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Where Can You Find More Information 
About Rohm and Haas Company?
Corporate Office:
100 Independence Mall West
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106-2399

Phone Numbers:
Main line: (215) 592-3000
Investors line: 1-800-ROH-0466

website: www.rohmhaas.com (intended to be an inactive textual reference only)

Copies of our corporate governance policies, charters of the Board of Directors and the Board committees and our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be obtained free of charge by accessing the Governance section of our web-
site or by writing to the address listed below:

www.rohmhaas.com/governance (intended to be an inactive textual reference only)

Address:
Rohm and Haas Company
Public Relations Department
100 Independence Mall West
Philadelphia, PA  USA  19106-2399

Copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amend-
ments to those reports filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) can be obtained free of charge
by accessing the Investors page on our website or by writing to the address listed below: 

website: www.rohmhaas.com (intended to be an inactive textual reference only)

Address:
Rohm and Haas Company
Public Relations Department
100 Independence Mall West
Philadelphia, PA  USA  19106-2399

You may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room which is located at
450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549.  Information about the operation of the Public Reference Room can be
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  You can also access our filings through the SEC’s internet site:
www.sec.gov.
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Manufacturing Locations

Argentina: Zarate(1) United States

Australia: Geelong(1) Arizona: Glendale(5); 

Bahamas: Inagua(5) California: Hayward(1); La Mirada(1); Long 
Beach(5); Newark(5); Sunnyvale(3)

Brazil: Jacarei(1,2,4) Delaware: Newark(3)

Canada: Anjou(5); Clarkson(5); Florida: Cape Canaveral(5)
Goderich(5); 
Iles-De-La-Madeleine(5); 
Lindbergh(5); Ojibway(5); 
Pugwash(5); 
Regina/Belle Plaine(5); 
West Hill(1); Windsor(5)

China: Beijing(1); Dongguan(3); Illinois: Elk Grove(2); Elston Dock(5);
Hong Kong(3); Shanghai(1,4) Kankakee(1); Kilbourn(4); 

Lansing(1); Ringwood(1,2)

Colombia: Barranquilla(1) Indiana: Warsaw(1)

France: Chauny(4); Lauterbourg(1,4); Kansas: Hutchinson(5)
Semoy(1,2); Villers-Saint-Paul(4)

Germany: Bremen(2); Strullendorf(1,2); Kentucky: Louisville(1,4)
Arnsberg(1)

India: Taloja(1,2) Louisiana: Weeks Island(5)

Indonesia: Cilegon(1) Massachusetts: Marlborough(3); North Andover(3)

Italy: Castronno(3,4); Mozzanica(1); Michigan: Detroit(5); Manistee(4,5)
Mozzate(2); Parona(2);
Romano d’Ezzelino(1)

Japan: Nagoya(1,4); Sasakami(3); Soma(4); Minneapolis: St. Paul(5)

Mexico: Apizaco(1,4); Toluca(2) Missouri: St. Louis(5)

Netherlands: Delfzijl(4) Mississippi: Moss Point(3)

New Zealand: Auckland(1) New Jersey: Perth Amboy(5)

Philippines: Las Pinas(1) New York: Freeport(3); Silver Springs(5)

Singapore: Singapore(4); Tuas(2,3) North Carolina: Charlotte(1)

South Africa: New Germany(1) Ohio: Cincinnati(4); Fairport(5);
Rittman(5); West Alexandria(2)

South Korea: Seoul(3) Pennsylvania: Bristol(1); Philadelphia(4);
Reading(1)

Spain: Castellon(1); Tudela(1) Tennessee: Knoxville(1,4)

Sweden: Landskrona(1) Texas: Bayport(4,6); Deer Park(4,6); 
Grand Saline(5); Lone Star(1) 

Switzerland: Buchs(4); Littau/Lucerne(3) Utah: Grantsville(5)

Taiwan: Min-Hsiung(1,4); Taoyuan Hsien(3) Virginia: Blacksburg(3); Wytheville(1)

Thailand: Maptaphut(1,4) Washington: Elma(4)

United Aldridge(1); Buxton(3); 
Kingdom: Coventry(3); Dewsbury(1); 

Grangemouth(4); Jarrow(4); 
Warrington(3)

Item 2. Properties

We operate over 100 manufacturing facilities, mines and salt evaporation facilities and 30 research facilities in 27 coun-
tries.   The facilities and the segment for which they are productive are detailed in the tables below: 

 



Our manufacturing operations gen-
erally ran well throughout 2003.  We
consider our facilities to be generally
well maintained and suitably
equipped to meet the production
requirements of each of our business
segments.
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Our rock salt and brine well reserves
vary, but all salt production locations
have sufficient reserves to satisfy
anticipated production requirements
for the foreseeable future.  Salt
reserves for solar evaporation facili-
ties are regarded as unlimited.  With
respect to the Salt segment, total salt

production in 2003 was approximate-
ly 12.6 million tons.

Safety was a key focus as well, and sig-
nificant improvement was made
throughout the year.  The overall cor-
porate safety record improved from a
rate of 1.2 injuries for every 200,000
hours worked in 2002, to 1.0 injuries
on a comparable basis in 2003.  

Research and Technical Facilities:

Australia: Geelong(1) United States:

Brazil: Jacarei(1,2,4) Arizona: Phoenix(3)

China: Hong Kong(3); Shanghai(1,4) California: Sunnyvale(3)

France: Valbonne(1,2,4) Delaware: Newark(3)

Germany: Arnsberg(1) Georgia: Norcross(3)

Italy: Romano d’Ezzelino(1) Illinois: Elgin(2,5); Lansing(1)

Japan: Ohmiya(3); Saitama(3) Massachusetts: Marlborough(3); North Andover(3);
Woburn(4)

Singapore: Singapore(2,4) Michigan: Rochester Hills(1)

Spain: Castellon(1) New York: Freeport(3)

Switzerland: Buchs(4); Lucerne(3) North Carolina: Charlotte(1)

United Coventry(3) Ohio: Cincinnati(4); West Alexandria(2)
Kingdom:

Pennsylvania:          Reading(1);
Spring House(1,2,4,6)

Texas: Deer Park(4,6)

Virginia: Blacksburg(3)

(1)  Coatings 
(2)  Adhesives and Sealants 
(3)  Electronic Materials 
(4)  Performance Chemicals
(5) Salt, including mines and evaporation facilities
(6) Monomers
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

A discussion of legal proceedings is
incorporated herein by reference to
Note 25: Contingent Liabilities,
Guarantees and Commitments in the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Item 4. Submission of
Matters to a Vote of Security
Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote
of security holders during the fourth
quarter of 2003.

PART  II
Item 5. Market for the
Registrant's Common Equity
and Related Stockholder
Matters

Our common stock is traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “ROH.”  On February 27,

2004, there were 9,037 registered
shareholders of our common stock.
Below is a summary of the New York
Stock Exchange Composite high and
low prices of Rohm and Haas
Company’s stock as well as the cash
dividend paid per share for each
quarter of 2003 and 2002.  On
February 27, 2004, the last sales price
of our common stock was $39.75.  

Cash
Period High Low Dividend

2003
1st Quarter $  34.26 $  26.26 $    0.21
2nd Quarter $  34.12 $  29.10 $    0.21
3rd Quarter $  37.34 $  29.83 $    0.22
4th Quarter $  43.05 $  33.38 $    0.22

2002
1st Quarter $ 42.60 $ 32.10  $ 0.20
2nd Quarter $ 42.30 $ 35.52  $ 0.20
3rd Quarter $ 41.90 $ 30.19  $ 0.21
4th Quarter $ 36.45 $ 30.43  $ 0.21
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the years presented below as derived from our histori-
cal financial statements.

Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data 
(in milllions, except per share, stockholders and employees)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

See notes (2) (1,2,3) (1,3) (1,3)

Summary of Operations
Net sales $ 6,421 $ 5,727 $ 5,666 $ 6,349 $ 4,840
Gross profit 1,915 1,817 1,658 2,007 1,701
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 

before income taxes and cumulative effect 
of accounting change 415 308 (66) 488 375

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 
before cumulative effect of accounting change 288 210 (71) 296 193

Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued line of business, 

net of income taxes - -   40 58  56
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued line of business, 

net of income taxes - (7 ) 428 - -
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes (8 ) (773) (2) - -
Net earnings (loss) $ 280 $ (570) $ 395 $ 354 $ 249

As a percent of sales
Gross profit 29.8% 31.7% 29.3% 31.6% 35.1%
Selling and administrative expense 13.9% 15.3% 15.2% 14.7% 15.9%
Research and development expense 3.7% 4.5% 4.1% 3.5% 3.6%

Per Common Share Data and Other Share Information
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change:

Basic $ 1.30 $ .95 $ (.32) $ 1.34 $ .99
Diluted $ 1.30 $ .95 $ (.32) $ 1.34 $ .98
Cash dividends per common share $ .86 $ .82 $ .80 $ .78 $ .74

Common stock price:
High $ 43.05 $ 42.60 $ 38.70 $ 49.44 $ 49.25
Low $ 26.26 $ 30.19 $ 24.90 $ 24.38 $ 28.13
Year-end close $ 42.71 $ 32.48 $ 34.63 $ 36.31 $ 40.69

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding – basic 221.5 220.9 220.2 219.5 192.6

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding – diluted 222.4 221.9 220.2 220.5 195.7

Net Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by continuing operations $ 999 $ 975 $ 660 $ 714 $ 719
Net cash provided by discontinued operations - - 44 66 97
Net cash provided by operating activities 999 975 704 780 816
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (368) (555) 312 (327) (3,717)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities (730) (217) (1,016) (418) 2,942
Additions to land, buildings and equipment 339 407 401 391 323
Depreciation from continuing operations 411 388 406 446 360
Cash dividends paid 191 181 176 171 141
Cash used for acquisitions of businesses and affiliates 21 149 144 390 3,394
Proceeds from divested businesses 23 23 834 - -
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Item 7.  Management's
Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

The following commentary should
be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements
and the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001.  The phrase:
“Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before cumulative effect
of accounting change” is abbreviated
as “Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations” within the following
Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition,
Results of Operations and Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We are a global specialty materials
company that brings technology and
innovation to the market that
enhances the performance of end-
use consumer products made by our
customers.  Our Salt business is one
of the most recognizable brand
names in the world.  Our products

are sold primarily for use in the con-
struction and building; electronics;
household products and personal
care; packaging; food and retail; and
automotive markets.  We operate six
business segments:  Coatings,
Adhesives and Sealants, Electronic
Materials, Performance Chemicals,
Salt and Monomers.  

2003 – A Year in Review
Our performance this year was a sub-
stantial improvement over 2002 and
reflects our continued emphasis on
growth through new product introduc-
tion, our strong global presence, and
the efficiency improvements we have
been implementing throughout the
organization.  Other significant items
affecting the results of our 2003 opera-
tions include:
• the impact of foreign currency

translation;
• escalating raw material and energy

prices; and  
• restructuring and asset impairment

charges. 

In 2003, we reported sales of $6,421
million, a 12% increase over 2002.

About one-third of this increase is from
organic growth through improved
demand and higher selling prices in
our Coatings, Electronic Materials, Salt
and Performance Chemicals seg-
ments.  The remainder of the increase
in sales was due to the impact of favor-
able foreign currency, primarily from
the strengthening of the Euro versus
the U.S. dollar as well as the contribu-
tion of our recent acquisitions.  

Gross profit margin was 30%, com-
pared with 32% in 2002, due to the
impact of higher raw material and
energy costs.  Selling, administrative
and research expenses were relatively
consistent with the prior year as our
continuing focus on efficiency
improvements largely offset the infla-
tionary impact of employee related
expenses.  

We reported earnings from continu-
ing operations in 2003 of $288 mil-
lion, or $1.30 per share, as compared
to 2002 earnings from continuing
operations of $210 million or $0.95
per share.    

Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data (continued)
(in milllions, except per share, stockholders and employees)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

See notes (2) (1,2,3) (1,3) (1,3)

Balance Sheet Data

Land, buildings and equipment, gross $ 7,688 $ 7,246 $ 6,607 $ 6,699 $ 6,349

Total assets 9,445 9,584 10,378 11,252 11,256
Current portion of long-term debt 10 48 11 11 104 
Other short-term borrowings 97 132 167 545 827
Long-term debt 2,468 2,872 2,748 3,218 3,122 

Total debt 2,575 3,052 2,926 3,774 4,053

Stockholders’ equity 3,357 3,119 3,841 3,653 3,475

Number of registered stockholders 9,106 9,140 9,234 9,226 9,462

Number of employees 17,245 17,611 18,210 20,248 21,512

(1) Reclassified to conform to current year presentation, primarily as a result of discontinued operations.
(2) In accordance with SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical

Corrections,” 2002 and 2001 earnings from continuing operations now reflect losses from early extinguishment of debt, which were previously
reported below continuing operations as extraordinary items.

(3) Prior year amounts include amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles.  In accordance with the adoption of SFAS No. 142,  effec-
tive January 1, 2002, we ceased amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles.

Also see 2003, 2002 and 2001 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for additional information. 
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Significant Items Affecting the
Results of Operations

2002
Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-
Lived Intangible Assets
Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.”  In accordance with
this statement, we ceased amortization
of goodwill and intangible assets
deemed to have indefinite lives.  As a
result of our impairment testing in
connection with the adoption of SFAS
No. 142, a non-cash charge of $830
million ($773 million after-tax), was
reflected in the 2002 results as a cumu-
lative effect of accounting change.
The impairment charges impacted the
majority of our reportable segments as
follows:  Coatings - $42 million;
Electronic Materials - $281 million;
Performance Chemicals - $230 million
and Salt - $220 million.  The impair-
ment charges were primarily the result
of the economic downturn over the
past two years affecting growth assump-
tions in certain key markets.  In addi-
tion, customer consolidation in some
areas had led to downward pressure on
pricing and volume.  

2001
Sale of the Agricultural Chemicals
Business
In June 2001, we completed the sale of
our Agricultural Chemicals business to
Dow AgroSciences LLC, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Dow Chemical
Company, for approximately $1 bil-
lion.  We reported the operating
results of this business as discontinued
operations in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 30 “Reporting the Results
of Operations - Reporting the Effects
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business
and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions.”  

Critical Accounting Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance

with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP).  The preparation of
these financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses, assets and lia-
bilities and the disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities.
Management considers an accounting
estimate to be critical to the prepara-
tion of our financial statements if:

• the estimate is complex in nature
or requires a high degree of judg-
ment; and

• if different estimates and assump-
tions were used, the result could
have a material impact to the con-
solidated financial statements. 

Management has discussed the devel-
opment and selection of our critical
accounting estimates and related dis-
closures with the Audit Committee of
our Board of Directors.  Those esti-
mates critical to the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements are
listed below.  

Litigation and Environmental
Reserves
We are involved in litigation in the
ordinary course of business including
personal injury, property damage and
environmental litigation.  Additionally,
we are involved in environmental
remediation and spend significant
amounts for both company-owned and
third party locations.  In accordance
with GAAP, we are required to assess
these matters to:  1) determine if a lia-
bility is probable; and 2) record such a
liability when the financial exposure
can be reasonably estimated.  The
determination and estimation of these
liabilities are critical to the preparation
of our financial statements.

In reviewing such matters, we consid-
er a broad range of information,
including the claims, demands, set-
tlement offers received from a gov-
ernmental authority or private party,

estimates performed by independent
third parties, identification of other
responsible parties and an assess-
ment of their ability to contribute
and our prior experience, to deter-
mine if a liability is probable and if
the value is estimable.  If both of
these conditions are met we record a
liability.  If we believe that no best
estimate exists, we accrue the mini-
mum in a range of possible losses as
we are required to do under GAAP.
If we determine a liability to be only
reasonably possible, we consider the
same information to estimate the
possible exposure and disclose the
potential liability.

Our most significant reserves have
been established for remediation and
restoration costs associated with envi-
ronmental damage.  As of December
31, 2003, we recorded $127 million for
environmental remediation.  We con-
duct studies and site surveys to deter-
mine the extent of environmental
damage and necessary remediation.
With the expertise of our environmen-
tal engineers and legal counsel we
determine our best estimates for reme-
diation and restoration costs.  These
estimates are based on forecasts of
future costs for remediation and
change periodically as additional and
better information becomes available.
Changes to assumptions and consider-
ations used to calculate remediation
reserves could materially affect our
results of operations.  If we determine
that the scope of remediation is broad-
er than originally planned, discover
new contamination, discover previous-
ly unknown sites or become subject to
related personal injury or property
damage claims, our estimates and
assumptions could materially change.

We believe the current assumptions
and other considerations used to esti-
mate reserves for both our environ-
mental and other legal liabilities are
appropriate.  These estimates are
based in large part on information cur-
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rently available and the current laws
and regulations governing these mat-
ters.  If additional information
becomes available or there are changes
to the laws or regulations or actual
experience differs from the assump-
tions and considerations used in esti-
mating our reserves, the resulting
change could have a material impact
on the consolidated results of our
operations and statement of position.

Income Taxes
The objective of accounting for
income taxes is to recognize the
amount of taxes payable or refund-
able for the current year and
deferred tax liabilities and assets for
the future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in
an entity’s financial statements or tax
returns.  

In the determination of our current
year tax provision, we assume that all
foreign earnings are remitted to the
United States and since, upon remit-
tance, such earnings are taxable, we
provide federal income taxes on
income from our foreign subsidiaries.
In addition, we operate within multi-
ple taxing jurisdictions and are sub-
ject to audit in these jurisdictions.  We
record accruals for the estimated out-
comes of these audits.  Since signifi-
cant judgment is required to assess
the future tax consequences of events
that have been recognized in our
financial statements or tax returns, we
consider such estimates to be critical
to the preparation of our financial
statements.

We believe that the current assump-
tions and other considerations used
to estimate the current year effective
and deferred tax positions are appro-
priate.  However, if the actual out-
come of future tax consequences dif-
fers from our estimates and assump-
tions, the resulting change to the
provision for income taxes could
have a material adverse impact on
the consolidated results of opera-
tions and statement of position.  A

1% change in the effective tax rate
would change the current year
income tax expense by $6 million.

Restructuring
When appropriate, we record
charges relating to efforts to strategi-
cally reposition our manufacturing
footprint and support service func-
tions.  In the past three years, we
recorded $96 million, $17 million
and $61 million in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively, for severance and
other employee benefits within the
provision for restructuring and asset
impairments in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Reserves are established for such ini-
tiatives by calculating our best esti-
mate of employee termination costs
utilizing detailed restructuring plans
approved by management.  Reserve
calculations are based upon various
factors including an employee’s
length of service, contract provisions,
salary level and health care benefit
choices.  We believe the estimates
and assumptions used to calculate
these restructuring provisions are
appropriate, and although signifi-
cant changes are not anticipated,
actual costs could differ from the
assumptions and considerations used
in estimating reserves.  The resulting
change could have a material impact
on the consolidated results of opera-
tions and statement of position.  

Long-Lived Assets
Our long-lived assets include land,
buildings, equipment, long-term
investments, goodwill, indefinite-
lived intangible assets and other
intangible assets.  Long-lived assets,
other than investments, goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets, are
depreciated over their estimated use-
ful lives, and are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever changes in circum-
stances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable.  Such cir-
cumstances would include a signifi-
cant decrease in the market price of
a long-lived asset, a significant

adverse change in the manner in
which the asset is being used or in its
physical condition or a history of
operating or cash flow losses associat-
ed with the use of the asset.  In addi-
tion, changes in the expected useful
life of these long-lived assets may also
be an impairment indicator.  As a
result, future decisions to change our
manufacturing footprint or exit cer-
tain businesses could result in mate-
rial impairment charges.  

When such events or changes occur,
we estimate the future cash flows
expected to result from the use and,
if applicable, the eventual disposition
of the assets.  The key variables that
we must estimate include assump-
tions regarding sales volume, selling
prices, raw material prices, labor and
other employee benefit costs, capital
additions and other economic fac-
tors.  These variables require signifi-
cant management judgment and
include inherent uncertainties since
they are forecasting future events.
For this reason, we consider our esti-
mates to be critical in the prepara-
tion of our consolidated results of
operations.  If such assets are consid-
ered impaired, they are written down
to fair value as appropriate.  

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-
gible assets are reviewed annually or
sooner if changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable.  To test for recover-
ability, we typically utilize discounted
estimated future cash flows to meas-
ure fair value for each reporting unit.
This calculation is highly sensitive to
both the estimated future cash flows
of each reporting unit and the dis-
count rate assumed in these calcula-
tions.  These components are dis-
cussed below:

Estimated future cash flows
The key variables that we must esti-
mate to determine future cash flows
include assumptions for sales vol-
ume, selling prices, raw material
prices, labor and other employee
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benefit costs, capital additions and
other economic factors.  Significant
management judgment is involved in
estimating these variables, and they
include inherent uncertainties since
they are forecasting future events.
For example, unanticipated changes
in competition, customer sourcing
requirements and product maturity
would all have a significant impact
on these estimates.  

Discount rate
We employ a Weighted Average Cost
of Capital (WACC) approach to
determining our discount rate for
goodwill recoverability testing.  Our
WACC calculation includes factors
such as the risk free rate of return,
cost of debt and expected equity pre-
miums.  The factors in this calcula-
tion are largely external to our com-
pany and therefore beyond our con-
trol.   The average WACC used in our
annual test of goodwill recoverability
was 9.1% and 10.1% in 2003 and
2002, respectively.  The decrease in
WACC was due largely to the decline
in the yield on long-term treasuries
which we use to determine the risk
free rate of return.  A 1% change in
the WACC will result in an approxi-
mate 15% change in the computed
fair value of our reporting units.

We believe the current assumptions
and other considerations used in the
above estimates are reasonable and
appropriate.  Since inception of the
annual goodwill recoverability test-
ing in 2002, our Automotive Coatings,
Powder Coatings, Adhesives and
Sealants, Printed Wiring Board, and
Process Chemicals reporting units have
historically had fair values only slight-
ly in excess of the book value of their
net assets.  Accordingly, even a small
adverse change in the estimated

future cash flows for these reporting
units or increases in the WACC could
result in the fair value of these
reporting units falling below the
book value of their net assets.  This
could result in material goodwill
impairment charges when assets are
appraised and implied goodwill val-
ues are compared to carrying values.  

The fair values of our long-term
investments are dependant on the
financial performance and solvency
of the entities in which we invest, as
well as volatility inherent in their
external markets.  In assessing poten-
tial impairment for these invest-
ments, we will consider these factors
as well as the forecasted financial per-
formance of its investment entities.
If these forecasts are not met, we may
have to record additional impair-
ment charges. 

Pension and Other Employee
Benefits 
Certain assumptions are used to meas-
ure plan obligations and related assets
of company-sponsored defined bene-
fit pension plans, post-retirement ben-
efits, post-employment benefits (e.g.
medical, disability) and other employ-
ee liabilities.  Plan obligations and

annual expense calculations are based
on a number of key assumptions.
These assumptions include the weight-
ed-average discount rate at which obli-
gations can be effectively settled, the
anticipated rate of future increases in
compensation levels, the expected
long-term rate of return on assets and
increases or trends in health care
costs.  We typically use actuaries to
assist us in preparing these calcula-
tions and determining these assump-
tions.  These assumptions involve
inherent uncertainties, which may not
be controllable by management, and
as a result, adjustments to expense
may be required in future periods.  We
believe that the current assumptions
and other considerations used to esti-
mate plan obligations and annual
expense are appropriate.  However, if
the actual outcome differs from our
estimates and assumptions, the result-
ing change could have a material
adverse impact on the consolidated
results of operations and statement of
position.  The weighted-average dis-
count rate and the estimated return
on U.S. plan assets, which constitute
the majority of our plan assets, used in
our determination of pension expense
are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average discount rate 6.67% 7.25% 7.50 %
Estimated return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.90 %

The following illustrates the impact on pension expense of a 50 basis point
increase or decrease from the assumptions used at December 31, 2003.  

Weighted- Estimated Combined
average return on increase/ (decrease)

(in millions) discount rate plan assets pension expense

50 basis point increase $ (5) $ (7) $ (12)
50 basis point decrease $ 5 $ 7 $ 12
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Business Segments at December 31, 2003
We operate six business segments, as presented below.  Additional information regarding the markets these segments
serve can be found in Item 1:   Business.      

Adhesives Electronic Performance Segment
(in millions) Coatings and Sealants Materials Chemicals Salt Monomers Elims Total

North America
2003 $1,245 $ 232 $ 322 $ 542 $ 801 $ 261 $ - $3,403
2002 (1) 1,184 237 332 551 706 282 - 3,292
2001 (1) 1,141 272 360 542 749 300 - 3,364

Europe
2003 $ 590 $ 291 $ 199 $ 521 $ - $ 120 $ - $1,721
2002 (1) 415 260 187 432 - 71 - 1,365
2001 (1) 363 294 205 425 - 51 - 1,338

Asia-Pacific
2003 $ 211 $ 67 $ 558 $ 250 $ - $ 3 $ - $1,089
2002 (1) 177 56 468 167 - - - 868
2001 (1) 161 52 377 168 - - - 758

Latin America
2003 $ 89 $ 42 $ - $ 69 $ - $ 8 $ - $ 208
2002 (1) 90 39 - 67 - 6 - 202
2001 (1) 88 43 - 69 - 6 - 206

Segment Elims
2003 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 760 $ (760) $ -
2002 (1) - - - - - 611 (611) -
2001 (1) - - - - - 589 (589) -

Total
2003 $2,135 $ 632 $ 1,079 $1,382 $ 801 $1,152 $ (760) $6,421
2002 (1) $1,866 $ 592 $ 987 $1,217 $ 706 $ 970 $ (611) $5,727
2001 (1) $1,753 $ 661 $ 942 $1,204 $ 749 $ 946 $ (589) $5,666

(1) Reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Net Sales
Coatings $ 2,135 $ 1,866 $ 1,753
Adhesives and Sealants 632 592 661
Electronic Materials 1,079 987 942
Performance Chemicals 1,382 1,217 1,204
Salt 801 706 749
Monomers 1,152 970 946
Elimination of Intersegment Sales (760) (611) (589)

Total $ 6,421 $ 5,727 $ 5,666

(in millions) 2003 2002 (1) 2001(1)

Earnings (Loss) from Continuing Operations 
Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

Coatings $ 133 $ 187 $ 112
Adhesives and Sealants 8 (3) (71)
Electronic Materials 97 - 1
Performance Chemicals 52 46 10
Salt 54 47 13
Monomers 81 72 41
Corporate (137) (139) (177)

Total $ 288 $ 210 $ (71)

(1) Reclassified to conform to current year presentation.  In accordance with the SFAS No. 145, “Rescission
of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 , and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical
Corrections,” 2002 and 2001 earnings from continuing operations now reflect losses on early extinguish-
ment of debt, previously reported below continuing operations as extraordinary items.  The losses are
reflected within Corporate business segment.

Summary of 2001-2003 Results by Business Segment 
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Consolidated Results of
Operations for the Year Ended
December 31, 2003, as
Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2002

Net Sales and Operating Margins
In 2003, our consolidated net sales
were $6,421 million, an increase of
12% or $694 million, from 2002 net
sales of $5,727 million.  Major com-
ponents of the increase included:
the impact of favorable foreign cur-
rency representing 5%; increased
volume and improved selling prices
4%; with acquisitions, net of divesti-
tures, representing the majority of
the remaining 3%.  

Our Coatings, Performance
Chemicals, Salt and Electronic
Materials segments performed well
in 2003, accounting for 89% or $621
million of the total increase over
2002 results.  The impact of favorable
foreign currencies on the results of
these segments accounted for 39% of
this increase.  Other factors con-
tributing to the improvement are
reported as follows:

• Coatings - the September 2002
acquisition of the Ferro Corpora-
tion’s European powder coatings
business and improved selling
prices; 

• Performance Chemicals - the
December 2002 acquisition of the
Kureha plastics additives business
and improved selling prices;

• Salt - higher ice-control volume
resulting from the impact of the
severe winter weather in 2003;
and

• Electronic Materials - higher demand
for advanced technology product
lines in Microelectronics and
advanced packaging in Electronic
and Industrial Finishes. 

Net sales from Adhesives and
Sealants and Monomers accounted
for the remaining increase of 11%,
or $73 million, of the total increase

in consolidated net sales and are
more fully described in the segment
section below.

Gross profit for 2003 was $1,915 mil-
lion, an increase of 5% from $1,817
million in 2002 on higher sales.
Gross profit margin decreased in
2003 to 30% from 32% in 2002 as the
impact of significantly higher raw
material and energy costs were only
partially offset by selling price
increases.

Gains from insurance settlements
were material in both 2003 and 2002
results.  We recorded income of $58
million and $76 million in 2003 and
2002, respectively.  Although we have
recorded significant gains from
insurance settlements in the past two
years, we cannot expect to receive
like amounts in future settlements.

In 2004, we anticipate raw material
and natural gas prices to significantly
exceed 2003 levels; however, it is dif-
ficult to predict the extent and dura-
tion of higher prices.  To support our
operations, we purchase over 3.0 bil-
lion pounds of petrochemical-based
raw materials globally.  The single
largest of these raw materials is
propylene at approximately 1.2 bil-
lion pounds annually.  We are mak-
ing efforts to mitigate the impact of
escalating raw material and energy
costs primarily by exercising control
over discretionary spending, utilizing
swap, option and collar contracts and
increasing selling prices.  However,
we anticipate the gap between raw
material and selling prices to
increase at least in the short term,
negatively impacting gross margin in
2004.  Additionally, we anticipate
higher expenses for employee relat-
ed benefits, such as pension expense,
in 2004.  

Selling and Administrative Expenses 
In 2003, selling and administrative
expenses increased 1%, or $12 mil-
lion, to $891 million from $879 mil-
lion in 2002.  We are beginning to
see the favorable impact from recent

restructuring efforts with lower
salary and administrative costs as
compared to 2002.  However, the
addition of full year results from our
2002 acquisitions, along with the
unfavorable impact of foreign cur-
rency, primarily due to the strength-
ening of the Euro versus the U.S. dol-
lar on European expenses, out-
weighed these cost reductions.

We believe that our cost savings ini-
tiatives will continue to reduce cer-
tain administrative costs as we
improve efficiencies.  However, we
anticipate higher employee-related
costs in 2004 as a result of:  1) an
increase in pension costs due to a
combination of the decline in the
discount rate and amortization of
prior unrecognized asset losses; 2)
normal salary increases; 3) the
increasing rate of health care costs;
and 4) increased stock-based com-
pensation expense for stock option
and restricted stock grants.

Research and Development Expense
We spent $238 million on research
and development costs in 2003, a
decrease of $22 million from 2002
spending of $260 million.  The
decrease was driven by:  1) the dis-
continuation of our gene regulation
research program in late 2002, which
was donated to the University of
Pittsburgh in 2003;  2) the absence of
one-time costs in 2003 directly associ-
ated with previous restructuring ini-
tiatives, primarily the shutdown of
our Bristol Technical Center in
September 2002;  and 3) improved
cost controls and the benefits earned
from earlier restructuring efforts.
We have budgeted for research and
development expense to increase
slightly in 2004. 

Interest Expense 
Interest expense for 2003 was $126
million, a 5% reduction from $132
million in 2002, primarily due to
lower U.S. interest rates.  Higher
interest expense due to the unfavor-
able impact of foreign currency on
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our non-U.S. denominated debt was
offset by the effect of lower U.S.
interest rates.

In December 2003, we retired $451
million of our 6.95% debt.  We expect
interest expense to decrease by
approximately 5% in 2004 as a result
of this retirement.  Included in the 5%
reduction is a slight increase in inter-
est expense as capitalized interest asso-
ciated with our Enterprise Resource
Planning implementation begins to be
amortized when those assets are
placed in service.  

Amortization of Finite-Lived
Intangible Assets
Amortization of intangible assets for
2003 was $67 million, a 3% decrease
from $69 million in 2002.  The
decrease is due to a lower asset base
as compared to 2002, resulting pri-
marily from the December 2002
impairment of $121 million and the
June 2003 impairment of $80 million
of certain finite-lived intangible
assets associated with our Printed
Wiring Board and Powder Coatings
businesses, respectively.

Share of Affiliate Net Earnings 
In 2003, we recorded affiliate net
earnings of $15 million, remaining
flat with 2002.  

Provision for Restructuring and
Asset Impairments
In 2003, we recognized $196 million of
restructuring and asset impairment
charges, an increase of $19 million
over 2002 expense of $177 million.

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Severance and employee benefits $ 96 $ 17 $ 61
Other, including contract lease termination penalties 4 2 11
Asset impairments, net of gains on sales 96 158 248

Amount charged to earnings $ 196 $ 177 $ 320

2003
Severance and Employee Benefits
In 2003, we recognized $96 million
of severance and associated employ-
ee benefit expense, of which $82 mil-
lion, affecting 1,460 positions in total
pertained to current year initiatives.
The 2003 initiatives included:  $22
million pertaining to a European
restructuring initiative which com-
menced in the second quarter; $25
million associated with the elimina-
tion of positions primarily in our
North American support services,
such as logistics, human resources,
procurement and information tech-
nology announced in the fourth
quarter; and $35 million associated
with several smaller reduction in
force efforts in all of our businesses
throughout the year.  In most cases,
separated employees were offered
early termination benefits.  The
charge is based on actual amounts
paid to employees as well as amounts
expected to be paid upon termina-
tion.  All of these initiatives were
designed to address business and

infrastructure inefficiencies, reduce
redundant costs and reposition our
workforce to capitalize on the
enhancements made possible by the
implementation of our Enterprise
Resource Planning system.  

Included in the $96 million charge,
is $14 million of expense, comprised
of a $2 million reversal of charges
recorded in 2003 for current year ini-
tiatives and $16 million of expense
pertaining to prior year initiatives.
Changes in estimates are recorded as
actual costs are compared to original
estimates and  reserves are adjusted
as expenses are finalized.  The
changes to prior year initiatives most-
ly include settlement losses on pen-
sion obligations as individual pen-
sion liabilities were settled from the
pension plan.  We recognize pension
settlement gains or losses at the time
an employee’s individual liability is
settled within the pension plan. 

As of December 31, 2003, 337 posi-
tions of the 1,460 identified have been
eliminated.  All initiatives will be

materially complete within 18 months
from the date of implementation.
The balance at December 31, 2003,
recorded for these severance and
employee benefits, was $65 million
and included in accrued liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Asset Impairments
In 2003, we recognized $96 million,
net of asset impairment charges.  Of
the total, $116 million was recog-
nized as asset impairment charges
recorded to adjust the carrying value
of certain assets to their fair value,
which was calculated using cash flow
analyses. The largest impairment of
approximately $80 million of finite-
lived intangible assets related to the
Lamineer product line of the Powder
Coatings business in the Coatings
segment.   The remaining charge
consisted primarily of $15 million of
finite-lived intangible assets and $7
million of net fixed assets associated
with our Specialty Magnesia product
line in the Performance Chemicals
segment, which was acquired from
Morton, and $14 million of other
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building and equipment impair-
ments.  Gains on sales of previously
impaired assets offset the total
impairment charge by $20 million.

2002
In 2002, we recognized $177 million
for restructuring and asset impair-
ments.  This charge is comprised of
$158 million for the impairment of
certain long-lived assets, $31 million
for costs associated with workforce
reductions initiated in 2002 and $2
million for contract lease termination
penalties.  Offsetting this charge was
$14 million of income resulting from
pension settlement gains associated
with individuals terminated from our
pension plans and changes to esti-
mates, both of which were in connec-
tion with our 2001 repositioning. 

Of the total 2002 charges, the $158
million of asset impairments was
recorded to reduce the carrying
value of certain identified assets to
their fair values, which were calculat-
ed using cash flow analyses.  The
assumptions used in the calculations
were consistent with our internal
planning process.  The largest single
asset write-down was $121 million,
recorded to write-down certain long-
lived intangible and fixed assets of
the Printed Wiring Board business in
the Electronic Materials segment.
The remaining $37 million of non-
cash charges, recorded during 2002,
related largely to the closure of two
European plants and other building
and equipment impairments.

In a continued effort to streamline
operational efficiencies, approxi-
mately $31 million of expense was
recognized for costs associated with
the closure of the European plants
and a general reduction in force of
over 200 positions throughout vari-
ous functions of our organization.  In
most cases, separated employees

were offered early termination bene-
fits.  The charge was based on actual
amounts paid to employees as well as
amounts expected to be paid upon
termination.  The anticipated annual
costs savings from the general reduc-
tion in force efforts is approximately
$25 million, primarily in compensa-
tion expense.  

In general, we continue to analyze
other efficiency initiatives, including
plant closures, manufacturing foot-
print redesign and organizational
restructuring brought about by the
implementation of our Enterprise
Resource Planning system.  If
approved by management, signifi-
cant future initiatives could result in
material restructuring and asset
impairment charges.  We believe that
it is possible that additional restruc-
turing activities will be approved dur-
ing 2004 and could result in restruc-
turing and asset impairment charges.
We are currently not able to estimate
the impact of these charges although
they could be material.  

Other Income, net 
In 2003, net other income increased
to $7 million from $5 million in
2002.  This increase was primarily
driven by  foreign exchange gains
recognized on net monetary assets
which increased in value with the
strengthening of the Euro and Yen.

Effective Tax Rate
In 2003, we recorded a provision for
income tax expense of $127 million.
The effective tax rate on earnings
was 31%.  Our total tax expense
recorded in 2003 included a benefit
of $70 million for restructuring and
asset impairment charges.  The effec-
tive rate on earnings in 2002 was
32%, relatively consistent with 2003.  

Cumulative Effect of Accounting
Change
The adoption of SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement

Obligations,” was a required change
in accounting principle and the
cumulative effect of adopting this
standard as of January 1, 2003 result-
ed in a non-cash, after-tax charge of
$8 million in the first quarter of
2003.  Refer to “New Accounting
Pronouncements” for additional
information. 

The adoption of SFAS No. 142
“Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, net,” was a required change in
accounting principle and the cumu-
lative effect of adopting this standard
as of January 1, 2002 resulted in a
non-cash, after-tax charge of $773
million effective in the first quarter
of 2002.  

Net Earnings (Loss)
In 2003, we reported net earnings of
$280 million, or $1.26 per diluted
share compared to a net loss of $570
million, or a loss per diluted share of
$2.57. 

Earnings from continuing opera-
tions were $288 million in 2003 com-
pared to $210 million in 2002.  The
increase in 2003 is attributable to the
impact of favorable foreign currency,
control over discretionary spending
and improved demand and selling
prices partially offset by $10 million
after-tax of additional restructuring
and asset impairments charges over
2002 as well as increased raw materi-
al, energy and manufacturing costs. 

Net earnings in 2003 included a
charge of $8 million for asset retire-
ment obligations, resulting from the
adoption of SFAS No. 143.  The net
loss of $570 million in 2002 was driv-
en by the adoption of  SFAS No. 142,
which resulted in a $773 million
charge for impairment losses.  As dis-
cussed above, each of those charges
was reflected as a cumulative effect of
accounting change.  
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Results of Operations for the Year
Ended December 31, 2003, as
Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2002 – By
Business Segment

Coatings
In 2003, net sales from our Coatings
segment were $2,135 million, an
increase of 14% from net sales of
$1,866 million in 2002.  In 2003, our
Coatings segment realized benefits
primarily due to the impact of the
full year of results from our 2002
Ferro powder coatings acquisition,
greater demand, favorable foreign
currency and improved selling
prices.  Earnings from continuing
operations were $133 million for
2003, as compared to $187 million in
2002.  Compared to the prior year,
the impact of favorable foreign cur-
rency and improved selling prices,
partially offset significantly increased
raw material and energy costs.

Sales from Architectural and
Functional Coatings increased 11%
from the prior year, driven primarily
by the impact of favorable foreign
currency, selling price improvements
and increased volume.  As compared
to the prior year, sales to the “do-it-
yourself” paint market increased
despite the slow start of the exterior
painting season.  Demand improved,
compared to the prior year, for light-
weight paper coatings used by news
magazines and catalog producers
and for new products, including a
new semi-gloss binder and our
newest opaque polymer, Ropaque
ULTRA™.  We continue to see sales
growth in all regions, except Latin
America.  Powder Coatings sales
increased 43% over the prior year
primarily due to a full year of sales
from our September 2002 acquisi-
tion of Ferro’s European powder
coatings business, organic growth in
Europe and favorable foreign cur-
rency.  Sales from Automotive Coatings
decreased 2% from the prior period

primarily reflecting lower demand
from major domestic automobile
manufacturers.

Earnings from continuing opera-
tions decreased $54 million from
2002.  The decline from the prior
period was driven primarily by $67
million, after-tax of restructuring
and asset impairment charges.  The
write-down of certain finite-lived
intangible assets associated with the
Lamineer product line of Powder
Coatings as well as restructuring
charges associated with profit
improvement initiatives in several of
the Coatings businesses were record-
ed in 2003.  The impact of favorable
foreign currency and improved sell-
ing prices only partially offset signifi-
cantly increased raw material and
energy costs in 2003.

Adhesives and Sealants
In 2003, net sales from Adhesives and
Sealants were $632 million, an
increase of 7% from net sales of $592
million in 2002, primarily driven by
the impact of favorable foreign cur-
rency.  Overall, demand was lower in
2003 than 2002, primarily in the North
American and European regions.
Although we experienced growth in
our North American and European
caulk market, other chemistries,
including our structural and label
adhesives failed to improve over the
prior year.  Our Latin America and
Asia-Pacific regions reported sales
growth in markets for packaging adhe-
sives, tapes and bonding.

Earnings from continuing opera-
tions were $8 million in 2003, com-
pared to a loss of $3 million in 2002.
The earnings increase is primarily
due to fewer costs in 2003 directly
associated with restructuring activi-
ties and costs incurred to implement
prior year initiatives and the impact
of favorable foreign currency.
Earnings in 2003 included $3 mil-
lion, after-tax for restructuring and
asset impairment charges associated

with our European profit improve-
ment initiatives announced in June
2003.  Earnings in 2002 included $4
million, after-tax of restructuring
and asset impairments and $18 mil-
lion, after-tax of one-time costs
directly associated with implement-
ing these initiatives.

We are concerned with the recent
financial performance of the
Adhesives and Sealants business,
which is performing below its poten-
tial in the marketplace and below our
expectations of 6% to 8% net earn-
ings margins.  As a result, we are cur-
rently developing a comprehensive
plan to improve results through a
combination of lowering fixed costs,
stabilizing production, and driving
volume growth in the high margin
product lines.  We expect this busi-
ness to improve its profitability in
2004.  These future improvement
plans, could contain aspects which
could result in material restructuring
and asset impairment charges.  If we
are unable to achieve the expected
margins for this business, it would
adversely impact the discounted esti-
mated future cash flows for this seg-
ment which are used to test the
recoverability of goodwill.  This
could result in material goodwill
impairment charges if the fair value
falls below the book value of
Adhesives and Sealants’ net assets.   

Electronic Materials
Electronic Materials reported a strong
performance in 2003 as compared to
2002, on increased demand across all
businesses, with sales in Asia-Pacific
leading the regional perspective.  In
2003, net sales were $1,079 million, an
increase of 9% from prior year net
sales of $987 million.  

Sales from our Printed Wiring Board
business increased 5% from 2002 as
circuit board manufacturers
increased production to keep pace
with consumer demand.  Electronic
and Industrial Finishing sales grew 12%
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over 2002 with increased demand for
the advanced finishing technology for
both electronic and industrial appli-
cations.  Sales in Microelectronics in-
creased 11%, resulting from a recov-
ery in the semi-conductor market and
acceptance of our higher margin
advanced technology product lines,
including our deep ultra-violet pho-
toresists, anti-reflective coatings and
chemical mechanical planarization
pads and slurries.  

In 2003, Electronic Materials reported
earnings from continuing operations
of $97 million as compared to no
earnings in 2002 largely due to higher
sales in 2003 and the impact of favor-
able foreign currency.  Included in
the results for 2002 was a $83 million,
after-tax impairment charge recog-
nized primarily for some of the intan-
gible and fixed assets in the Printed
Wiring Board business.

Performance Chemicals 
In 2003, net sales from Performance
Chemicals were $1,382 million, an
increase of 14% from prior year net
sales of $1,217 million.  

Sales from Plastics Additives increased
24% from the prior period primarily
due to the results of our 2002 acqui-
sition of the Kureha plastics additives
business, the impact of favorable for-
eign currency and selling price
improvements.  Sales from Consumer
and Industrial Specialties increased
10% over the prior period due to
favorable foreign currency and
greater demand in Asia-Pacific and
Latin America for polyacrylic acid
dispersants and our Sea-Nine™ bio-
cide that is used in marine paint.  Net
sales from Process Chemicals (formed
by combining the Inorganic and
Specialty Solutions and Ion
Exchange Resins businesses)
remained flat over 2002 as gains from
favorable foreign currency offset
lower demand.

Performance Chemicals reported
earnings from continuing operations
of $52 million, compared to $46 mil-
lion in the prior year primarily due to
the impact of favorable foreign cur-
rency, volume and selling price
improvements which offset the high-
er raw material and energy costs.  

Earnings in 2003 included a $33 mil-
lion, after-tax charge primarily for
the impairment of finite-lived intan-
gible assets associated with the
Specialty Magnesia product line and
restructuring charges associated with
our 2003 European and other small-
er profit improvement initiatives.
Earnings in 2002 included $15 mil-
lion, after-tax of restructuring and
asset impairments.

Several businesses within Perfor-
mance Chemicals are analyzing effi-
ciency and profit improvement initia-
tives.  If approved by management,
these initiatives could result in materi-
al restructuring and asset impairment
charges.

Salt
Our Salt segment performed well in
2003, benefiting from higher demand
for ice control salt during the 2002-
2003 severe winter season.  In 2003, net
sales from Salt were $801 million, an
increase of 13% from prior year net
sales of $706 million.  The growth from
2002 was primarily driven by higher ice
control volume resulting from the
impact of  the severe and late winter
weather in the Northeast and East
Central portions of the United States
in early 2003 as well as the impact of
favorable foreign currency.  

Earnings from continuing opera-
tions were $54 million for 2003 com-
pared to $47 million from the prior
year reflecting the increased sales,
which were tempered by higher
costs, as compared to 2002, for natu-
ral gas, distribution of bulk ice con-
trol and non ice-control products
and packaging materials.

Monomers
In 2003, net sales from Monomers
were $1,152 million, an increase of
19% from prior year net sales of $970
million, including intercompany sales.
Sales to our business segments were
$760 million and $611 million in 2003
and 2002, respectively.  The improved
sales reflect the impact of pricing
changes made to recover higher raw
material and energy costs and the
impact of favorable foreign currency.

Earnings from continuing opera-
tions were $81 million for the cur-
rent year compared to $72 million in
the prior year.  The increase was driv-
en by the increased selling prices and
smooth plant operations at our Deer
Park, Texas facility which offset the
increased raw material and energy
costs.

Corporate
Corporate reported a loss from con-
tinuing operations in 2003 of $137
million, compared to a loss of $139
million in 2002.  Lower interest costs
and favorable returns on assets set
aside to fund non-qualified pension
obligations were offset by increased
restructuring charges and employee
costs, such as qualified pension costs
and stock based compensation.
Included in 2002, is $49 million after-
tax of favorable insurance settle-
ments as compared to $40 million
after-tax in 2003.

Consolidated Results of
Operations for the Year Ended
December 31, 2002, as
Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2001

Net Sales and Operating Margins
In 2002, our consolidated net sales
were $5,727 million, an increase of
1% or $61 million, from 2001 net
sales of $5,666 million.  Favorable
volume, improved product mix and
the favorable impact of foreign cur-
rencies increased sales by 3% in total,
or $169 million.  Volume and prod-
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uct mix contributed $132 million
and the favorable impact of foreign
currencies contributed $37 million
to the increase.  These increases were
offset by 2% or $108 million, prima-
rily from lower selling prices and the
impact of exited businesses, net of
acquisitions.  

The growth from 2001 reflected
strong sales in our Coatings segment,
particularly for products in the home
improvement and automotive mar-
kets.  Sales in our Electronic Materials
segment also increased as the market
for these products began to recover
and demand for advanced technology
product lines increased.  These in-
creases were partially offset by lower
sales in the Adhesives and Sealants
segment, due to the lack of sales in
the current year from the divested liq-
uid Polysulfide business, which was
exited at the end of 2001.

Our gross profit for 2002 was $1,817
million, an increase of 10% from
$1,658 million in 2001.  Our gross
profit margin increased to 32% from
29% in 2001 primarily due to favor-
able volumes, product mix and raw
material costs in 2002, offset by lower
selling prices and the impact of exit-
ed businesses, net of acquisitions.   

In 2002, we recognized approximate-
ly $50 million of additional costs for
demolition, dismantlement and
employee relocation over 2001 levels
associated with the implementation
of our 2001 repositioning efforts.
However, insurance settlements of
$76 million recognized in 2002 more
than offset the impact of these
increased costs. 

Selling, Administrative and
Research (SAR) Expenses
In 2002, SAR expenses increased 4%,
or $48 million, to $1,139 million from
$1,091 million in 2001 primarily due
to higher levels of research and devel-
opment spending.  Consistent with

our commitment to continue invest-
ing in research and development as a
way of differentiating our existing
products, while bringing new highly-
valued products to market, 2002
spending increased 13% from 2001.
The remaining increase was due to
higher selling and administrative
expense from increased health care
costs and normal wage increases.  Our
SAR expenses were 20% of net sales
for 2002 compared to 19% in 2001. 

Interest Expense 
Interest expense for 2002 was $132
million, a 27% decline from $182
million in 2001, primarily due to
lower effective interest rates on lower
average debt levels.

Amortization of Goodwill and
Other Intangibles
Amortization of goodwill and other
intangible assets for 2002 was $69
million, a 56% decrease from $156
million in 2001.  The decrease is a
direct result of the Company’s adop-
tion of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” on January
1, 2002, which ceased the amortiza-
tion of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangibles.  Excluding amortization
of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangibles in accordance with SFAS
No. 142, amortization expense would
have been $77 million in 2001 on a
pro forma basis.  The decrease from
2001, on a pro forma basis, is prima-
rily attributable to the impact of
intangible asset impairments.

Share of Affiliate Net Earnings 
In 2002, we recorded affiliate net
earnings of $15 million, a 25%
increase from earnings of $12 mil-
lion in 2001.

Provision for Restructuring and
Asset Impairments
In 2002, we recognized $177 million
for restructuring and asset impair-
ments.  This charge was comprised of
$191 million for the impairment of

certain long-lived assets and costs
associated with workforce reductions
initiated in 2002.  Offsetting this
charge was $14 million of income
resulting from pension settlement
gains associated with individuals ter-
minated from our pension plans and
changes to estimates, both of which
were in connection with our 2001
repositioning. 

Of the total 2002 charges, $158 mil-
lion was comprised of asset impair-
ments recorded to reduce the carry-
ing value of certain identified assets
to their fair values, which were calcu-
lated using cash flow analyses.  The
largest, single asset write-down was
$121 million, recorded to write-down
certain long-lived intangible and
fixed assets of the Printed Wiring
Board business in the Electronic
Materials segment.  The remaining
$37 million of non-cash charges,
recorded during 2002, related large-
ly to the closure of two European
plants and other building and equip-
ment impairments.

In a continued effort to streamline
operational efficiencies, approxi-
mately $20 million of expense was
recognized for costs associated with a
general reduction in force of over
200 positions throughout various
functions of our organization.  In
most cases, separated employees
were offered early termination bene-
fits.  The charge was based on actual
amounts paid to employees as well as
amounts expected to be paid upon
termination.  The anticipated annual
costs savings from these efforts is
approximately $25 million, primarily
in compensation expense.  

In 2001, we recognized a $330 million
restructuring and asset impairment
charge that enabled several of our busi-
nesses to respond to structural changes
in the global marketplace.  The largest
component related to the partial clo-
sure of certain manufacturing and
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research facilities across all business
groups and included exit costs related
to the liquid polysulfide business in
Adhesives and Sealants and part of 
the dyes business in Performance
Chemicals. Approximately 75% of the
assets impaired were in the North
American region.  The charge includ-
ed severance benefits for employees
affected by plant closings, capacity
reductions and various personnel in
corporate, administrative and shared
service functions.  About 1,600 posi-
tions were expected to be affected by
the restructuring efforts.

Offsetting the charge of $330 million
recorded in June 2001, was a pre-tax
gain of $18 million from the recogni-
tion of settlement gains recorded for
employees terminated from our pen-
sion plans in connection with
restructuring activities and changes
in estimates to restructuring liabili-
ties established for the 2001 initia-
tives.  Therefore, in total, we
incurred charges of $312 million for
our 2001 repositioning.  It is our pol-
icy to recognize settlement gains at
the time an employee’s pension lia-
bility is settled.  

Other Income, net 
In 2002, net other income declined to
$5 million from $15 million in 2001
largely due to income items such as
currency gains and the gain on sale of
a divested business recorded in 2001
that did not repeat during 2002.  

Effective Tax Rate
The effective tax rate for earnings
from continuing operations of $210
million for the year ended December
31, 2002 was 32%.  The loss in 2001
from continuing operations reflected a
9% effective tax rate.  The 2001 rate
was affected by two items:  non-
deductible restructuring expense; and
non-deductible amortization expense.
The effective tax rate on continuing
operations in 2001 was 39%.  

Net Earnings (Loss)
In 2002, we reported a net loss of
$570 million compared to 2001 earn-
ings of $395 million.  This equates to
a loss per diluted share of $2.57 in
2002 compared to 2001 earnings per
share of $1.79.  

The net loss in 2002 was primarily a
result of adopting SFAS No. 142,
which resulted in a $773 million
charge for impairment losses.  This
charge was reflected as a cumulative
effect of accounting change.  In addi-
tion, we recognized $116 million
after-tax in provisions for restructur-
ing and asset impairments, which
also contributed to this net loss.
Improved gross profit and lower
interest and amortization expense
favorably impacted the 2002 earnings.

Net earnings of $395 million in 2001
largely resulted from the $428 mil-
lion gain on sale of the Agricultural
Chemicals business.  Net earnings
were negatively impacted by $226
million, after-tax, by the provision for
restructuring and asset impairments
relating to the 2001 repositioning 
initiatives.

Results of Operations for the Year
Ended December 31, 2002, as
Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2001 – By
Business Segment

Pro forma results for 2001 
presented below exclude 
amortization of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Coatings
In 2002, net sales from our Coatings
segment were $1,866 million, an
increase of 6% from net sales of
$1,753 million in 2001.  Earnings
from continuing operations were
$187 million for 2002, as compared
to $124 million in 2001 on a pro
forma basis.  

Asset impairment and restructuring
charges of $47 million after-tax, rec-
ognized in connection with the 2001
repositioning efforts, drove the
change from 2001.  Additionally, in
2002 our Coatings segment realized
benefits primarily from favorable vol-
ume and product mix, in addition to
cost savings achieved from cost
reduction efforts.

More specifically, consumer markets
in Architectural and Functional Coatings
continued to drive earnings with
increased demand in the consumer
paint and paper markets.  New prod-
ucts for the semi-gloss paint market
in the U.S. and Europe, a formalde-
hyde-free insulation binder and
opaque polymers also provided favor-
able results.  

Automotive Coatings experienced an
increase in net sales due to an
increase in North American automo-
tive production and the continued
demand for plastic parts used in
automobiles.  The acquisition of
Ferro Corporation’s European pow-
der coatings business favorably
impacted the net sales of Powder
Coatings by $23 million in the fourth
quarter of 2002, although U.S. mar-
kets remained weak.

Adhesives and Sealants
In 2002, net sales from Adhesives and
Sealants were $592 million, a decline
of 10% from net sales of $661 million
in 2001.  The decline in sales was pri-
marily due to the impact of exiting the
liquid polysulfide business at the end
of 2001.  On a comparable basis, net
sales increased 3% from 2001 due to
increased demand for flexible packag-
ing, more environmentally friendly
adhesives and the positive impact of
new products launched in 2002.  

This segment reported a loss from
continuing operations of $3 million
in 2002, compared to a loss of $61
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million from the prior year on a pro
forma basis primarily due to restruc-
turing and asset impairment charges
recognized in connection with our
2001 repositioning efforts.  The
increase from 2001 is offset by the
impact of the exited liquid polysul-
fide business and additional research
and engineering costs associated
with the redesign of our manufactur-
ing and laboratory footprint.

Electronic Materials
In 2002, net sales from Electronic
Materials were $987 million, an
increase of 5% from prior year net
sales of $942 million.  The increase
can be primarily attributed to greater
demand for advanced technology
products.

In 2002, Electronic Materials report-
ed no earnings as compared to $19
million in 2001 on a pro forma basis.
In addition to the benefits realized
from increased demand for higher-
value product lines through sales and
gross profit this segment demonstrat-
ed cost savings reductions primarily
in selling and administrative costs
during 2002.  These gains were offset
in full by the $79 million, after-tax
impairment charge recognized in
2002 for some of the intangible and
fixed assets in the Printed Wiring
Board business.

Performance Chemicals 
In 2002, net sales from Performance
Chemicals were $1,217 million, an
increase of 1% from prior year net
sales of $1,204 million.  Plastics
Additives contributed approximately
$35 million from increased volume,
product mix and currency gains.
These gains were partially offset by
lower sales of $27 million from
Inorganic and Specialty Solutions due
mostly to the impact of exited busi-
nesses.  Increased volume and favor-
able product mix were offset by
decreased selling prices in Consumer
and Industrial Specialties. Net sales

from Ion Exchange Resins remained
flat over 2001.  

Earnings from continuing operations
were $46 million for the current year
compared to $20 million in the prior
year on a pro forma basis.  The year-
over-year change was driven by restruc-
turing and asset impairment charges
recognized in 2001 in connection with
our repositioning efforts.  The earn-
ings increase was driven primarily by
Plastics Additives and Inorganic and
Specialty Solutions.  

Salt
In 2002, net sales from Salt were $706
million, a decline of 6% from prior
year net sales of $749 million.  The
effect of the milder winter weather
on the ice-control market was the pri-
mary cause for the decline.  Earnings
from continuing operations were $47
million for 2002 compared to $36
million from the prior year on a pro
forma basis due to charges incurred
in connection with our 2001 reposi-
tioning efforts.  The year-over-year
change was driven by restructuring
and asset impairment charges recog-
nized in 2001 in connection with our
repositioning efforts.

Monomers
In 2002, net sales from Monomers
were $970 million, an increase of 3%
from prior year net sales of $946 mil-
lion.  The increase was generated pri-
marily by increased volume from
internal customers, mostly in the
Coatings segment.  Earnings from
continuing operations were $72 mil-
lion for the current year compared to
$41 million in the prior year on a pro
forma basis.  The difference was pri-
marily driven by volume increases,

moderate energy costs, lower logistics
costs and on-going cost reduction ini-
tiatives, which were partially offset by
costs related to production outages
experienced during the second half
of 2002 at our Deer Park, Texas plant.  

Corporate
Corporate reported a loss from contin-
uing operations in 2002 of $139 mil-
lion, compared to a loss of $177 mil-
lion as reported and a loss of $171 mil-
lion on a pro forma basis in 2001.  The
decrease is primarily attributed to
charges incurred in 2001 in connec-
tion with our repositioning efforts.  In
addition, the decrease is due to a
reduction of $50 million after-tax in
interest expense and $49 million after-
tax of favorable insurance settlements,
compared to $5 million of net expense
for remediation related costs offset by
insurance settlements in the prior year.
This decrease was partially tempered
by a reduction in pension credits of
approximately $25 million after-tax
compared to 2001, due to transition
assets which were fully amortized as of
December 31, 2001 and diminished
economic returns from pension assets.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and
Other Financial Data

We ended 2003, with $196 million in
cash and $2,575 million in debt com-
pared with $295 million and $3,052
million, respectively in 2002.  In
December of 2003, we retired $451
million of our 6.95% debt that was due
in July of 2004.  This early retirement
was consistent with our objectives to
reduce debt and was enabled by our
strong December cash position.  

A summary of our cash balance in
relation to our debt is provided below:

(in millions) December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Short-term obligations $ 107     $ 180
Long-term debt 2,468 2,872
Total debt $ 2,575  $ 3,052

Cash $ 196     $ 295
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Increasing cash flow from operations
through earnings and working capital
management has been, and will con-
tinue to be, an important objective in
2004.  Operating activities generated
$999 million during the year ended
December 31, 2003, $24 million more
than the $975 million generated in
2002.  The increase in cash from oper-
ating activities is primarily the result
of increased earnings and sales as
compared to 2002 as well as improved
working capital management.  Sales
increased 12% over 2002 and collec-
tions were accelerated by one day to
63 days on average during 2003.  Days
cost of sales in ending inventory also

improved by three days to 67 days dur-
ing 2003.  Overall, all movement in
working capital resulted in a reduc-
tion of $43 million in net working cap-
ital on a higher level of sales.  We con-
tinue to focus on reducing the num-
ber of days customer accounts remain
outstanding and increasing inventory
turnover.

During the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, cash provided by
operating activities exceeded amounts
needed to fund capital asset additions
and dividends by $469 million, $387
million and $127 million, respectively
as presented below:  

$217 million in 2002, an increase of
$513 million.  During 2003, the com-
pany was a net payer of debt, reduc-
ing obligations by $549 million as
compared to $30 million in 2002.
On February 27, 2002, we issued 20
billion yen-denominated (approxi-
mately $149 million at issuance) 30-
year 3.50% coupon notes due 2032,
with interest payable semiannually
on March 29th and September 29th.
The maturity date is March 29, 2032,
callable annually after March 2012.
The proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used for general
corporate purposes.  No new long-
term debt was issued during 2003.

Our primary source of short-term liq-
uidity will be existing cash balances,
cash flows from operations and, if
necessary, commercial paper and/or
bank borrowings.  In October 2003,
we entered into a $500 million
revolving credit facility with a syndi-
cated group of banks.  This facility is
committed until 2006 and is not con-
tingent upon our credit rating.  This
unused facility replaces the previous
$500 million credit facility which was
to expire in 2004.  Management
believes that our financial resources
will adequately meet our business
requirements during the next twelve
months, including planned expendi-
tures for the improvement or expan-
sion of our manufacturing capacity,
working capital requirements and
the dividend program.

On November 6, 2002, Standard and
Poor’s Rating Services (Standard and
Poor’s) announced that it lowered its
ratings on our long-term corporate
credit and senior unsecured debt to
BBB+ from A-.  At the same time,
Standard and Poor’s affirmed its A-2
rating for our short-term corporate
credit and commercial paper.
Shortly thereafter, Moody’s Investors
Services affirmed its A3 long-term
rating.  The downgrade by Standard
and Poor’s did not have a material
impact on our annual results of oper-
ations or cash flows.  Both agencies

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Cash provided by operating activities $ 999 $ 975 $ 704     

Capital asset spending 339 407    401    

Dividends 191      181      176      

Capital asset additions in 2003 include
$59 million expended to implement
our enterprise resource planning
(ERP) system, $24 million less than
the prior year for this ongoing imple-
mentation.  We anticipate capital
expenditures in 2004 to be approxi-
mately $350 million, of which
approximately $20 million will be
used for the ongoing implementa-
tion of ERP.  The remainder will be
used for capital projects at existing
plants and facilities.

In 2003, we increased our dividend
payouts by 6%, or $10 million, to $191
million from 2002 payments of $181
million.  On February 2, 2004, our
Board of Directors approved a quar-
terly dividend of $.22 per common
share payable on March 1, 2004 to
stockholders of record on February
13, 2004.  In 2004, we anticipate uti-
lizing cash from operations to acquire
capital assets, pay dividends, and fur-
ther increase cash balances. 

Cash used by investing activities was
$368 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, $187 million less

than the $555 million used for invest-
ing activities during 2002.  The
decrease in cash used can be prima-
rily attributed to a decrease in cash
outflows for acquisitions, net of
divestitures of $128 million, driven
mostly by an additional tax payment
made in 2002 associated with the
divestiture and sale of our
Agricultural Chemicals business in
June of 2001.  Included in cash used
in investing activities in 2003 is $49
million expended to settle foreign
exchange forward and currency col-
lar contracts used to hedge our
investments in Euro and yen-based
operating units.  During the same
period, the dollar book value of all
non U.S. dollar operating units
increased by $80 million, net of
hedging expenditures.  Additional
information regarding our hedging
activities is summarized in the
accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Net cash used in financing activities
was $730 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, as compared to
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have maintained stable outlooks for
those respective ratings.    

Despite the fall in the value of plan
assets in retirement plans at year-end
2002, the U.S. ERISA-qualified pen-
sion plans, which represent approxi-
mately 80% of our pension plan
assets, do not require additional cash
funding in 2004.  Funding require-
ments beyond 2004 will depend on
asset returns and interest rates used

to value plan liabilities which are dic-
tated by external market conditions.
Management is evaluating additional
funding of the U.S. plans and will
consider such action if U.S. long-
term interest rates remain at the his-
torically low levels prevailing during
2004, or if 2004 asset returns fall
below the 8.5% assumed returns.
For the smaller international plans,
we expect to contribute approxi-

mately $15 million to meet funding
needs in 2004.  Provided there is no
further decline of the global capital
markets, we would expect this annual
level of funding to be sufficient to
meet our non-U.S. plan needs.

Contractual Obligations
The following table provides contrac-
tual obligations and commitments
for future payments: 

(in millions) Payments Due by Period

Contractual obligations Total 2004 2005-2006 2007-2008 2009 and beyond
Long-term debt, including 

current portion $ 2,365 $ 10 $ 20 $ 540 $ 1,795
Operating leases 263 63 86 59 55
Purchase Obligations:
Raw material, energy and 

logistics (see notes 1 & 2) 3,329 1,167 1,402 686 74
Other  (see note 3) 182 166 13 2 1
Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Asset retirement obligations 13 2 4 - 7

Total contractual cash obligations $ 6,152 $ 1,408 $ 1,525 $ 1,287 $ 1,932

Notes:
(1)  For our requirements contracts, we have assumed that our existing business segments will require materials and services generally

consistent with prior years.  The amount of the obligation is based upon either projected requirements or historical spend.
(2) Evergreen contracts are contracts that renew automatically until specifically cancelled by either party.  We have assumed that our

evergreen contracts will continue through 2005. 
(3) Other purchase obligations include capital engineering, human resource and maintenance service  contracts.

Trading Activities
We do not have any trading activity
that involves non-exchange traded
contracts accounted for at fair value.

Unconsolidated Entities
All significant entities are consolidat-
ed.  Any unconsolidated entities are
de minimis in nature and there are
no significant contractual require-
ments to fund losses of unconsolidat-
ed entities.  

Environmental
There is a risk of environmental
impact in chemical manufacturing
operations.  Our environmental poli-

cies and practices are designed to
ensure compliance with existing laws
and regulations and to minimize the
possibility of significant environmen-
tal impact.   

The laws and regulations under
which we operate require significant
expenditures for capital improve-
ments, the operation of environmen-
tal protection equipment and reme-
diation.  Future developments and
even more stringent environmental
regulations may require us to make
additional unforeseen environmen-
tal expenditures.  Our major com-
petitors are confronted by substan-

tially similar environmental risks and
regulations.

We are a party in various government
enforcement and private actions
associated with former waste disposal
sites, many of which are on the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency's
(EPA) National Priority List, and we
have been named a potentially
responsible party (PRP) at approxi-
mately 140 inactive waste sites where
remediation costs have been or may
be incurred under the Federal
Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and
Liability Act and similar state
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statutes.  In some of these cases we
may also be held responsible for
alleged property damage.  We have
provided for future costs at certain of
these sites.  We are also involved in
corrective actions at some of our
manufacturing facilities.  

We consider a broad range of infor-
mation when we determine the
amount necessary for remediation
accruals, including available facts
about the waste site, existing and pro-
posed remediation technology and
the range of costs of applying those
technologies, prior experience, gov-
ernment proposals for this or similar
sites, the liability of other parties, the
ability of other PRPs to pay costs
apportioned to them and current
laws and regulations.  We assess the
accruals quarterly and update as
additional technical and legal infor-
mation becomes available.  However,
at certain sites, we are unable, due to
a variety of factors, to assess and
quantify the ultimate extent of our
responsibility for study and remedia-
tion costs.  Among the sites for which
we have accrued liabilities are both
non-company-owned Superfund sites
and company facilities.  Our signifi-
cant sites are described in more
detail below.

Wood-Ridge Site
In Wood-Ridge, New Jersey, Morton
and Velsicol Chemical Corporation
(Velsicol) have been held jointly and
severally liable for the cost of reme-
diation of environmental problems
associated with a mercury processing
plant (Site) acquired by a Morton
predecessor.  As of the date we
acquired Morton, Morton disclosed
and accrued for certain ongoing
studies related to the Site.
Additional data gathering has
delayed completion of these studies.
In our allocation of the purchase
price of Morton, we accrued for addi-
tional study costs and additional
remediation costs based on the ongo-
ing studies.

Our exposure at the Site will depend
in part on the results of attempts to
obtain contributions from others
believed to share responsibility.  In
2001, Velsicol stopped paying its
share of expenses.  Velsicol’s indem-
nitor, Fruit of the Loom, Inc., has
been reorganized under Chapter 11
bankruptcy and was discharged of its
responsibility for this Site after a pay-
ment to us of approximately $1 mil-
lion.  In 2002, the bankruptcy court
approved a government settlement
entered into with Velsicol, Fruit of
the Loom, and other parties, which
created a fund to be used to respond
to the Velsicol liabilities at several
sites, including Wood-Ridge.
Although Morton has contractual
rights against Velsicol for payment of
a share of remedial costs that are not
affected by the government settle-
ment, we believe Velsicol’s ability to
pay is limited.

In addition, we paid $225,000 for the
EPA to develop a work plan for a sep-
arate study of contamination in
Berry’s Creek, which runs near the
Site, and of the surrounding wet-
lands. In 2002, the EPA requested
information relating to sources of
contamination in Berry’s Creek; we
understand this request was sent to
over ninety potentially responsible
parties.  Today, there is much uncer-
tainty as to what will be required to
address Berry’s Creek, but cleanup
costs could be very high and our
share of these costs could be materi-
al to the results of our operations,
cash flows and consolidated financial
position.

Moss Point
During 1996, the EPA notified
Morton of possible irregularities in
water discharge monitoring reports
filed by its Moss Point, Mississippi
plant in early 1995.  Morton investi-
gated and identified other environ-
mental issues at the plant.  Although
at the date of acquisition Morton had
accrued for some remediation and

legal costs, we revised these accruals
as part of the allocation of the pur-
chase price of Morton based on our
discussions with the authorities and
on the information available as of
June 30, 2000.  In 2000, we reached
an agreement with the EPA, the
Department of Justice and the State
of Mississippi, resolving these histori-
cal environmental issues.  The agree-
ment received court approval in early
2001.  The accruals established for
this matter were sufficient to cover
the costs of the settlement.  As a part
of this agreement, 23 chemical facili-
ties were subject to environmental
audit by an independent consultant.
Findings were provided to the gov-
ernment, but penalties, if any, associ-
ated with the findings have not yet
been negotiated.  In December 2001,
we closed the chemicals portion of
the Moss Point facility and are in the
process of closing the remaining
Electronic Materials portion as part
of the sale of the dry film business.
In December 2002, a complaint was
filed in Mississippi on behalf of over
700 plaintiffs against Morton
International, Rohm and Haas,
Joseph Magazzu, a former Morton
employee, and the Mississippi
Department of Environmental
Quality alleging personal injury and
property damage caused by environ-
mental contamination. Similar com-
plaints were filed in March 2003 in
Mississippi on behalf of additional
plaintiffs. At this time, we see no basis
for these claims and we will defend
these cases vigorously.

Paterson
We closed the former Morton plant
at Paterson, New Jersey in December
2001, and are currently undertaking
remediation of the site under New
Jersey’s Industrial Site Recovery Act.
Investigation of contamination of
shallow soils and groundwater is
nearly complete, with further investi-
gation of deeper groundwater ongo-
ing.  Remediation systems for prod-
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Our reserves represent those costs
that we believe to be probable and
reasonably estimable.  Other costs,
which have not met the definition of
probable, but are reasonably
estimable have been included in our
disclosure of reasonably possible loss
contingencies.  In addition to
accrued environmental liabilities, we
have identified reasonably possible
loss contingencies related to environ-
mental matters of approximately $84
million and $70 million at December
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively.  

Further, we have identified other
sites, including our larger manufac-
turing facilities, where additional
future environmental remediation
may be required, but these loss con-
tingencies cannot be reasonably esti-
mated at this time.  These matters
involve significant unresolved issues,
including the number of parties
found liable at each site and their
ability to pay, the outcome of negoti-
ations with regulatory authorities,
the alternative methods of remedia-
tion and the range of costs associated
with those alternatives.  We believe
that these matters, when ultimately

resolved, which may be over an
extended period of time, will not
have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or
consolidated cash flows, but could
have a material adverse effect on con-
solidated results of operations or
cash flows in any given period.

We have actively pursued lawsuits
over insurance coverage for certain
environmental liabilities.  It is our
practice to reflect environmental
insurance recoveries in the results of
operations for the quarter in which
the litigation is resolved through set-
tlement or other appropriate legal
processes.  These resolutions typical-
ly resolve coverage for both past and
future environmental spending.   We
settled with several of our insurance
carriers and recorded earnings pre-
tax of approximately $58 million, $76
million and $13 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.  Although we have
recorded significant gains from
insurance settlements in the past  two
years, we cannot expect to receive
like amounts in future settlements.

Other Environmental Matters
Capital spending for new environ-
mental protection equipment was
$18 million in 2003 versus $23 mil-
lion in 2002 and $26 million in 2001.
Spending for 2004 and 2005 is
expected to be $21 million and $25
million, respectively.  Capital expen-
ditures in this category include proj-
ects whose primary purposes are pol-
lution control and safety, as well as
environmental aspects of projects in
other categories that are intended
primarily to improve operations or
increase plant efficiency.  We expect
future capital spending for environ-
mental protection equipment to be
consistent with prior-year spending
patterns.  Capital spending does not
include the cost of environmental
remediation of waste disposal sites.

uct and shallow groundwater recov-
ery are in operation. Removal of
most of the contaminated soil is com-
plete and further soil remediation
measures are under design. An
accrual was recorded for known
remediation activities in September
2000, and revised in September 2002,
to address information obtained dur-
ing the ongoing site investigation.  

Groundwater Treatment and Monitoring
Major remediation for certain sites,
such as Kramer, Whitmoyer,
Woodlands and Goose Farm has
been completed.  We are continuing
groundwater remediation and moni-
toring programs.  Reserves for these
costs have been established. 

Company Manufacturing Facilities
We also have accruals for corrective
action programs under governmen-
tal environmental laws at several of
our manufacturing sites.  The more
significant of these accruals have
been recorded at the following sites:
Bristol, Pennsylvania; Houston,
Texas; Ringwood, Illinois; and
Mozzanica, Italy.

Remediation Reserves, Reasonably
Possible Amounts and Insurance
Settlements
Our reserves for environmental
remediation, as presented below, are
recorded appropriately as current
and long-term liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(in millions) Balance Note

December 31, 2001 $ 150

Amounts charged to earnings 3 (1)

Spending (30)

December 31, 2002 123

Amounts charged to earnings 23

Spending (19)

December 31, 2003 $ 127

Note:

(1) Includes an adjustment to decrease the liability for our Whitmoyer site, based on

a favorable settlement with GlaxoSmithKline in January 2003.
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The cost of operating and maintain-
ing environmental facilities was $105
million, $101 million and $129 mil-
lion in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respec-
tively, and was charged against cur-
rent-year earnings.

Other Litigation
In February 2003, we were served
with European Commission
Decisions requiring submission to
investigations in France and the
United Kingdom, a search permit in
Japan from the Japanese Fair Trade
Commission, an order for the pro-
duction of records and information
in Canada and two grand jury
records subpoenas in the United
States all relating to a global antitrust
investigation of the Plastics Additives
industry. We also received a request
for information from the Japanese
Fair Trade Commission.  The
Japanese Fair Trade Commission has
initiated proceedings against named
Japanese plastics additives producers
but did not initiate action against
Rohm and Haas.  We do not expect
further action in the Japanese inves-
tigation.  We are cooperating fully
with all governmental authorities.  

In addition, the company has been
served with seven private civil antitrust
actions in U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania and
one in State Court in Ohio.  These
actions have been brought against
Rohm and Haas and other producers
of plastics additives products by pur-
chasers of these products and seek
civil damages as a result of alleged vio-
lations of the antitrust laws.  The
named plaintiffs in each of these
actions are seeking to sue on behalf of
all similarly situated direct purchasers
of plastics additives products.  Federal
law provides that persons who have
been injured by violations of Federal
antitrust law may recover three times
their actual damages plus attorneys
fees.  Ohio state antitrust law provides
for double damage indemnity.  We do

not believe these cases have merit and
will defend them vigorously.

There has been increased publicity
about asbestos liabilities faced by
manufacturing companies. In the
past, many companies with manufac-
turing facilities had asbestos on their
premises.  As a result of the bank-
ruptcy of asbestos producers, plain-
tiffs’ attorneys are increasing their
focus on peripheral defendants,
including the company, which had
asbestos on its premises.
Historically, these premises cases
have been dismissed or settled for
minimal amounts because of the
minimal likelihood of exposure at
our facilities. As the asbestos produc-
ers are bankrupted, the demands
against companies with older manu-
facturing facilities of any type in the
United States, such as the company,
are increasing.  We have reserved
amounts for premises asbestos cases
that we currently believe are proba-
ble and estimable; we cannot reason-
ably estimate what our asbestos costs
will be if the current situation deteri-
orates and there is no tort reform.

There are also pending lawsuits filed
against Morton related to employee
exposure to asbestos at a manufac-
turing facility in Weeks Island,
Louisiana with additional lawsuits
expected.  We expect that most of
these cases will be dismissed because
they are barred under worker’s com-
pensation laws; however, cases involv-
ing asbestos-caused malignancies
may not be barred under Louisiana
law.  Subsequent to the Morton
acquisition, we commissioned med-
ical studies to estimate possible
future claims and recorded accruals
based on the results.  Morton has also
been sued in connection with
asbestos related matters in the for-
mer Friction Division of the former
Thiokol Corporation, which merged
with Morton in 1982.  Settlement
amounts to date have been minimal

and many cases have closed with no
payment.  We estimate that all costs
associated with future claims, includ-
ing defense costs, will be well below
our insurance limits.  

We are also parties to litigation arising
out of the ordinary conduct of our
business.  Recognizing the amounts
reserved for such items and the
uncertainty of the ultimate outcomes,
it is our opinion that the resolution of
all these pending lawsuits, investiga-
tions and claims will not have a mate-
rial adverse effect, individually or in
the aggregate, upon our results of
operations, cash flows or our consoli-
dated financial position.  

Indemnifications
In connection with the divestiture of
several of our operating businesses,
we have agreed to retain, and/or
indemnify the purchaser against cer-
tain liabilities of the divested busi-
ness, including liabilities relating to
defective products sold by the busi-
ness or environmental contamina-
tion arising or taxes accrued prior to
the date of the sale.   Our indemnifi-
cation obligations with respect to
these liabilities may be indefinite as
to duration and may or may not be
subject to a deductible, minimum
claim amount or cap.  As such, it is
not possible for us to predict the like-
lihood that a claim will be made or to
make a reasonable estimate of the
maximum potential loss or range of
loss.  No company assets are held as
collateral for these indemnifications
and no specific liabilities have been
established for such guarantees.

Dividends 
Total common stock dividends paid
in 2003 were $.86 per share, com-
pared to $.82 per share in 2002.
Common stock dividends have been
paid each year since 1927, and the
payout has increased annually at a
10% compound annual growth rate
since 1977.  
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Additions to Land, Building and
Equipment 
Capital additions were $339 million,
$407 million and $401 million in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

The largest capital project in each of
the last three years has been the
implementation of Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) system
which we commenced in 2000.
Capital additions for this ERP system
were:  $59 million, $83 million and
$72 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.  Inception-to-date addi-
tions for this project were  $242 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003.  As of
February 2004, we had approximate-
ly 85% of the eventual users support-
ed by the new system.  By May 2004,
we expect to have all our regions and

businesses operating on this new
platform except for Salt where we are
not implementing this system.  As of
December 31, 2003, we have spent
$278 million of the $300 million esti-
mated for this project, and are on
track both in terms of budget and
timing to complete the implementa-
tion by May, 2004.  Of the $300 mil-
lion estimate for the project, approx-
imately $240 million will be capital-
ized and $60 million expensed.

In addition to the ERP system, signifi-
cant capital additions include costs for:

2003 
(1) expansions in our Houston,
Texas and Villers-Saint-Paul, France
plants for the Monomers and
Consumer and Industrial Specialties

businesses, respectively; (2) equip-
ment purchases for our Electronic
Materials segment;  and (3) the com-
pletion of our Mumbai, India plant.  

2002 
(1) the Adhesives and Sealants manu-
facturing footprint; (2) expansions in
our Kankakee, Illinois plant for the
Architectural and Functional
Coatings business; and (3) the con-
struction of our Mumbai, India plant.  

2001
(1) human resource/payroll system
upgrades; and (2) streamlining of
the methyl methacrylate facility in
Deer Park, Texas.    

Expenditures for the past three
years, categorized by primary pur-
pose of project, are presented below:

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Environmental, cost savings and infrastructure $ 190 $ 195 $ 193
Capacity additions and new products 63 88 107
ERP infrastructure 59 83 72
Research facilities and equipment 9 21 12
Capitalized interest cost 18 20 17

Total $ 339 $ 407 $ 401

Spending for environmental protec-
tion equipment is included in several
of the categories in the table shown
above, was $18 million in 2003, $23
million in 2002 and $26 million in
2001.  Capital expenditures in 2004
are not expected to exceed deprecia-
tion expense.    

Acquisitions and Divestitures 
We made no significant acquisitions
in 2003, but completed the following
sale in 2003:

In March 2003, we completed the
sale of our dry film photoresist busi-
ness to Eternal Chemical Company.
As a result of this sale, we will close
our North American and European
dry film photoresist manufacturing
operations.  Eternal Chemical
Company will manufacture its newly

expanded dry film Photoresist pro-
duct line under the Eternal company
label.  As part of the divestiture, we
have entered into an agreement to
distribute the entire Eternal dry film
photoresist product line in North
America and Europe, as well as to
our existing customers in Asia.  

We made no significant divestitures in
2002.  The following significant acqui-
sitions were completed  in 2002:

In September 2002, we acquired cer-
tain assets and liabilities of Ferro
Corporation’s European powder coat-
ings business for approximately $60
million.  Ferro Corporation’s powder
coatings business produces materials
used mostly by manufacturers of metal
products to finish materials like win-
dow frames and automotive wheels. 

In December 2002, we acquired the
global plastics additives business of
our joint venture partner, Kureha
Chemical, for approximately $57 mil-
lion.  Included in the acquisition are
the commercial operations through-
out the Asia-Pacific region and other
areas along with the manufacturing
facilities and laboratories in
Singapore, as well as technical ser-
vice laboratories in Beijing.
Additionally, we gained full control
of manufacturing sites in Singapore
and Grangemouth, Scotland, which
were sites previously part of the joint
venture.  The acquisition effectively
terminates the joint ventures we had
with Kureha Chemical.  The pur-
chase price allocation for this acqui-
sition was finalized during 2003.
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Working Capital 
In 2003, we continued to focus on improving our working capital manage-
ment.  As compared to 2002 days sales outstanding improved by one day and
days cost of sales in ending inventory improved by three days.

Details about two major components of working capital at the end of 2003 and
2002 are summarized below:

Land, Building and Equipment, net 
Investments in land, buildings and equipment, net is summarized below:

New Accounting
Pronouncements

Asset Retirement Obligations
Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.”   This statement
requires us to recognize the fair value
of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation during the period in which
it is incurred.  The corresponding
asset retirement costs are capitalized
as part of the carrying value of the
related long-lived assets and depreci-
ated over the asset’s useful life.
Changes in the liability balance due to
the passage of time are measured by
applying an interest method of alloca-
tion to the liability amount at the
beginning of the period.  This
amount is recognized as an increase
to the liability balance and as an oper-
ating expense in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations.  Revisions
to the timing or the amount of the
original estimate of undiscounted
cash flows, are recognized as an
increase or decrease in the carrying
amount of the liability and the related
asset retirement costs capitalized as
part of the underlying long-lived asset.  

Our asset retirement obligations are
primarily associated with the follow-
ing: 1) the capping of certain brine
and gas wells used by our Salt seg-
ment for the production of various
products; and 2) the contractual
requirement to remove or dismantle
certain leasehold improvements at
the end of the lease term.  

The adoption of SFAS No. 143 result-
ed in a transition charge of $11 mil-
lion ($8 million after-tax), reported
as a cumulative effect of accounting
change in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.  At January
1, 2003, we recognized a liability of
$14 million representing total asset
retirement obligations, which is

(in millions) 2003 2002

Inventories
Year-end balance $ 821 $ 765
Annual turnover 5.7x 5.3 x

Days cost of sales in ending inventory 67 70

Customer receivables
Year-end balance $ 1,209 $ 1,078
Annual turnover 5.6x 5.4 x

Days sales outstanding 63 64

(in millions) 2003 2002

Year-end balance $ 2,966 $ 2,954
Annual turnover 2.2 x 2.0x

Notes:
• Annual turnover figures are calculated by dividing annual sales (for customer receiv-

ables and land, buildings and equipment, net) or cost of goods sold (for inventories)
by the average balance. 

• Days sales outstanding was calculated by dividing ending customer receivables, net
by daily sales for the fourth quarter of both years presented.  

• Days cost of sales in ending inventory was calculated by dividing ending inventory by
daily cost of sales for the fourth quarter of both years presented.  In the fourth quar-
ter of 2003, cost of sales included $49 million of gains from insurance settlements.
In the fourth quarter of 2002, cost of sales included $63 million of gains from reme-
diation related adjustments and insurance settlements and $31 million of costs for
demolition, dismantlement and other costs associated with restructuring. 

Asset Turnover equals sales divided by average year-end assets.  Asset
turnover was .7 in 2003, .6 in 2002 and .5 in 2001.

Information Systems 
The upgrade and consolidation of our
global ERP systems infrastructure is
nearing completion.  Areas of concen-
tration for this system include,
finance, human resources, customer
relationship management, production
scheduling, procurement, mainte-

nance, sales and distribution.  We have
engaged a consulting firm to help
implement the components of the
new ERP system.  By May 2004, we
expect to have all regions and busi-
nesses operating on this new system,
except for Salt, where we are not
implementing this system.  
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included in Other Liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Additionally, the carrying values of
the related long-lived assets were
increased by $3 million, net of accu-
mulated depreciation.  

The disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 143 provide that the pro forma
liability be presented upon adoption.
Our pro forma asset retirement obli-
gation would have been $13 million
if SFAS No. 143 was adopted on
January 1, 2002.

The liability for certain asset retire-
ment obligations cannot currently be
measured as the retirement dates are
not yet determinable.  We will recog-
nize the liability when sufficient
information exists to estimate a
range of potential retirement dates.

Debt Extinguishment and Lease
Accounting
In April 2002, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of
FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No.
13, and Technical Corrections.”  This
statement amends SFAS No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases,” and other
existing authoritative pronounce-
ments in order to make various tech-
nical corrections, clarify meanings,
or describe their applicability under
changed conditions and also limits
the classification of debt extinguish-
ments as extraordinary items.  We
adopted this statement effective
January 1, 2003.  For the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
recorded losses on early extinguish-
ment of debt of $12 million ($8 mil-
lion after-tax) and $2 million ($1 mil-
lion after-tax), respectively as an
extraordinary item.  In accordance
with this statement, we have now
reclassified the $12 million and $2
million pre-tax loss from extraordi-
nary to continuing operations.

Guarantor’s Accounting
In November 2002, the FASB issued
FASB Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” (FIN 45).  FIN 45 requires
that the guarantor recognize, at the
inception of certain guarantees, a lia-
bility for the fair value of the obliga-
tion undertaken in issuing such guar-
antees.  FIN 45 also requires addi-
tional disclosure requirements about
the guarantor’s obligations under
certain guarantees that it has issued.
The initial recognition and measure-
ment provisions of this interpreta-
tion are applicable on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modi-
fied after December 31, 2002 and the
disclosure requirements were effec-
tive for financial statement periods
ending after December 15, 2002.
The adoption of FIN 45 did not have
a material impact on our financial
statements.

Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2002, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation - Transition
and Disclosure,” which amends SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” to provide
alternative methods of transition for
a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for
stock-based compensation.  The
statement amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to
require prominent disclosures in
both annual and interim financial
statements of the method of account-
ing for stock-based employee com-
pensation and the effect of the meth-
ods used to calculate reported
results.  While SFAS No. 148 does not
require companies to account for
employee stock options using the fair
value method, the disclosure provi-

sions of SFAS No. 148 are applicable
to all companies with stock-based
employee compensation, regardless
of whether they account for that
compensation using the fair value
method of SFAS No. 123 or the
intrinsic value method of APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.”  The
transition guidance and annual and
interim disclosure provisions of SFAS
No. 148 were effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002.  We
adopted the annual disclosure provi-
sions as of December 31, 2002.  

Effective January 1, 2003, we
prospectively adopted the fair value
method of recording stock-based
compensation as defined in SFAS
No. 123.  As a result, in 2003 we
began to expense the fair value of
stock options that were awarded to
employees after January 1, 2003.
Prior to 2003, we did not recognize
compensation expense for stock
options.  Under the prospective
method, the initial year impact is
roughly one-third (based on our vest-
ing policy) of the total estimated fair
value of the 2003 grants.  The annual
impact of adopting this pronounce-
ment will increase expense in subse-
quent years until a full “run rate” of
expense is achieved.  Results for
prior years have not been restated.  

Variable Interest Entities
In January 2003, the FASB issued
FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46).  FIN 46 requires
that a variable interest be consolidat-
ed by a company if that company is
subject to a majority of the risk of loss
from the variable interest entity’s
activities or entitled to receive a
majority of the entity’s residual
returns or both.  The consolidation
requirements apply immediately to
variable interest entities created after
January 31, 2003.  The consolidation
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requirements apply to older entities
in the first fiscal year or interim peri-
od ending after December 15, 2003.
Certain of the disclosure require-
ments apply in all financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003,
regardless of when the variable inter-
est entity was established.   On
February 1, 2003, we adopted FIN 46
for variable interest entities created
after January 31, 2003 and it did not
have a material impact on our finan-
cial statements.  In December 2003,
the FASB deferred the provisions of
FIN 46 for all other variable interest
entities until March 31, 2004.   We
believe that the adoption of this
statement will not have a material
impact.   

Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 149, “Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” to improve finan-
cial reporting by requiring that con-
tracts with comparable characteris-
tics be accounted for similarly.  The
statement amends and clarifies finan-
cial accounting reporting for deriva-
tive instruments, including certain
derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts and for hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
The statement clarifies: 1) under
what circumstances a contract with
an initial net investment meets the
characteristic of a derivative; 2) when
a derivative contains a financing
component; and 3) amends the defi-
nition of an “underlying.”  SFAS No.
149 is effective for contracts entered
into or modified after June 30, 2003.
The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did
not have a material impact on our
financial statements.  

Cautionary Statements 
Any statements we make in our fil-
ings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission, including
this filing, or other communications
(including press releases and analyst
meetings and calls) that are not state-
ments of historical fact are forward-
looking statements.  These state-
ments include, without limitation,
those relating to anticipated product
plans, litigation and environmental
matters, currency effects, profitabili-
ty, and other commitments or goals.
Forward-looking statements are sub-
ject to a number of risks and uncer-
tainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the
statements made.  These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not
limited to, the following: 

• Currencies and Economic
Conditions
Approximately 53% of our sales
are derived from outside the
United States, a significant por-
tion of which are denominated in
foreign currencies.  Also, signifi-
cant production facilities are
located outside of the United
States.  Our financial results
therefore can be affected by
changes in foreign currency rates.
We use certain financial instru-
ments to mitigate these effects,
but we do not hedge our foreign
currency exposure in a manner
that would entirely eliminate the
effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates on our earnings,
cash flows and fair values of assets
and liabilities.  Accordingly,
reported sales, net earnings, cash
flows and fair values have been
and in the future may be affected
by changes in foreign exchange
rates.  In addition, because of the
extensive nature of our foreign
business activities, financial
results could be adversely affected
by changes in worldwide econom-
ic conditions, changes in trade
policies or tariffs, changes in
interest rates, and political unrest. 

• Competition and Demand
Our products are sold in a com-
petitive, global economy.
Competitors include many large
multinational chemical firms
based in Europe, Asia and the
United States. New competitive
products or pricing policies of our
competitors can materially affect
demand for and pricing of our
products.  In addition, financial
results are subject to fluctuations
in demand, the seasonal activity of
certain of our businesses and
weather conditions, particularly
for the Salt segment.  We also
manufacture and sell our prod-
ucts to customers in industries
and countries that are experienc-
ing periods of rapid change, most
notably countries in Eastern
Europe, Latin America and the
Asia-Pacific region.    These fac-
tors can affect demand for our
products and therefore may have
a significant impact on financial
results.  

• Supply and Capacity  
From time to time, certain raw
materials we require become lim-
ited.  It is likely this will occur
again in the future.  Should such
limitations arise, disruptions of
our supply chain may lead to
higher prices and/or shortages.
Also, we are subject to increases in
raw material prices and, from
time to time, experience signifi-
cant capacity limitations in our
manufacturing operations.  These
limitations, disruptions in supply,
price increases and capacity con-
straints could adversely affect
financial results. 

• Technology  
We have invested significant
resources in intellectual proper-
ties such as patents, trademarks,
copyrights and trade secrets.
Since we depend on these intel-
lectual resources for our financial
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stability and future growth, we
rely on the protection that these
intellectual property rights pro-
vide.  The development and suc-
cessful implementation of new,
competing technologies in the
market place could significantly
impact future financial results.  

• Joint Ventures, Acquisitions and
Alliances  
We have entered, and in the
future may enter, into arrange-
ments with other companies to
expand product offerings and to
enhance our own capabilities.  We
may continue to make strategic
acquisitions and divestitures.  The
success of acquisitions of new
technologies, companies and
products, or arrangements with
third parties, is not predictable
and there can be no assurance
that we will be successful in realiz-
ing our objectives, or that realiza-
tion may not take longer than
anticipated, or that there will not
be unintended adverse conse-
quences from these actions.  

• Environmental/Litigation  
Risks and uncertainties related to
environmental matters are dis-
cussed previously in this section
under the caption Environmental.

Item 7a.  Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk 

We are exposed to market risk from
changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices since we denomi-
nate our business transactions in a
variety of foreign currencies, finance
our operations through long- and
short-term borrowings, and purchase
raw materials at market prices.  As a
result, future earnings, cash flows
and fair values of assets and liabilities
are subject to uncertainty.  Our oper-
ating and financing plans include

actions to reduce this uncertainty
including, but not limited to, the use
of derivative instruments.

We have established policies govern-
ing our use of derivative instruments.
We do not use derivative instruments
for trading or speculative purposes,
nor are we a party to any leveraged
derivative instruments or any instru-
ments of which the fair market values
are not available from independent
third parties.  We manage counter-
party risk by entering into derivative
contracts only with major financial
institutions of investment grade credit
rating and by limiting amount of
exposure to each financial institution.
The terms of certain derivative instru-
ments contain a credit clause where
each party has a right to settle at mar-
ket if the other party is downgraded
below investment grade.  As of
December 31, 2003, the fair market
value of all such contracts was $55 mil-
lion which is carried as an asset on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  All of
these contracts were with investment
grade financial institutions.

We enter into derivative contracts
based on economic analysis of under-
lying exposures, anticipating that
adverse impacts on future earnings,
cash flows and fair values due to fluc-
tuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices will be offset by
the proceeds from and changes in
the fair value of the derivative instru-
ments.  Our exposure to market risk
is not hedged in a manner that com-
pletely eliminates the effects of
changing market conditions on earn-
ings, cash flows and fair values.

Sensitivity analysis is used as a pri-
mary tool in evaluating the effects of
changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices on our business
operations. The analyses quantify the
impact of potential changes in these

rates and prices on our earnings,
cash flows and fair values of assets
and liabilities during the forecast
period, most commonly within a one-
year period.  The range of changes
used for the purpose of this analysis
reflects our view of changes that are
reasonably possible over the forecast
period.  Fair values are the present
value of projected future cash flows
based on market rates and chosen
prices.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
Short-term exposures to changing
foreign exchange rates are primarily
due to operating cash flows denomi-
nated in foreign currencies and
transactions denominated in non-
functional currencies.  Known and
anticipated exposures are covered by
using foreign exchange option, for-
ward and swap contracts.  Most sig-
nificant foreign currency exposures
are related to Germany, France, Italy,
Netherlands, the United Kingdom,
Sweden, Switzerland, Brazil, Mexico,
Canada, Japan, Taiwan, China and
Australia.  We estimate that an instan-
taneous 10% appreciation or depre-
ciation in all the currencies of these
countries from their levels against
the dollar as of December 31, 2003,
with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease by $24
million the fair value of foreign cur-
rency hedging contracts held at
December 31, 2003.  This estimate is
based on market conditions as of
December 31, 2003, without reflect-
ing the effects of underlying antici-
pated transactions.

Our products are manufactured and
sold in a number of locations around
the world.  We generate revenues
and incur costs in a variety of
European, Asian and Latin American
currencies.  Additionally, we finance
operations outside of the United
States in local currencies.  Our
diverse base of local currency costs,
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financings, and foreign exchange
option, forward and swap contracts
will partially counterbalance the
impact of changing foreign currency
exchange rates on revenues, earn-
ings, cash flows and fair values of
assets and liabilities.  Nevertheless,
when those anticipated transactions
are realized, actual effects of chang-
ing foreign currency exchange rates
could have a material impact on
earnings and cash flows in future
periods.

Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to changes in inter-
est rates primarily due to our financ-
ing, investing and cash management
activities, which include long- and
short-term debt to maintain liquidity
and fund business operations.  Our
current strategic policy is to maintain
from 20% to 40% of floating rate
debt.  A 50 basis point increase in
interest rates would reduce the fair
value of interest rate sensitive liabili-
ties including short- and long-term
debt by $83 million, net of derivative
contracts outstanding as of
December 31, 2003.  A 50 basis point
decrease in interest rates will
increase the fair value by $110 mil-
lion.  However, such changes in fair
values would not have a material
impact on our earnings per share or
cash flows as the majority of our debt
obligations at December 31, 2003

consisted of fixed rate instruments.
A 50 basis point movement is equiva-
lent to approximately 10% of the
weighted average rate on our world-
wide debt.

Commodity Price Risk
We purchase certain raw materials
and energy sources such as natural
gas, propylene, acetone, butanol and
styrene under short- and long-term
supply contracts.  The purchase
prices are generally determined
based on prevailing market condi-
tions.  Changing raw material and

energy prices have historically had
material impacts on our earnings
and cash flows in the past, and will
likely continue to have significant
impacts on earnings and cash flows
in future periods.  Commodity deriv-
ative instruments are used to reduce
portions of commodity price risks.
Assuming a 25% change in the
underlying commodity price, the
potential change in the fair value of
commodity derivative contracts held
at December 31, 2003 approximates
$7 million.
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Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

2003 Quarterly Results

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year
(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 2003

Net sales $ 1,613 $1,570 $ 1,591 $ 1,647 $ 6,421
Gross profit 449 461 467 538 1,915
Provision for restructuring and asset impairments 5 146 5 40 196
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before 

cumulative effect of accounting change 82 (3) 100 109 288
Net earnings (loss) 74 (3) 100 109 280
Basic earnings (loss) per share, in dollars (3):

From continuing operations (2) $ .37 $ (.02) $ .45 $ .49 $ 1.30
Net earnings (loss)  .33 (.02) .45 .49 1.26

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, in dollars (3):
From continuing operations (2) $ .37 $ (.02) $ .45 $ .49 $ 1.30
Net earnings (loss) .33 (.02) .45 .49 1.26

Cash dividends per common share, in dollars $ .21 $ .21 $ .22 $ .22 $ .86

Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

2002 Quarterly Results

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year
(in millions) Quarter(1) Quarter Quarter Quarter 2002

Net sales $ 1,381 $1,457 $ 1,454 $ 1,435 $ 5,727
Gross profit 441 479 451 446 1,817
Provision for restructuring and asset impairments (1) 17 - 161 177
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before 

cumulative effect of accounting change (4) 79 92 77 (38) 210
Loss on disposal of discontinued line of business, 

net of income taxes - (3) (4) - (7)
Net earnings (loss) (694) 89 73 (38) (570)
Basic earnings (loss) per share, in dollars (3):

From continuing operations (2) $ .36 $ .41 $ .35 $ (.17) $ .95
Net earnings (loss)  (3.15) .40 .33  (.17) (2.58)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, in dollars (3):
From continuing operations (2) $ .36 $ .41 $ .35 $ (.17) $ .95 
Net earnings (loss) (3.13) .40 .33 (.17) (2.57)

Cash dividends per common share, in dollars $ .20 $ .20 $ .21 $ .21 $ .82

(1) Amounts differ from those disclosed in the quarterly report filed on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002 due to the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, which resulted in a cumulative effect of accounting change of $773 million after-tax and a loss per basic
share of $3.50 and a loss per diluted share of $3.49.

(2) Before cumulative effect of accounting change.
(3) Earnings (loss) per share for the year may not equal the sum of quarterly earnings (loss) per share due to changes in weighted

average share calculations.
(4) In accordance with the SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 , and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13,

and Technical Corrections,” 2002 earnings from continuing operations now reflect losses on early extinguishment of debt, previ-
ously reported below continuing operations as extraordinary items.  
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Item 9.  Changes in and
Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

No reports on Form 8-K were filed
during 2003 or 2002 relating to any
disagreements with accountants on
accounting and financial disclosures.

Item 9A.  Controls and
Procedures

a)  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls
and Procedures

The company maintains a system of
disclosure controls and procedures
for financial reporting to give rea-
sonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed in the com-
pany’s reports submitted under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is
recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods
specified in the rules and forms of
the SEC.  These controls and proce-
dures also give reasonable assurance
that information required to be dis-
closed in such reports is accumulated
and communicated to management
to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures.

As of December 31, 2003, our
Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer and our Vice
President and Chief Financial
Officer, together with management,
conducted an evaluation of the effec-
tiveness of the company’s disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to
Rule 13a-14 ( c ) and 15d-14 ( c ) of
the Exchange Act.  Based on that
evaluation, our Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer
and our Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures
are effective.  Our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have signed their certifications as
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

b) Changes in Internal Controls
over Financial Reporting

As previously disclosed, the company
is currently in the process of imple-
menting an Enterprise Resource
Planning (ERP) system globally.  The
implementation is phased and
planned to be complete in 2004.  In
addition, the company has and will
undertake restructuring initiatives
that may result in the realignment 
of job responsibilities and the elimi-
nation of positions.  These events 
are changing how transactions are
processed and/or the functional
areas or locations responsible for the
transaction processing.  As a result,
where appropriate, we are changing
the design and operation of our
internal control structure.  We be-
lieve we are taking the necessary
steps to monitor and maintain appro-
priate internal controls during this
period of change.   

PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive
Officers of the Registrant

The information called for by Item 10
of this Form 10-K report for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2003, has
been omitted, except for the informa-
tion presented below, since we will file
with the Securities and Exchange
Commission a definitive Proxy State-
ment pursuant to Regulation 14(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934.

DIRECTORS

William J. Avery, formerly Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Director
of Crown, Cork & Seal Company, Inc.
1990 until his retirement in 2001.
Mr. Avery, 63, has been a director
since 1997.  Mr. Avery also is a direc-
tor of the Lincoln Financial Group.
(Committees: 1, 2, 4)

J. Michael Fitzpatrick, President and
Chief Operating Officer, Rohm and
Haas Company, 1999 to present; pre-
viously, Chief Technology Officer,
Rohm and Haas Company, 1996 to
1998, Vice President, Rohm and
Haas Company, 1993 to 1998.  Dr.
Fitzpatrick, 57, has been a director
since 1999.  Dr. Fitzpatrick also is a
director of Carpenter Technology
Corporation and McCormick &
Company, Inc.  (Committees: 2, 5)

Earl G. Graves, Sr., Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, Earl G.
Graves, Ltd., 1972 to present;
Publisher and Editor, Black
Enterprise Magazine, 1970 to pres-
ent; retired Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Pepsi-Cola of
Washington D.C., L.P.; Managing
Director, Black Enterprise/
Greenwich Street Corporate Growth
Partners, L.P.  Mr. Graves, 69, has
been a director since 1984.  Mr.
Graves also is a director of Aetna,
Inc.; AMR Corporation and its sub-
sidiary, American Airlines, Inc.;
DaimlerChrysler AG; and Federated
Department Stores Inc.
(Committees: 4, 5)

Raj L. Gupta, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Rohm and Haas
Company, 1999 to present; previous-
ly, Vice Chairman, Rohm and Haas
Company, 1999; Vice President and
Regional Director of the Asia-Pacific
Region, Rohm and Haas Company,
1993 to 1998.  Mr. Gupta, 58, has
been a director since 1999.  Mr.
Gupta also is a director of Agere
Systems and The Vanguard Group.
(Committees: 2 (chair))

David W. Haas, Chairman and
Director, The William Penn
Foundation, 1998 to present; previ-
ously, Vice-Chairman, The William
Penn Foundation, 1996 to 1998.  Mr.
Haas, 48, has been a director since
1999.  He is a cousin of Thomas W.
Haas.  (Committees: 4, 5)
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Thomas W. Haas, Director and
Corporate Officer, The William Penn
Foundation; pilot and flight instruc-
tor.  Mr. Haas, 48, has been a director
since 1999.  He is a cousin of David
W. Haas.  (Committees: 3, 4)

James A. Henderson, formerly
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and Director, Cummins Engine
Company, Inc., 1995 until his retire-
ment in 1999.  Mr. Henderson, 69,
has been a director since 1989.  Mr.
Henderson also is a director of
International Paper Company;
Nanophase Technologies
Corporation; Ryerson Tull, Inc.; and
SBC Communications, Inc.
(Committees: 3 (Chair), 4)

Richard L. Keyser, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer,
W.W. Grainger, Inc., 1997 to present.
Mr. Keyser, 61, has been a director
since 1999.  Mr. Keyser also is a direc-
tor of The Principal Financial Group.
(Committees: 2, 3, 4)

John H. McArthur, Senior Advisor to
the President, World Bank Group,
1996 to present; Dean Emeritus,
Harvard Business School, Harvard
University, 1995 to present; previously,
Dean, Harvard Business School,
Harvard University, retired 1995.  Mr.
McArthur, 70, has been a director
since 1977.  Mr. McArthur also is a
director of AES Corporation; BCE,
Inc.; BCE Emergis; Bell Canada;
Cabot Corporation; GlaxoSmithKline
Plc.; HCA Inc.; Koc Holdings, A.S.;
and Telsat Canada.  (Committees: 4, 5
(Chair)).  Mr. McArthur has attained
the age of 70 and in accordance with
Rohm and Haas Company’s
Corporate Governance Policies and
Guidelines, will not stand for re-elec-
tion to the Board. 

Jorge P. Montoya, President, Global
Snacks & Beverage, The Procter and
Gamble Company and President,
Procter and Gamble Latin America,

1999 to present; previously,
Executive Vice President and
President for Latin America, Procter
and Gamble Company, 1995 to 1999.
Mr. Montoya, 57, has been a director
since 1996.  (Committees: 3, 4)

Sandra O. Moose, President,
Strategic Advisory Services, 2004; for-
merly Senior Vice President and
Director, The Boston Consulting
Group, Inc., 1989 until her retire-
ment in 2003.  Dr. Moose, 62, has
been a director since 1981.  Dr.
Moose also is a director of CDC-
NVEST Funds and Verizon
Communications.  (Committees: 1,
2, 4 (Chair))

Gilbert S. Omenn, Professor of
Internal Medicine, Human Genetics
and Public Health, University of
Michigan, 2002 to present; previous-
ly, Executive Vice President for
Medical Affairs, University of
Michigan, and Chief Executive
Officer, The University of Michigan
Health System, 1997 to 2002.  Dr.
Omenn, 62, has been a director since
1987.  Dr. Omenn also is a director of
Amgen, Inc. (Committees: 4, 5)

Ronaldo H. Schmitz, Member of the
Executive Board, Deutsche Bank AG,
1991 until retirement in 2000.  Dr.
Schmitz, 65, has been a director
since 1992.  Dr. Schmitz also is a
director of Cabot Corporation;
GlaxoSmithKline Plc.; and the Legal
and General Group Plc.
(Committees: 1 (Chair), 4)

Marna C. Whittington, President and
Chief Executive Officer, Nicholas-
Applegate Capital Management,
2001 to present, and Chief
Operating Officer, Allianz Dresdner
Asset Management, 2002 to present;
formerly, Chief Operating Officer,
Morgan Stanley Investment
Management, 1996 until her retire-
ment in 2001.  Dr. Whittington, 56,
has been a director since 1989.  Dr.

Whittington also is a director of
Federated Department Stores.
(Committees: 1, 2, 4)

Committees:
1. Audit
2. Executive
3. Executive Compensation
4. Nominating
5. Sustainable Development

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our executive officers along with
their present position, offices held
and activities during the past five
years, are presented below.  All offi-
cers normally are elected annually
and serve at the pleasure of the
Board of Directors.  

Alan E. Barton, 48, Vice-President,
Business Group Director, Coatings,
Business Unit Director, Architectural
Functional Coatings, 2001 to pres-
ent; Vice-President, Business Unit
Director, Coatings, Performance
Polymers, 1999 to 2001; Worldwide
Business Director, Polymers and
Resins, 1997 to 1999; Business
Manager, North America, and
Worldwide Business Director,
Industrial Coatings, 1996 to 1997.

Pierre R. Brondeau, 46, Vice-
President, Business Group Executive,
Electronic Materials; President and
Chief Executive Officer, Rohm and
Haas Electronic Materials LLC and
Regional Director, Europe, 2003 to
present; Vice-President, Business
Group Director, Electronic Materials,
President and Chief Executive
Officer, Shipley Company, LLC, 1999
to 2003; President and Chief
Operating Officer, Shipley Company,
LLC, 1998 to 1999; Vice-President,
Operations and Technology, Shipley
Company, LLC, 1997; Director,
Research, Sales and Marketing,
Shipley Company, LLC, 1995 to 1996.
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Jacques M. Croisetiere, 50, Vice-
President and Chief Financial Officer,
2003 to present; Vice-President,
Business Unit Director, Inorganic
Specialty Solutions, Regional
Director, European, 2001 to 2003,
Vice-President, Business Unit
Director, Ion Exchange Resins, 1999
to 2001.  Previously, Vice-President
and General Manager, Plastics
Additives, Biocides and Sealants,
Morton International, Inc.,1998 to
1999; Vice-President, Finance and
Administration, Automotive Safety
Product Division, Morton
International, Inc., 1996 to 1998.

J. Michael Fitzpatrick, 57, President,
Chief Operating Officer and
Director, 1999 to present; Vice-
President, Chief Technology Officer,
1996 to 1998.

Joseph J. Forish, 51, Vice-President,
Director of Human Resources, 1999
to present.  Previously, Vice-President
of Human Resources for a division of
Bristol-Myers Squibb Corporation,
1989 to 1999.

Raj L. Gupta, 58, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Director, 1999
to present; Vice-Chairman, 1999;
Vice-President and Regional Director,
Asia-Pacific Region, 1993-1998. 

Robert A. Lonergan, 58, Vice-
President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary, 2002 to present;
Vice-President and General Counsel,
1999 to present.   Previously, Senior
Vice-President, General Counsel and
Secretary, Pegasus Gold, Inc., 1995-
1999. 

Item 11.  Executive
Compensation

The information called for by Item
11 of this Form 10-K report for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
has been omitted since the Company
will file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission a definitive
Proxy Statement pursuant to
Regulation 14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The security ownership of certain ben-
eficial owners and management is
incorporated in this Form 10-K by ref-
erence to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2003:

Plan category Number of securities to be Weighted-average exercise Number of securities
issued upon exercise of price of outstanding remaining available for
outstanding options, warrants options, warrants future issuance under
and rights and rights equity compensation plans

(excluding securities reflected
in column (a))

(in thousands) (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders 11,456 $34.18 8,171
Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders (1) 232 - 596
Total 11,688 $34.18 8,767

(1) Includes shares available for issuance under:  the 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Plan and the Rohm and Haas Company Non-
Qualified Savings Plan.  The material features of these plans are described in Note 23:  Stock Compensation Plans of the accompanying
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Rohm and Haas Company has no related party transactions as defined by Item 404 of Regulation S-K.  

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information on principal accountant fees and services is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to the defin-
itive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

PART  IV
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements

The financial statements as set forth under Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K are incorporated herein

2. Financial Statement Schedule

The following supplementary financial information is filed in this Form 10-K:

Page

Financial Statement Schedule

II - Valuation and qualifying accounts for the years
2003, 2002 and 2001 90

The schedules not included herein are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is pre-
sented in the financial statements or related notes.

(b) Reports on 8-K

On October 29, 2003, we furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K that included a press release issued on October
29, 2003, announcing the third quarter 2003 results.
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER DESCRIPTION

3.01 Certificate of Incorporation of Rohm and Haas Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to Rohm and
Haas Company's report on Form 10-K/A filed March 29, 2001 (the "2000 10-K/A"))

3.02 Bylaws of Rohm and Haas Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3 to Rohm and Haas Company's
report on Form 10-Q filed May 5, 2002)

4.01 Description of Rohm and Haas Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Item 5 of Rohm and Haas
Company's report on Form 10-Q filed September 30, 1996)

4.02 Indenture, dated as of June 1, 1990, between Morton International, Inc. and Continental Bank, National
Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4(c) to Morton International, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed May 9, 1990)

4.03 Indenture, dated as of May 1, 1992, between Rohm and Haas Company and Wachovia Bank, N.A., successor in
interest to CoreStates Bank, N.A. (formerly, The Philadelphia National Bank), as Trustee (incorporated by ref-
erence from Exhibit 4 to Rohm and Haas Company's report on Form 10-K filed March 29, 1993)

4.04 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 28, 1997, among Morton International, Inc., New Morton
International, Inc., and First Trust, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.01 to New Morton International, Inc.'s current report on Form 8-K dated May 2, 1997)

4.05 Indenture, dated as of July 1, 1999, between Rohm and Haas Company and Chase Manhattan Trust Company,
National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Rohm and Haas Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed July 30, 1999)

4.06 Rights Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2000, between Rohm and Haas Company and EquiServe Trust
Company, N.A., as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4 to Rohm and Haas Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A dated October 26, 2000)

4.07 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Rohm and Haas Company dated
October 31, 2000 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4 to the 2000 10-K/A)

10.01* 1997 Non-Employee Director’s Stock Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to Rohm and Haas
Company's report on Form 10-K filed March 21, 1997)

10.02* Amended and Restated Rohm and Haas Stock Plan (incorporated by reference from Appendix C to Rohm and
Haas Company's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 26, 2001)

10.03* Form of Continuity Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2001, between Rohm and Haas Company and key executives
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 to Rohm and Haas Company's report on Form 10-Q filed August
14, 2001)

10.04* Rohm and Haas Company Non-Qualified Savings Plan, as Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2003
10.05* 2000 Rohm and Haas Company Long-Term Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from Annex A to Rohm and

Haas Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 27, 2000)
12.01 Statements regarding Computation of Ratios of Rohm and Haas Company
21.01 Subsidiaries of Rohm and Haas Company
23.01 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
31.01 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
31.02 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
32.01 Certification furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.  The exhibit attached to this Form 10-K shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) or otherwise subject to liability under that sec-
tion, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amend-
ed, or the Exchange Act, except as expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

*Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii) of Regulation S-K. 

(c)  Exhibit Listing
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Stock Exchange Listing
Rohm and Haas stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “ROH.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43010
Providence, RI 02940-3010

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
Rohm and Haas Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on May 3, 2004 at the Chemical Heritage
Foundation, 315 Chestnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19106.  Formal notice of the meeting, the proxy statement and
form of proxy will be mailed to current shareholders on or about March 22, 2004.

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Two Commerce Square
2001 Market Street
Suite 1700
Philadelphia, PA  USA  19103
(267) 330-3000
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rohm and Haas Company has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

/s/   Jacques M. Croisetiere
Jacques M. Croisetiere

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

March 8, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on March 8, 2004
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature and Title Signature and Title

/s/   Raj L. Gupta /s/   Richard L. Keyser
Raj L. Gupta Richard L. Keyser

Director, Chairman of the Board and Director
Chief Executive Officer

/s/   William J. Avery /s/   John H. McArthur 
William J. Avery John H. McArthur

Director Director

/s/   J. Michael Fitzpatrick /s/   Jorge P. Montoya 
J. Michael Fitzpatrick Jorge P. Montoya

Director Director

/s/   Earl G. Graves /s/   Sandra O. Moose 
Earl G. Graves Sandra O. Moose 

Director Director

/s/   David W. Haas /s/   Gilbert S. Omenn 
David W. Haas Gilbert S. Omenn

Director Director

/s/   Thomas W. Haas /s/   Ronaldo H. Schmitz 
Thomas W. Haas Ronaldo H. Schmitz

Director Director

/s/   James A. Henderson /s/   Marna C. Whittington 
James A. Henderson Marna C. Whittington

Director Director
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Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rohm and Haas Company:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 8 present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Rohm and Haas Company and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2003 and December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.  In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index under
Item 15(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with
the related consolidated financial statements.  These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.  We conducted our audits of these statements
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe our audits provide a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1, the Company adopted a new financial accounting standard for goodwill during 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

March 3, 2004 
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Rohm and Haas Company and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Net sales $ 6,421 $ 5,727 $ 5,666 
Cost of goods sold 4,506 3,910 4,008 

Gross profit 1,915 1,817 1,658 
Selling and administrative expense 891 879 861 
Research and development expense 238 260 230 
Interest expense 126 132 182 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 67 69 156 
Provision for restructuring and asset impairments 196 177 320 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 4 12 2 
Share of affiliate earnings, net 15 15 12 
Other income, net 7 5 15 

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
and cumulative effect of accounting change 415 308 (66)

Income taxes 127 98 5 
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change $ 288 $ 210 $ (71)

Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued line of business, net of $25 of income
taxes in 2001 - - 40 

Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued line of business, net 
of $5, $3 and $251 of income taxes in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively - (7) 428 

Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 288 $ 203 $ 397 

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of $3, $57 and $1 
of income taxes in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively (8) (773) (2)

Net earnings (loss) $ 280 $ (570) $ 395 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (in dollars):
From continuing operations $ 1.30 $ 0.95 $ (0.32)
From discontinued operations - (0.03) 2.12 
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.04) (3.50) (0.01)

Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.26 $ (2.58) $ 1.79 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (in dollars):
From continuing operations $ 1.30 $ 0.95 $ (0.32)
From discontinued operations - (0.03) 2.12 
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.04) (3.49) (0.01)

Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.26 $ (2.57) $ 1.79 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic: 221.5 220.9 220.2 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted: 222.4 221.9 220.2 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



51.

Rohm and Haas Company and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss) $ 280 $ (570) $ 395 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Income from discontinued line of business, net of income taxes - - (40)
(Gain) loss on disposal of discontinued line of business, net of income taxes - 7 (428)
Gain on disposal of assets (5) - - 
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts 20 16 25 
Provision for restructuring and asset impairments 196 177 320 
Depreciation 411 388 406 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 67 69 156 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes 8 773 2 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and divestitures:
(Decrease) in deferred income taxes (59) (57) (87)
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (104) 52 97 
(Increase) decrease in inventories (17) (23) 141 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (39) 62 (29)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 64 74 (249)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 78 73 (38)
Other, net 99 (66) (11)

Net cash provided by continuing operations 999 975 660 
Net cash provided by discontinued operations - - 44 
Net cash provided by operating activities 999 975 704 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisitions of businesses and affiliates (21) (149) (144)
Proceeds from divested businesses 23 23 834 
Proceeds from the sale of land, buildings and equipment 18 - 5 
Additions to land, buildings and equipment (339) (407) (401)
Payments for/proceeds from hedge of net investment in foreign subsidiaries (49) (22) 18 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (368) (555) 312 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - 156 - 
Repayments of long-term debt (507) (152) (159)
Net change in short-term borrowings (42) (34) (675)
Purchases of treasury shares (1) (1) (1)
Payment of dividends (191) (181) (176)
Other, net 11 (5) (5)

Net cash used by financing activities (730) (217) (1,016)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (99) 203 - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 295 92 92 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 196 $ 295 $ 92 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 143 $ 139 $ 199 
Income taxes, net of refunds received 85 135 239 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Rohm and Haas Company and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2003 2002

(in millions, except share data)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 196 $ 295 
Receivables, net 1,309 1,160 
Inventories 821 765 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 201 201 

Total current assets 2,527 2,421 

Land, buildings and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 2,966 2,954 
Investments in and advances to affiliates 161 170 
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 1,593 1,617 
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 1,734 1,861 
Other assets 464 561 

Total Assets $ 9,445 $ 9,584 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities 
Short-term obligations $ 107 $ 180 
Trade and other payables 609 481 
Accrued liabilities 781 710 
Income taxes payable 300 277 

Total current liabilities  1,797 1,648 

Long-term debt 2,468 2,872 
Employee benefits 635 651 
Deferred income taxes 937 1,065 
Other liabilities  238 218 

Total Liabilities  6,075 6,454 

Minority interest 13 11 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 25)

Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock; par value- $1.00; authorized- 25,000,000 shares;

issued- no shares - - 
Common stock; par value- $2.50; authorized- 400,000,000 shares;

issued- 242,078,367 shares 605 605 
Additional paid-in capital 2,002 1,971 
Retained earnings 1,087 994 

3,694 3,570 
Treasury stock at cost (2003- 19,624,911 shares; 

2002- 20,946,818 shares) (185) (200)
ESOP shares (2003- 10,464,850; 2002- 11,100,462) (100) (107)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (52) (144)

Total Stockholders' Equity 3,357 3,119 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 9,445 $ 9,584 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Rohm and Haas Company and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Accumulated 
Additional Other Total Total 

(in millions, except per share Common Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders' Comprehensive 
amounts) Stock Capital Earnings Stock ESOP Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)

2001
Balance January 1, 2001 $ 605 $ 1,956 $ 1,518 $ 214 $ 119 $ (93) $ 3,653 
Net earnings 395 $ 395 
Transition adjustment as of January 1, 2001 (*) 6 6 
Current period changes in fair value (*) (2) (2)
Reclassification to earnings, net (*) (5) (5)
Cumulative translation adjustment (46) (46)
Minimum pension liability, net of income taxes (6) (6)
Total comprehensive income $ 342 
Common dividends ($.80 per share) (176)
Tax benefit on ESOP 5 
Common stock issued:

Under bonus plan 5 (6)
From ESOP (6 )

Balance December 31, 2001 $ 605 $ 1,961 $ 1,742 $ 208 $ 113 $ (146) $ 3,841 
2002
Net loss (570) $ (570)
Current period changes in fair value (*) 5 5 
Reclassification to earnings, net (*) (6) (6)
Cumulative translation adjustment 53 53 
Minimum pension liability, net of income taxes (50) (50)
Total comprehensive loss $ (568)
Common dividends ($.82 per share) (181)
Tax benefit on ESOP 3 
Common stock issued:

Under bonus plan 10 (8)
From ESOP (6 )

Balance December 31, 2002 $ 605 $ 1,971 $ 994 $ 200 $ 107 $ (144) $ 3,119 
2003
Net earnings 280 $ 280 
Current period changes in fair value (*) (5) (5)
Reclassification to earnings, net (*) 4 4 
Cumulative translation adjustment 80 80 
Minimum pension liability, net of income taxes 13 13 
Total comprehensive income $ 372 
Common dividends ($.86 per share) (191)
Tax benefit on ESOP 4 
Common stock issued:

Under bonus plan 31 (15)
From ESOP (7 )

Balance December 31, 2003 $ 605 $ 2,002 $ 1,087 $ 185 $ 100 $ (52 ) $ 3,357 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
* See Note 5 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for changes within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), due to the use of derivative and

non-derivative instruments qualifying as hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities."
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1:  Organization and
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Nature of Business
Rohm and Haas Company was incor-
porated in 1917 under the laws of the
State of Delaware.  Our shares are
traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “ROH.”
We are a leading specialty materials
company that leverages science and
technology in many different forms
to design materials and processes
that enable the products of our cus-
tomers to work.  We serve many dif-
ferent market places, the largest of
which include:  construction and
building products; electronics;
household products and personal
care; packaging; food and retail; and
automotive.  To serve these markets,
we operate over 100 manufacturing
and 30 research facilities in 27 coun-
tries.  We have approximately 17,300
employees working for us worldwide. 

Use of Estimates  
Our financial statements are pre-
pared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America
(GAAP).  In accordance with GAAP,
we are required to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabili-
ties, revenues and expenses and the
disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities in our financial statements
and accompanying notes.  Actual
results could differ from these esti-
mates if different assumptions are
made or if different conditions exist.

Principles of Consolidation  
Our consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of our
company and subsidiaries.  We con-
solidate all entities in which we have
a controlling ownership interest.  We
have no controlling ownership in sig-
nificant entities that are not consoli-

dated.  We have no significant con-
tractual requirements to fund losses
of unconsolidated entities.  

We use the equity method to account
for our investments in companies in
which we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating
and financial policies, generally 20-
50% owned.  Accordingly, our con-
solidated net earnings or loss include
our share of the net earnings or loss
of these companies.  

We account for our investments in
other companies that we do not con-
trol and for which we do not have the
ability to exercise significant influ-
ence, which is generally less than
20%, under the cost method.  In
accordance with the cost method,
the assets are recorded at cost or fair
value, as appropriate.  All significant
intercompany accounts, transactions
and unrealized profits and losses are
eliminated appropriately in consoli-
dation from our financial results. 

Foreign Currency Translation   
We translate foreign currency
amounts into U.S. dollars in accor-
dance with GAAP.  The majority of
our operating subsidiaries in regions
other than Latin America use the
local currency as their functional cur-
rency.  We translate the assets and lia-
bilities of those entities into U.S. dol-
lars using the appropriate exchange
rates.  We translate revenues and
expenses using the average exchange
rates for the reporting period.
Translation gains and losses are
recorded in accumulated other com-
prehensive income or loss, which is a
separate component of stockholders’
equity. 

For entities that continue to use the
U.S. dollar as their functional cur-
rency, we translate land, buildings
and equipment, accumulated depre-
ciation, inventories, goodwill and
intangibles, accumulated amortiza-
tion and minority interest at their
respective historical rates of
exchange.  We translate all other

assets and liabilities using the appro-
priate exchange rates at the end of
period.  Revenue, cost of goods sold
and operating expenses other than
depreciation and amortization are
translated using the average rates of
exchange for the reporting period.
Foreign exchange gains and losses,
including recognition of open for-
eign exchange contracts, are charged
or credited to income.

Revenue Recognition  
We recognize revenue when the
earnings process is complete.  This
occurs when products are shipped to
the customer in accordance with the
terms of the agreement, title and risk
of loss have been transferred, col-
lectibility is probable and pricing is
fixed or determinable.  Revenues
from product sales are recorded net
of applicable allowances.  The excep-
tion to this practice is for sales made
under supplier-owned and managed
inventory (SOMI) arrangements.
We recognize revenue sold under
SOMI arrangements when usage of
inventory is reported by the cus-
tomer, generally on a weekly or
monthly basis.  

Customer payments received in
advance are recorded as deferred
revenue and recognized into income
upon completion of the earnings
process.

We account for cash sales incentives
as a reduction to revenue.  Non-cash
sales incentives, such as product sam-
ples are recorded as a charge to cost
of goods sold at the time revenue is
recorded.

Amounts billed to customers for
shipping and handling fees are
included in net sales and costs
incurred by the company for the
delivery of goods are classified as cost
of goods sold in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share  
In accordance with GAAP, we use the
weighted-average number of shares
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outstanding to calculate basic earn-
ings (loss) per share.  Diluted earn-
ings (loss) per share includes the
dilutive effect of stock-based com-
pensation, such as stock options and
restricted stock.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents include
cash, time deposits and readily mar-
ketable securities with original matu-
rities of three months or less.

Inventories  
Our inventories are stated at the
lower of cost or market.  Cost of
domestic inventory is determined by
the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

Land, Buildings and Equipment and
Accumulated Depreciation  
The value of our land, buildings and
equipment is carried at cost.  These
assets are depreciated over their esti-
mated useful lives on straight-line
and accelerated methods.
Maintenance and repair costs for
these assets are charged to earnings
as incurred.  Replacements and bet-
terment costs are capitalized.  The
cost and related accumulated depre-
ciation of our assets are removed
from the accounting records when
they are retired or disposed.

Capitalized Software
We capitalize certain costs, such as
software coding, installation and test-
ing, that are incurred to purchase or
create and implement internal use
computer software in accordance
with Statement of Position 98-1,
"Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use."  The
majority of our capitalized software
relates to the implementation of our
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
system.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets
We consider this to be one of the critical
accounting estimates used in the prepara-

tion of our consolidated financial state-
ments.  We believe the current assump-
tions and other considerations used to
value goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-
gible assets to be appropriate.  However, if
actual experience differs from the assump-
tions and considerations used in our
analysis, the resulting change could have
a material adverse impact on the consoli-
dated results of operations and statement
of position.

Prior to 2002, goodwill was amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over
periods not greater than 40 years.
Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.”  In accordance
with this statement, as of the effective
date we ceased amortization of good-
will and indefinite-lived intangibles
and reclassified certain intangible
assets, such as workforce, to goodwill.
At a minimum, we review the carry-
ing value of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets annually for
impairment.  If the carrying value
cannot support the estimated future
cash flows, it is written down to the
appropriate fair value.

As a result of our impairment testing
in connection with the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, a charge of $830 mil-
lion ($773 million after-tax) was
reflected in 2002.  In 2003, the annu-
al impairment review was completed
as of May 31, 2003, without any addi-
tional impairments identified.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
We consider this to be one of the critical
accounting estimates used in the prepara-
tion of our consolidated financial state-
ments.  We believe the current assumptions
and other considerations used to evaluate
the carrying value of long-lived assets to be
appropriate.  However, if actual experience
differs from the assumptions and consider-
ations used in estimating our reserves, the
resulting change could have a material
adverse impact on the consolidated results
of operations and statement of position.

Our long-lived assets include land,
buildings, equipment, long-term
investments, goodwill, indefinite-lived
intangible assets and other intangible
assets.  Long-lived assets, other than
investments, goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets, are depreciat-
ed over their estimated useful lives,
and are reviewed for impairment
whenever changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of the asset
may not be recoverable.  Such cir-
cumstances would include items, such
as, a significant decrease in the mar-
ket price of a long-lived asset, a signif-
icant adverse change in the manner
the asset is being used or planned to
be used or in its physical condition or
a history of operating or cash flow
losses associated with the use of the
asset.  In addition, changes in the
expected useful life of these long-lived
assets may also be an impairment indi-
cator.  When such events or changes
occur, we estimate the fair value of the
asset primarily from future cash flows
expected to result from the use and, if
applicable, the eventual disposition of
the assets and compare that to the car-
rying value of the asset.  If the carry-
ing value is greater than the fair value,
an impairment loss is recorded.  In
some circumstances the carrying
value may be appropriate; however,
the event that triggered the review of
the asset may indicate a revision to the
service life of the asset.  In such cases,
we will accelerate depreciation to
match the revised useful life of the
asset.

The key variables that we must esti-
mate include assumptions regarding
sales volume, selling prices, raw
material prices, labor and other ben-
efit costs, capital additions and other
economic factors.  These variables
require significant management
judgment and include inherent
uncertainties since they are forecast-
ing future events.  If such assets are
considered impaired, an impairment
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loss is recognized equal to the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
value exceeds its fair value.

The fair values of our long-term
investments are dependent on the
financial performance and solvency
of the entities in which we invest, as
well as volatility inherent in their
external markets.  In assessing poten-
tial impairment for these invest-
ments, we will consider these factors
as well as the forecasted financial per-
formance of the investment entities.
If these forecasts are not met, we may
have to record impairment charges. 

Research and Development
We expense all research and devel-
opment costs as incurred.

Litigation and Environmental
Contingencies and Reserves  
We consider this to be one of the critical
accounting estimates used in the prepara-
tion of our consolidated financial state-
ments.  We believe the current assump-
tions and other considerations used to
value legal and environmental  reserves
to be appropriate.  However, if actual
experience differs from the assumptions
and considerations used in estimating
our reserves, the resulting change could
have a material adverse impact on the
consolidated results of operations and
statement of position.

We are involved in litigation in the
ordinary course of business including
personal injury, property damage and
environmental litigation.
Additionally, we are involved in envi-
ronmental remediation and spend
significant amounts for both compa-
ny-owned and third party locations.
We are required to assess these mat-
ters to determine if a liability exists.  If
we believe that a liability is probable
and if the loss can be reasonably esti-
mated, we will record a liability on an
undiscounted basis.  These estimates

involve judgments we make after con-
sidering a broad range of informa-
tion, including the claims, demands,
settlement offers received from a gov-
ernmental authority or private party,
estimates performed by independent
third parties, identification of other
responsible parties and an assessment
of their ability to contribute and our
prior experience.  If we believe that
no best estimate exists, we accrue the
minimum in a range of possible loss-
es.  We review these judgments on a
quarterly basis and revise our accruals
and disclosures as new facts become
available.  The accruals we record are
estimates and may differ materially
from the ultimate outcome if our
judgment and estimates turn out to
be inaccurate. 

Income Taxes  
We consider this to be one of the critical
accounting estimates used in the prepara-
tion of our consolidated financial state-
ments.  We believe the current assump-
tions and other considerations used to
determine our current year and deferred
income tax provisions to be appropriate.
However, if actual experience differs from
the assumptions and considerations used,
the resulting change could have a materi-
al adverse impact on the consolidated
results of operations and statement of
position.

We use the asset and liability method
of accounting for income taxes.
Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized
for the estimated future conse-
quences of temporary differences
between the financial statement car-
rying value of assets and liabilities
and their values as measured by tax
laws.  Valuation allowances are
recorded to reduce deferred tax
assets when it is more likely than not
that a tax benefit will not be realized.  

Treasury Stock
Treasury stock consists of shares of
Rohm and Haas stock that have been
issued, but subsequently reacquired.
We account for treasury stock pur-
chases under the cost method.  In
accordance with the cost method, we
account for the entire cost of acquir-
ing shares of our stock as treasury
stock, which is a contra equity
account.  When these shares are reis-
sued, we use a LIFO method for
determining cost.  Proceeds in excess
of cost are credited to additional
paid-in capital.

Stock-Based Compensation  
We have various stock-based compen-
sation plans for directors, executives
and employees, which are comprised
primarily of restricted stock, restrict-
ed stock units and stock option
grants.  Prior to 2003, we accounted
for these plans under APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees.”  Accordingly, no com-
pensation expense was recognized
prior to 2003 for stock options.

Effective January 1, 2003, we
prospectively adopted the fair value
method of recording stock-based
compensation as defined in SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.”  As a result,
we began to expense the fair value of
stock options awarded to employees
after January 1, 2003.  The fair value
is calculated using the Black-Scholes
pricing model as of the grant date
and is recorded as compensation
expense over the appropriate vesting
period, which is typically three years.
We also calculate and record the fair
value of our restricted stock awards
in accordance with SFAS No. 123.
Compensation expense is recognized
over the vesting period, which is typi-
cally five years.
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(in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Net earnings (loss), as reported $  280  $(570) $   395

Add:  Stock-based employee compensation 
expense included in reported net earnings 
(loss), after-tax 7 2 2
Deduct:  Total stock-based compensation 
expense determined under the fair value 
based method for all awards, net of related 
tax effects (26) (23) (11)
Pro forma net earnings (loss) $  261   $ (591) $   386

Net earnings (loss) per share:
Basic, as reported $  1.26  $(2.58) $ 1.79
Basic, pro forma $  1.18  $(2.68) $ 1.75

Diluted, as reported $  1.26  $(2.57) $ 1.79
Diluted, pro forma $  1.17  $(2.66) $ 1.75

The disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation – Transition
and Disclosure,” provide that pro
forma net earnings (loss) and net
earnings (loss) per share be present-
ed as if the fair value based method
had been applied to all awards grant-

ed to employees, not just awards
granted after the date of adoption.
Since we chose the prospective
method of expensing stock options,
the actual stock-based compensation
expense recorded in 2003 is less than
the amount calculated for this pro
forma disclosure requirement.  

hedges are charged to earnings.

Changes in the fair values are imme-
diately recorded in current period
earnings if derivative instruments
were not designated as hedges or fail
to meet the criteria as effective
hedges. 

Cash flows resulting from our hedg-
ing activities are reported under
operating activities in our
Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows, except for cash flows from
derivatives hedges of net investments
in foreign subsidiaries, which are
reported separately under investing
activities.  

Reclassifications  
Certain reclassifications have been
made to prior year amounts to conform
with the current year presentation.

Note 2: Acquisitions and
Dispositions of Assets

We completed the following signifi-
cant divestiture activity in 2003:
In March 2003, we completed the
sale of our dry film photoresist busi-
ness to Eternal Chemical Company.
As a result of this sale, we will close
our North American and European
dry film photoresist manufacturing
operations.  Eternal Chemical
Company will manufacture its newly
expanded dry film photoresist prod-
uct line under the Eternal company
label.  As part of the divestiture, we
have entered into an agreement to
distribute the entire Eternal dry film
photoresist product line in North
America and Europe, as well as to
our existing customers in Asia.  

We completed the following signifi-
cant acquisitions in 2002:
In September 2002, we acquired cer-
tain assets and liabilities of Ferro
Corporation’s European powder coat-
ings business for approximately $60

Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities 
We use derivative and non-derivative
instruments to manage market risk
arising out of changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices. These instru-
ments are accounted for under SFAS
No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,"
as amended, which we adopted
January 1, 2001.  

The accounting standards require
that all derivative instruments be
reported on the balance sheet at
their fair values.  For derivative
instruments designated as fair value
hedges, changes in the fair value of
the derivative instruments generally
offset the changes in fair value of the
hedged items in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.  For deriv-
ative instruments designated as cash
flow hedges to reduce the variability

of future cash flows related to fore-
casted transactions, the effective por-
tions of hedges are recorded in accu-
mulated other comprehensive
income (loss) until the hedged items
are realized and recorded in earn-
ings.  When cash flow hedges are ter-
minated early but the underlying
hedged forecast transactions are like-
ly to occur, related gains or losses are
deferred in accumulated other com-
prehensive income until the hedged
items occur.  Any ineffective portions
of the hedges are recognized in cur-
rent period earnings. 

Changes in the value of derivative or
non-derivative instruments, which are
designated as, and meet all of the cri-
teria for, hedges of net investments
are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) based
on changes measured on a spot-to-
spot basis of exchange rates.
Ineffective portions of net investment
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Note 3: Provision for Restructuring and Asset Impairments

million.  Ferro Corporation’s powder
coatings business produces materials
used mostly by manufacturers of metal
products to finish materials like win-
dow frames and automotive wheels.   

In December 2002, we acquired the
global plastics additives business of
our joint venture partner, Kureha
Chemical for approximately $57 mil-
lion.  Included in the acquisition is
the commercial operations through-
out the Asia-Pacific region and other
areas along with the manufacturing
facilities and laboratories in
Singapore, as well as technical serv-
ice laboratories in Beijing.
Additionally, we gained full control
of manufacturing sites in Singapore
and Grangemouth, Scotland, which
were sites previously part of the joint
venture.  The acquisition effectively
terminated our joint ventures with
Kureha Chemical.  

We completed the following signifi-
cant acquisitions and divestitures in
2001:
In 2001, we increased our ownership
in Rodel from 90% to 99% at an
additional cost of approximately $80
million.  In the second quarter of
2000, we increased our ownership
from 48% to approximately 90% at a
cost of approximately $200 million.
The financial statements reflect allo-
cations of the purchase price
amounts based on estimated fair val-
ues, and resulted in acquired good-
will of $110 million, which, until the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, was amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over 30
years.  Prior to March 31, 2000, the
investment had been accounted for
under the equity method with our
share of earnings reported as equity
in affiliates.  Since the second quar-
ter of 2000, when we significantly
increased  our ownership interest, we
have fully consolidated the results of
Rodel’s operations.  

On June 1, 2001, we completed the
sale of our Agricultural Chemicals

business (Ag) to DAS, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Dow
Chemical Company, for approxi-
mately $1 billion, subject to a pur-
chase price adjustment.  We record-
ed a gain on the sale in the amount
of $679 million pre-tax ($428 million
or $1.94 per share, after-tax) in
2001.  In 2002, we reduced this gain
by approximately $7 million after-tax
due to additional working capital
adjustments.  In February 2003, all
remaining working capital disputes
with DAS were resolved through
binding arbitration.  No additional
adjustment to the gain is expected.
Under the terms of the agreement,
the divestiture included fungicides,

insecticides, herbicides, trademarks
and license to all agricultural uses of
the Rohm and Haas biotechnology
assets, as well as the agricultural busi-
ness-related manufacturing sites
located in Brazil, Colombia, France
and Italy, our share of the Nantong,
China joint venture and our assets in
Muscatine, Iowa.  

The operating results of Ag for 2001
have been reported separately as dis-
continued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of
Operations.  

Net sales and income from discontin-
ued operations are as follows:

(in millions) 2001

Net sales $  230
Operating income 65
Income tax expense 25
Income from discontinued operations 40

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Severance and employee benefits $ 96 $ 17 $ 61
Other, including contract lease 
termination penalties 4 2 11
Asset impairments, net of gains 
on sales 96 158 248
Amount charged to earnings $ 196 $ 177 $ 320

2003
Severance and Employee Benefits
In 2003, we recognized $96 million
of severance and associated employ-
ee benefit expense, of which $82 mil-
lion, affecting 1,460 positions in total
pertained to current year initiatives.
The 2003 initiatives included:  $22
million pertaining to a European
restructuring initiative which com-
menced in the second quarter; $25
million associated with the elimina-
tion of positions primarily in our

North American support services,
such as logistics, human resources,
procurement and information tech-
nology announced in the fourth
quarter; and $35 million associated
with several smaller reduction in
force efforts in all of our businesses
throughout the year.  In most cases,
separated employees were offered
early termination benefits.  The
charge is based on actual amounts
paid to employees as well as amounts
expected to be paid upon termina-
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Asset Impairments
In 2003, we recognized $96 million,
net of asset impairment charges.  Of
the total, $116 million was recog-
nized as asset impairment charges
recorded to adjust the carrying value
of certain assets to their fair value,
which was calculated using cash flow
analyses. The largest impairment of
approximately $80 million of finite-
lived intangible assets related to the
Lamineer product line of the Powder
Coatings business in the Coatings
segment.   The remaining charge
consisted primarily of $15 million of
finite-lived intangible assets and $7
million of net fixed assets associated
with our Specialty Magnesia product
line in the Performance Chemicals
segment, which was acquired from
Morton, and $14 million of other
building and equipment impair-
ments.  Gains on sales of previously

impaired assets offset the total
impairment charge by $20 million.

2002
Restructuring Expense
In 2002, we recognized $17 million
of severance and associated employ-
ee benefit expense, of which $31 mil-
lion pertained to initiatives launched
in 2002, affecting 410 positions in
total.  These initiatives include:   $11
million primarily for the closure of
two European plants and smaller
restructuring initiatives undertaken
in several of our businesses.  In addi-
tion, $20 million was associated with
a general reduction in force of over
200 positions throughout various
functions of our organization.  In
most cases, separated employees
were offered early termination bene-
fits.  The charge was based on actual
amounts paid to employees as well as

amounts expected to be paid upon
termination.  Offsetting the 2002
charge was $14 million of income
resulting from pension settlement
gains associated with individuals ter-
minated from our pension plans and
changes to estimates, both of which
were in connection with our 2001
repositioning. 

As of December 31, 2003, 386 posi-
tions of the 410 identified have been
eliminated.  All initiatives were mate-
rially complete, with a majority of
December separation expenses to be
settled in January, 2004.  The balance
at December 31, 2003, recorded for
severance and employee benefits,
was included in accrued liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  A
summary of the 2002 initiatives is
presented below:   

tion.  All of these initiatives were
designed to address business and
infrastructure inefficiencies, reduce
redundant costs and reposition our
workforce to capitalize on the
enhancements made possible by the
implementation of our Enterprise
Resource Planning system.  

Included in the $96 million charge,
is $14 million of expense, comprised
of a $2 million reversal of charges
recorded in 2003 for current year ini-

tiatives and $16 million of expense
pertaining to prior year initiatives.
Changes in estimates are recorded as
actual costs are compared to original
estimates and reserves are adjusted
as expenses are finalized.  The
changes to prior year initiatives most-
ly include settlement losses on pen-
sion obligations as individual pen-
sion liabilities were settled from the
pension plan.  We recognize pension
settlement gains or losses at the time
an employee’s individual liability is
settled within the pension plan. 

As of December 31, 2003, 337 posi-
tions of the 1,460 identified have
been eliminated.  All initiatives will
be materially complete within 18
months from the date of implemen-
tation.  The balance at December 31,
2003, recorded for severance and
employee benefits, was included in
accrued liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  A sum-
mary of the 2003 initiatives is pre-
sented below:   

2003 Restructuring Initiatives

2003 Changes to Balance
(in millions) Expense Payments Estimates December 31, 2003

Severance and employee benefits  $ 82 $  (15 )     $  (2 ) $ 65  
Contract and lease termination 

and other costs 2 (1 )                       - 1
Total $ 84 $ (16 ) $  (2 )   $ 66  
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Note 5:  Financial Instruments

We use derivative and non-derivative
financial instruments, under estab-
lished policies, to manage market risk
arising out of changing foreign
exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices, which have a mate-
rial impact on our earnings, cash
flows and fair values of assets and lia-
bilities.  We do not use derivative
instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.  Our policies also prohibit
us from entering into leveraged deriv-
ative instruments and instruments
that cannot be valued by independent
third parties.  We manage counter-
party risk by diversifying trading
among major financial institutions
with investment grade credit ratings
and by limiting our dependence upon
each institution consistent with our
assessment of credit quality.

With the adoption of SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,”
as amended as of January 1, 2001, we
recorded a $6 million after-tax cumu-
lative income effect to accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss)
and a charge to net earnings of $2
million, to recognize at fair value all
derivative instruments.

Currency Hedges
We enter into foreign exchange
option and forward contracts in

order to reduce the risk associated
with variability in our operating
results from foreign-currency-
denominated cash flows.  These con-
tracts are designated as foreign cur-
rency cash flow hedges covering por-
tions of our twelve month forecasted
cash flows.  The table below summa-
rizes by currency the notional value
of foreign currency cash flow hedg-
ing contracts in U.S. dollars out-
standing at each balance sheet date:

Asset Impairments
Of the total 2002 charges, $158 mil-
lion was non-cash in nature and com-
prised of asset impairments recorded
to reduce the carrying value of cer-
tain identified assets to their fair val-
ues, which were calculated using cash
flow analyses.  The largest, single
asset write-down was $121 million,

recorded to write-down certain long-
lived intangible and fixed assets of
the Printed Wiring Board business in
the Electronic Materials segment.
The remaining $37 million of non-
cash charges, recorded during 2002,
related largely to the closure of two
European plants and other building
and equipment impairments.

Note 4:  Other Income, Net
We recorded other income, net of $7
million, $5 million and $15 million
during 2003, 2002 and 2001.  The
major categories of our other
income, net are summarized in the
following table:

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Royalty income $ 19   $ 15 $ 13

Foreign exchange gains, net (1) 3 10

Interest income 5  6 8

Other, net (16) (19) (16)

Total $ 7 $ 5 $ 15

(in millions) 2003 2002

Euro $175 $146

Japanese yen 19 21

Australian dollar 10 7

Other 2 3

Total $206 $177

2002 Restructuring Initiatives

2002  Balance Changes to Balance
(in millions) Expense Payments Dec. 31, 2002 Payments Estimates Dec. 31, 2003

Severance and employee benefits  $ 31 $ (2 ) $ 29 $ (39) $ 16 $ 6
Contract and lease termination

and other costs 2 (1 ) 1 (2) 2 1
Total $ 33 $  (3 ) $  30 $ (41) $ 18 $  7
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These contracts mature when the
underlying cash flows being hedged
are forecasted to be realized.  Because
the option and forward contracts are
considered highly effective hedges,
the cash value less cost will be reflect-
ed in earnings at maturity.  All con-
tracts are marked-to-market at each
balance sheet date with changes in
fair value prior to maturity recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss).  For the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, these

contracts decreased in value resulting
in a $5 million and $4 million accu-
mulated after-tax loss which is record-
ed in accumulated other comprehen-
sive income (loss).  For the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
an after-tax loss of $8 million and an
after-tax gain of $4 million, respective-
ly, were recorded in earnings related
to foreign currency cash flow hedging
contracts which matured during the
respective periods.  Changing market
conditions will impact the actual

amounts recorded to earnings during
the following twelve-month periods.
Both the effective and ineffective por-
tions of cash flow hedges recorded in
the Consolidated Statements of
Operations are classified in other
income, net.

Period changes, net of income tax,
within accumulated other compre-
hensive income (loss), due to the use
of foreign currency cash flow hedges,
are reconciled as follows:

Currency Cash Flow Hedges

Within Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Within Net Earnings

(in millions) Income/(Loss) Income/(Loss)

Balance as of January 1, 2002 $ 3
Changes in fair value (3)
Reclassification to earnings, net (4) $ 4
Balance as of December 31, 2002 $   (4)
Changes in fair value (9)
Reclassification to earnings, net 8 $ (8)
Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ (5)

We contract with counter-parties to
buy and sell foreign currency to offset
the impact of exchange rate changes
on recognized assets and liabilities
denominated in non-functional cur-
rencies, including intercompany
loans.  These contracts generally
require exchange of one foreign cur-
rency for another at a fixed rate at a

future date.  These contracts are des-
ignated as foreign currency fair value
hedges with maturities generally less
than twelve months.  All contracts are
marked-to-market at each balance
sheet date with changes in fair value
recorded in other income, net.  For
the years ended December 31, 2003

and 2002, after-tax gains of $13 mil-
lion and $6 million, respectively, were
recorded in earnings for foreign cur-
rency fair value hedges.

The following table sets forth the for-
eign currency fair value hedges out-
standing at each balance sheet date: 

(in millions U.S. dollars)

Buy currency Sell currency 2003 2002

U.S. dollar Euro $ 286 $ 94
Euro U.S. dollar 108 100
Euro Japanese yen 56 39  
Swiss franc Euro 46 28
Euro Singapore dollar 39 -
Euro Canadian dollar 32 51
Euro British pound 31 65
British pound Euro 28 12
U.S. dollar Japanese yen 25 24
Japanese yen Euro 15 -
Euro Swedish krona 11 13
Japanese yen Indian rupee 11 -
Euro South African rand 6 -
Swedish krona Euro 5 6
U.S. dollar Brazilian real - 10
Canadian dollar Euro - 6
Other Other 5 9
Total $ 704 $ 457
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reconciliation within cumulative
translation adjustment is provided as
follows: 

We utilize foreign exchange forward
and currency collar contracts togeth-
er with non-dollar borrowings to
hedge the foreign currency expo-
sures of our net investments in for-
eign operating units in Europe and
Japan.  These derivative instruments
and non-dollar borrowings are desig-
nated as hedges of net investments.
Accordingly, the effective portions of
foreign exchange gains or losses on
these hedges are recorded as part of
the cumulative translation adjust-
ment, which is part of accumulated

other comprehensive income (loss).
At December 31, 2003 and 2002,
$122 million and $48 million in after-
tax losses, respectively, were recorded
in cumulative translation adjustment
representing the effective portions of
foreign exchange losses on these
hedges.  Of those amounts, $60 mil-
lion and $39 million in after-tax loss-
es at December 31, 2003 and 2002
were related to short-term Euro and
long-term Japanese yen borrowings
and the remainder were related to

exchange forward and currency col-
lar contracts in these currencies.

Total derivative and non-functional
currency liabilities designated as
hedges of net investments outstand-
ing at December 31, 2003 were $517
million compared to $834 million
outstanding at December 31, 2002.
The following table sets forth the
derivative and non-derivative posi-
tions designated as hedges of net
investments outstanding at
December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Included in other comprehensive
income as cumulative translation
adjustment for the years ended

December 31, 2003 and 2002 were
gains of $80 million and $53 million,
respectively, net of hedge losses.  The

(in millions) 2003 2002

Natural gas $ 31 $ 30

Propylene - 11

Ethylene - 8

Total $ 31 $ 49

2003 2002

(in millions) Derivative Non-derivative Derivative Non-derivative

Euro $ 257 $ -- $ 444 $ 158
Japanese yen 73 187 63 169

Total $ 330 $ 187 $ 507 $ 327

Gains/(Losses)

Foreign Currency Cumulative  
Hedges of Net Translation Impact on Translation

(in millions) Investment Net Investment Adjustment

Balance as of January 1, 2002 $ 38 $ (158) $ (120 )
Changes in fair value (86) 139 53
Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ (48) $ (19) $ (67 )
Changes in fair value (74) 154 80
Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ (122) $ 135 $ 13

notional value of commodity hedges
outstanding at December 31, 2003
and 2002:

The amounts that are considered inef-
fective on these net investment
hedges were recorded in interest
expense.  Interest expense was
decreased by $1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 while
increased by $1 million for 2002. 

Commodity Hedges
We use commodity swap, option, and
collar contracts to reduce the effects
of changing raw material prices.

These contracts are designated and
accounted for as cash flow hedges.
The following table sets forth the
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Included in accumulated other com-
prehensive income (loss) at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 is a $2
million after-tax gain, which repre-
sents the accumulated market value
changes in those outstanding com-
modity swap, option, and collar con-
tracts.  These contracts are consid-
ered highly effective as hedges and
will mature consistent with our pur-

chases of the underlying commodi-
ties during the following twenty four
month period.  The actual amounts
to be charged to earnings when these
contracts mature will depend upon
spot market prices when these con-
tracts mature.  For the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, $5 mil-
lion and $3 million in gains, respec-
tively, were recorded as components

Interest Rate Hedges
We use interest swap agreements to
maintain a desired level of floating
rate debt.  In 2001, we entered into
interest rate swap agreements with a
notional value of $950 million, which
converted the fixed rate components
of the $451 million notes due July 15,
2004 and the $500 million notes due
July 15, 2009 to a floating rate based
on three-month LIBOR.  During
October 2003, we entered into addi-
tional interest rate swap agreements
with notional value totaling 200 mil-
lion Euro, which converted the fixed
rate components of 400 million Euro
notes due March 9, 2007 to a floating
rate based on six-month EURIBOR.  

During December 2003, we
redeemed $451 million notes which
were originally due on July 15, 2004
(see Note 17: Long-Term Debt and
Other Financing Arrangements) and ter-
minated the related interest rate
swap agreements with a  $450 million
notional value.  The $10 million cash

received upon termination of these
interest rate swap agreements was
used to fund the premium required
to redeem the notes.

The $500 million notional value inter-
est rate swap agreements maturing in
2009 and 50 million Euro interest rate
swap agreements maturing in 2007
contain credit clauses where each
counter-party has a right to settle at
market price if the other party is
downgraded below investment grade.
The interest rate swap agreements are
designated and accounted for as fair
value hedges.  The changes in fair val-
ues of interest rate swap agreements
are marked-to-market through
income together with the offsetting
changes in fair value of the underly-
ing notes using the short cut method
of measuring effectiveness. As a result,
the carrying amounts of these notes
increased in net by $55 million and
$94 million at December 31, 2003 and
2002 while the fair value of swaps was
reported as other assets in the same

amount.  The swap agreements
reduced interest expense by $42 mil-
lion and $36 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
we maintained hedge positions of
immaterial amounts that were effec-
tive as hedges from an economic per-
spective but did not qualify for hedge
accounting under SFAS No. 133, as
amended.  Such hedges consisted
primarily of emerging market for-
eign currency option and forward
contracts, and have been marked-to-
market through income, with an
immaterial impact on earnings. 

The fair value of financial instru-
ments was estimated based on the fol-
lowing methods and assumptions:

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and
notes payable -- the carrying amount
approximates fair value due to the
short maturity of these instruments.

Commodity Cash Flow Hedges

Within Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Within Net Earnings 

(in millions) Income/(Loss) Income/(Loss)

Balance as of January 1, 2002 $ (4)
Changes in fair value 8
Reclassification to earnings, net (2) $ 2
Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 2
Changes in fair value 4
Reclassification to earnings, net (4) $ 4
Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ 2

of costs of goods sold with the related
tax effect recorded in tax expense
with respect to those commodity
swap, option and collar contracts
maturing during the same periods. 
Period changes, net of income tax,

within accumulated other compre-
hensive income (loss), due to the use
of commodity cash flow hedges, are
reconciled as follows:
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Asset/(Liability) 2003 2002

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value

Short-term debt $     (107) $     (107) $     (180) $     (180)
Long-term debt (2,468) (2,791) (2,872) (3,310)
Interest rate swap agreements 55 55 94 94
Foreign currency options 1 1 3 3
Foreign exchange forward and swap contracts (2) (2) (28) (28)
Natural gas swap agreements 3 3 2 2
Natural gas option and collar agreements 1 1 1 1
Ethylene and propylene swap agreements - - 1 1

Short and long-term debt -- quoted
market prices for the same or similar
issues at current rates offered to us
for debt with the same or similar
remaining maturities and terms.

Interest rate swap agreements -- market
prices of the same or similar agreements
quoted as of the balance sheet date.

Foreign currency option contracts --
Black-Scholes calculation using mar-
ket data as of the balance sheet date.

Foreign currency forward and swap
agreements -- Application of market
data as of the balance sheet date to
contract terms.

Commodity swap, option and collar
contracts -- Counter-party quotes as
of the balance sheet date. 

The carrying amounts and fair values
of material financial instruments at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as
follows:

Note 6:  Income Taxes

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change earned
within or outside the United States from continuing operations are shown below:

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

United States
Parent and Subsidiaries $  205 $  149 $  (179)
Affiliates 1 4 3

Foreign
Subsidiaries 195 144 101
Affiliates 14 11 9

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income 
taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change $    415 $ 308 $    (66)

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Income taxes on U.S. earnings
Federal:
Current $   121 $   72 $   31
Deferred (69) (34) (69)

52 38 (38)

State and other 4 5 3
Total taxes on U.S. earnings 56 43 (35)

Taxes on foreign earnings
Current 49 41 48
Deferred 22 14 (8)

Total taxes on foreign earnings 71 55 40
Total Income Taxes $    127 $    98 $    5

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change is composed
of:
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The provision for income taxes attributable to items other than continuing operations is shown below:

Deferred income taxes reflect temporary differences between the valuation of assets and liabilities for financial and tax
reporting.  Details at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were:

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Income from discontinued line of business $   - $   - $   25

Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued line of business (5) (3) 251

Cumulative effect of accounting change (3) (57) (1)

(in millions) 2003 2002

Deferred tax assets related to:
Compensation and benefit programs $ 342 $ 314
Asset impairments and restructuring reserves 23 61
Accruals for waste disposal site remediation 22 30
All other 118 87

Total deferred tax assets 505 492
Deferred tax liabilities related to:

Intangible assets 573 626
Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation 485 472
Pension 155 177
All other 134 143

Total deferred tax liabilities 1,347 1,418
Net deferred tax liability $ 842 $ 926

Deferred taxes, which are classified into a net current and non-current balance by tax jurisdiction, are presented
in the balance sheet as follows:

(in millions) 2003 2002
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 95 $ 139

Deferred income taxes 937 1,065

Net deferred tax liability $ 842 $ 926
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Note 7:   Segment Information

We operate six business segments:
Coatings, Adhesives and Sealants,
Electronic Materials, Performance
Chemicals, Salt and Monomers as
described below.   The Coatings,
Electronic Materials and
Performance Chemicals business seg-
ments aggregate operating segments.  

• Coatings
This segment is comprised of three
businesses:  Architectural and
Functional Coatings; Powder
Coatings; and Automotive
Coatings.  Architectural and
Functional Coatings produces
acrylic emulsions and additives that
are used to make industrial and
decorative coatings, varnishes and
specialty finishes.  This segment
also offers products that serve a
wide variety of coatings to:  indus-
trial markets for use on metal, wood
and in traffic paint; the building
industry for use in roofing materi-
als, insulation and cement markets;
and consumer markets for use in
paper, textiles and non-woven
fibers, graphic arts and leather mar-
kets.  Automotive Coatings formu-
lates and manufactures decorative

and functional coatings for plastic
automotive parts such as bumper
covers and interior and exterior
trim of cars and trucks.  Powder
Coatings produces a comprehen-
sive line of powder coatings that are
sprayed onto consumer and indus-
trial products and parts in a solid
form.  Our powder coatings are
used on a wide variety of  products,
ranging from door handles to patio
and deck furniture, to windshield
wipers, televisions and industrial
shelving.  

• Adhesives and Sealants
The Adhesives and Sealants seg-
ment provides a vast array of for-
mulated, value adding products
derived from a broad range of
technologies including our world
class acrylic technology.  This seg-
ment offers various products
including packaging adhesives,
pressure sensitive and construc-
tion adhesives and transportation
adhesives based on numerous
chemistries and technologies. 

• Electronic Materials
This segment provides cutting-edge
technology for use in telecommuni-
cations, consumer electronics and

household appliances.  The Printed
Wiring Board business develops
and delivers the technology, materi-
als and fabrication services for
increasingly powerful, high-density
printed wiring boards in comput-
ers, cell phones, automobiles and
many other electronic devices
today.  Our Electronic and
Industrial Finishing business devel-
ops and delivers innovative materi-
als and processes that boost the per-
formance of a diverse range of elec-
tronic, optoelectronic and industri-
al packaging and finishing applica-
tions.  Microelectronics develops
and supplies integrated products
and technologies on a global basis
enabling our customers to drive
leading edge semiconductor design
to boost performance of semicon-
ductor devices powered by smaller
and faster chips.  This business also
develops and delivers materials
used for chemical mechanical pol-
ishing (CMP), the process used to
create the flawless surfaces required
to make faster and more powerful
integrated circuits and electronic
substrates. 

The effective tax rate on pre-tax income differs from the U.S. statutory tax rate due to the following:

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we provided deferred income taxes for the assumed repatriation of all unremitted 
foreign earnings.  

2003 2002 2001

Statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% (35.0)%
U.S. tax credits (3.0) (3.8) (14.7)
Depletion (1.3) (1.8) (9.8)
Non-deductible restructuring and asset impairments (0.4) 0.6 33.0
Amortization of non-deductible goodwill - - 35.0
Other, net 0.3 1.9 0.9
Effective tax rate 30.6% 31.9% 9.4%
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(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Coatings $  2,135 $ 1,866 $ 1,753
Adhesives and Sealants 632 592 661
Electronic Materials 1,079 987 942
Performance Chemicals 1,382 1,217 1,204
Salt 801 706 749
Monomers 1,152 970 946
Elimination of Intersegment Sales (760)              (611) (589)

Total  $  6,421 $ 5,727 $ 5,666

• Performance Chemicals
This segment includes the sales
and operating results of Plastics
Additives, Process Chemicals
(which was formed in 2003 by
combining Inorganic and
Specialty Solutions and Ion
Exchange Resins), Consumer and
Industrial Specialties and other
smaller business groups.  These
businesses provide products that
serve a diverse set of markets, from
consumer products, to additives
used to manufacture plastic and
vinyl products, to water treatment
and purification processes for food
and pharmaceutical markets, to
newsprint processing.

• Salt
Some of the most recognized con-
sumer brand names and product
symbols are found here, including
the leading brand of table salt in
the United States – Morton Salt,
with its little Umbrella Girl, and
Windsor Salt, Canada’s leading
brand.  Even though the consumer
salt business is best known, this seg-
ment extends well beyond this mar-
ket and includes salt used for water
conditioning, ice control, food pro-
cessing, chemical/industrial use
and agricultural use.

• Monomers
This segment produces methyl
methacrylate, acrylic acid and asso-
ciated esters as well as specialty
monomer products.  Monomers
serve as the building block for
many of the acrylic technologies in
our other business segments and
are sold externally for applications
such as superabsorbent polymers
and acrylic sheet.

The table below presents net sales by
business segment.   Segment elimina-
tions are presented for intercompany
sales between segments.  
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The table below presents summarized financial information about our reportable segments:

Perf.
2003 Coatings A&S EM Chemicals Salt Monomers Corporate (2) Total

Earnings from continuing 
operations before cumulative   
effect of accounting change (3,4) $ 133 $ 8 $ 97 $ 52 $ 54 $ 81 $ (137 ) $ 288
Share of affiliate earnings, net 8 2 5 - - - - 15
Depreciation 82 35 46 90 71 61 26 411
Segment assets 1,823 1,156 1,590 1,483 1,653 739 1,001 9,445
Capital additions 54 16 38 40 27 67 97 339

Perf.
2002 Coatings A&S EM Chemicals Salt Monomers Corporate (2) Total

Earnings (loss) from    
continuing operations before    
cumulative effect of accounting 
change (3,4) $ 187 $ (3) $ - $ 46 $ 47 $ 72 $ (139 ) $ 210
Share of affiliate earnings, net 7 2 5 1 - - - 15
Depreciation 81 30 43 84 68 69 13 388
Segment assets 1,834 1,138 1,555 1,463 1,660 650 1,284 9,584
Capital additions 57 37 67 29 30 35 152 407

Perf.
2001(1) Coatings A&S EM Chemicals Salt Monomers Corporate (2) Total

Earnings (loss) from    
continuing operations before    
cumulative effect of accounting 
change (3,4) $ 112 $  (71) $     1 $ 10 $ 13 $ 41 $ (177)     $ (71 )
Share of affiliate earnings, net 6 2 4 - - - - 12
Depreciation 88 31 41 77 69 83 17 406
Segment assets 1,938 1,081 1,886 1,697 1,956 702 1,118 10,378
Capital additions 57 25 70 45 29 47 128 401

(1) Reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
(2) Corporate includes items such as corporate governance costs, the unallocated portion of shared services, interest income and expense, environ-

mental remediation expense, insurance recoveries and certain balance sheet currency translation gains and losses.
(3) In accordance with SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical

Corrections,” 2002 and 2001 earnings from continuing operations now reflect losses on early extinguishment of debt, previously reported below
continuing operations as extraordinary items.  These losses are reflected within the Corporate business segment.

(4) Earnings from continuing operations were taxed using our overall consolidated effective tax rate.



69.

The table below presents sales by geographic area.  Sales are attributed to the United States and to all foreign countries
combined based on customer location and not on the geographic location from which goods were shipped. 

(in millions) United States Foreign Consolidated

2003
Net sales $  3,029 $  3,392 $  6,421

2002
Net sales $  2,964 $  2,763  $  5,727

2001
Net sales $  3,049 $  2,617 $  5,666

Note 8: Pension Plans

Qualified Pension Plans
We sponsor and contribute to pension plans which provide defined benefits to domestic and non-U.S. employees.
Pension benefits earned are generally based on years of service and compensation during active employment.  The fol-
lowing disclosures include amounts for both the U.S. and significant foreign pension plans.  

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.

Components of net periodic pension (expense) income:
Service cost $  (49) $ (14) $  (45) $ (12) $  (46) $ (11)
Interest cost (91) (23) (91) (19) (92) (17)
Expected return on plan assets 138 27 149 25 169 23
Amortization of net gain existing at adoption of SFAS No. 87 - 1 - - 7 -
Other amortization, net (3) (1) 1 (2) 12 -
Net periodic pension (expense) income, excluding  

special items (1) $   (5) $ (10) $   14 $ (8) $ 50 $ (5)

Transfer to fund retiree medical expenses - - - - (29) -
Settlement and curtailment (losses) gains   (10) - - - 3 -
Special termination benefits (17) - (33) - (30) -
Special items (2) $ (27) $ - $ (33) $ - $ (56) $ -

Net periodic pension (expense) income $ (32) $ (10) $ (19) $ (8) $ (6) $ (5)

(1) Amount represents traditional net periodic pension (expense) income components.  

(2) Due to the historical over funded status of the U.S. and certain foreign pension plans, we have utilized excess pension assets to fund
retiree medical expenses, settlement and curtailment (losses) gains, and special termination benefits, which include severance and
early retirement costs.  Retiree and special termination benefits will no longer be paid out of the U.S. pension plan for employees
with termination dates subsequent to December 30, 2002.

The pension benefit payments in all
three years included payments relat-
ed to voluntary early retirement
incentives and a severance benefit
program.  Severance costs related to
formal restructuring plans are dis-
cussed in Note 3:  Provision for
Restructuring and Asset
Impairments.  It is our policy to rec-
ognize settlement gains and losses at
the time an employee’s pension lia-
bility is settled.  Special termination
benefits, which include severance
and early retirement costs, are recog-
nized when the termination is proba-

ble and the amount of the benefit is
reasonably estimable. 

The company’s global pension benefit
obligation increased by $195 million
in 2003 largely driven by lower dis-
count rates used to calculate the net
present value of plan liabilities and the
negative impact of currency on con-
verting non-U.S. plan obligations into
U.S. dollars.  The fair value of assets,
largely due to the strong investment
performance and to a lesser extent the
favorable impact of currency on con-
verting non-U.S. plan assets, increased
by $258 million in 2003.

The impact of these movements had
mixed results on the U.S. based and
non-U.S. based plans.  U.S. plans
reported an improvement of $82 mil-
lion in funded status as higher asset
levels more than offset the growth in
liabilities caused by lower discount
rates.  However, funded status for the
non-U.S. plans continued to deterio-
rate, falling $19 million from a nega-
tive $104 million to $123 million as
asset growth was not sufficient to off-
set both the net adverse currency
impact caused by the weaker dollar
and higher liabilities due to lower
discount rates.



70.

(in millions) 2003 2002

U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.

Change in pension benefit obligation:
Pension benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1,408 $ 383 $ 1,321 $ 313
Service cost, excluding expenses 44 14 40 12
Interest cost 91 23 91 19
Participant contributions - 2 - 1
Amendments - - 2 1
Actuarial (gain) loss 71 24 81 25
Benefits paid (108) (21) (69) (17)
Reclassifications - 16 - 2
Curtailments - (1) - -
Settlements (38) - (91) -
Special termination benefits 17 - 33 -
Foreign currency translation adjustment - 61 - 27
Pension benefit obligation at end of year $ 1,485 $ 501 $ 1,408 $ 383
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 1,289 $ 279 $ 1,638 $ 289
Actual return on plan assets 315 42 (182) (30)
Employer contribution - 22 - 14
Participant contributions - 2 - 2
Reclassifications - 9 - -
Divestitures - (1) - -
Settlements (38) - (91) -
Benefits paid (108) (21) (69) (17)
Administrative expenses (10) - (7) -
Foreign currency translation adjustment - 46 - 21
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 1,448 $ 378 $ 1,289 $ 279
Funded status $ (37) $ (123) $ (119) $ (104)
Unrecognized transition asset - (2) - (2)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 285 135 397 105
Unrecognized prior service cost 17 6 20 5
Net amount recognized $ 265 $ 16 $ 298 $ 4
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position:
Prepaid pension cost $ 265 $ 7 $ 298 $ 5
Accrued benefit liability - (54) - (56)
Intangible asset - 5 - 5
Accumulated other comprehensive income - 58 - 50
Net amount recognized $ 265 $ 16 $ 298 $ 4
Additional Information:
Increase in minimum liability included in other 
comprehensive income $ - $ 8 $ - $ 47
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 1,218 $ 418 $ 1,158 $ 321

Plans for which accumulated benefit obligation 
exceeds assets:
Projected benefit obligation $ - $ (432) $ - $ (339)
Accumulated benefit obligation - (361) - (283)
Fair value of plan assets - 309 - 231

Plan activity and status as of and for the years ended December 31, was as follows:



We do not expect to make any con-
tributions to the U.S. qualified pen-
sion plans in 2004.

Non-Qualified Pension Plans
We have noncontributory, unfunded
pension plans which provide supple-
mental defined benefits primarily to

U.S. employees whose benefits under
the qualified pension plan are limited by
the Employee Retirement Security Act
of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code.

We have a non-qualified trust, referred
to as a “rabbi” trust, to fund benefit
payments under this pension plan.
Rabbi trust assets are subject to credi-

tor claims under certain conditions
and are not the property of employ-
ees.  Therefore, they are accounted for
as corporate assets and are classified as
other non-current assets.  Assets held
in trust at December 31, 2003 and
2002 totaled $53 million and $45 mil-
lion, respectively.
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Net assets of the pension trust, which primarily consist of common stocks and debt securities, were measured at market value.
The plan asset allocation at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, by asset category for U.S. plans is as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets

Asset Category At At 
December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Equity securities 72% 67%
Debt securities 17 23
Real estate 6 8
Other 5 2

Total 100% 100%

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Components of net periodic pension (expense) income:

Service cost $ (1) $ (2) $ (2)

Interest cost (9) (9) (10)

Other amortization, net (4) (4) (5)

Net periodic pension (expense)/income $(14) $ (15) $ (17)

2003 2002

U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.
Plans Plans Plans Plans

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine 
net cost for the period January 1, - December 31,

Discount rate 6.67% 5.83% 7.25% 6.06%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50 7.42 8.50 7.58

Rate of compensation increase 4.00 3.93 4.00 3.95

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine 
benefit obligation for years ended December 31,

Discount rate 6.25% 5.73% 6.67% 5.83%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.06 4.00 3.93

Significant actuarial assumptions are as follows:  
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Non-qualified plan contributions,
which equal payments, are expected
to be approximately $10 million in
2004.

In 1997, we instituted a non-qualified
savings plan for eligible employees in
the United States.  The purpose of
the plan is to provide additional
retirement savings benefits beyond
the otherwise determined savings
benefits provided by the Rohm and
Haas Company Employee Stock
Ownership and Savings Plan (the
Savings Plan.)  Each participant’s
contributions are notionally invested
in the same investment funds as the
participant has elected for invest-
ment in his or her Savings Plan
account.  For most participants, we
contribute a notional amount equal
to 60% of the first 6% of the amount
contributed by the participant. Our
matching contributions are allocated
to deferred stock units.  At the time
of distribution, each deferred stock
unit is distributed as one share of
Rohm and Haas company common
stock.  Employer contributions to
this plan were $1 million in 2003 and
in 2002, respectively.

(in millions) 2003 2002

Change in pension benefit obligation:
Pension benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 144 $ 146
Service cost, excluding expenses 1 2
Interest cost 9 9
Amendments - (3)
Actuarial (gain)/loss (7) 3
Benefits paid (15) (13)
Pension benefit obligation at end of year $ 132 $ 144
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - $ -
Employer contribution 15 13
Benefits paid (15) (13)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ - $ -
Funded status $ (132) $ (144)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 46 57
Unrecognized prior service cost 2 3
Net amount recognized $ (84) $ (84)
Amounts recognized in the statement of 
financial position:
Accrued benefit liability $ (127) $ (130)
Intangible asset 2 3
Accumulated other comprehensive income 41 43
Net amount recognized $ (84) $ (84)

Increase in minimum liability included in 
other comprehensive income $ (2) $ 5

Plan activity and status as of and for the years ended December 31, were as 
follows:

Significant actuarial assumptions are as follows:  

2003 2002

Weighted-average assumptions used to 
determine net cost for the period
January 1, - December 31,
Discount rate 6.67% 7.25%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00

Weighted-average assumptions used to 
determine benefit obligation for years 
ended December 31,
Discount rate 6.25% 6.67%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00
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(in millions) 2003 2002

Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits $ 406 $ 415
Unfunded supplemental pension plan (see Note 8) 112 116
Long-term disability benefit costs 32 27
Foreign pension liabilities 70 66
Other 15 27

Total $ 635 $ 651

Note 9: Employee Benefits

The accrued postretirement benefit
cost, unfunded supplemental pen-
sion plan costs, and long-term dis-
ability benefit costs are recorded in
accrued liabilities (current) and
employee benefits (non-current) in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We provide health care and life insur-
ance benefits under numerous plans

for substantially all of our domestic
retired employees, for which we are
self-insured.  Most retirees are
required to contribute toward the
cost of such coverage.  We also pro-
vide health care and life insurance
benefits to some non-U.S. retirees.  

The status of the plans at year end
was as follows:

(in millions) 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 480 $ 462
Service cost 5 7
Interest cost 29 32
Contributions 13 6
Amendments - (14)
Actuarial (gain) loss (10) 38
Benefits paid (57) (52)
Curtailments (2) -
Foreign currency translation adjustment 6 1
Benefit obligation at end of year 464 480
Plan assets - -
Funded status (464) (480)
Unrecognized prior service cost (17) (19)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss 29 38
Total (accrued) postretirement benefit obligation $ (452) $ (461)

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Components of net periodic postretirement cost

Service cost $ 4 $ 7 $  7

Interest cost 29 32 32

Net amortization (2) (1) (2)

Net periodic postretirement cost $ 31 $ 38 $ 37

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost includes the following components:
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On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was signed into
law.  Following the guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the company has elected to defer recogni-
tion of this Act at this time. The APBO and net periodic postretirement benefit cost do not reflect the effect of the Act
on the plan. Specific authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is pending.  Management does
not believe that the Act will have a material impact on the company and it is not expected to require a change to pre-
viously reported information. 

Significant actuarial assumptions used for the U.S. plans are as follows:

The U.S. benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 is based on a health care cost trend rate of 10% declining annu-
ally in 1% increments to a long-term rate of 5%.  Different discount rates and trend rates are used for non-U.S. plans,
which account for approximately 8% of the total benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003.  The U.S. plan general-
ly limits the company’s per-capita cost to double the 1992 cost.  Different cost limits apply to some groups of partici-
pants, and there are some retirees to whom the limits do not apply.  The limits greatly reduce the impact of health care
cost trend rates on the benefit obligation and expense.

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have approximately the following effects: 

1-Percentage 1-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

(in millions) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $  1 $   1 $ (1) $ (1)

Effect on post retirement benefit obligation 10 15 (8) (14)

Note 10:  Receivables, net

(in millions) 2003 2002

Customers $ 1,209 $ 1,078
Affiliates 19 18
Employees 3 6
Other 135 113

1,366 1,215

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts 57 55

Total $ 1,309 $ 1,160

Employee receivables are primarily comprised of relocation and education reimbursements for our employees.

2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumptions for year-end APBO
Discount rate 6.25% 6.67% 7.25%
Health care cost trend rate (current rate) 10.00% 11.00% 9.00%
Health care cost trend rate (ultimate rate) 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Health care cost trend rate (year ultimate rate reached) 2009 2009 2010

Weighted-average assumptions for annual expense
Discount rate 6.67% 7.25% 7.50%
Health care cost trend rate (current rate) 11.00% 9.00% 5.00%
Health care cost trend rate (ultimate rate) 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Health care cost trend rate (year ultimate rate reached) 2009 2010 2001
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Note 11:  Inventories

(in millions) 2003 2002

Finished products and work in process $ 642 $ 591
Raw materials 128 133
Supplies 51 41

Total $ 821 $ 765

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) inventory
method for domestic inventories, which approximates 50% of the total inventory balance.  The excess of replace-
ment cost over the value of inventories based upon  the LIFO method was $53 million and $47 million at December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Liquidation of prior years’ LIFO inventory layers did not materially affect cost of
goods sold in 2003, 2002 or 2001.

Note 12:  Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

(in millions) 2003 2002

Deferred tax assets $ 95 $ 139
Prepaid expenses 90 48
Notes receivable from third parties 5 5
Other current assets 11 9

Total $ 201 $ 201

Note 13:  Land, Buildings and Equipment, net

(in millions) 2003 2002

Land $ 149 $ 142
Buildings and improvements 1,721 1,541
Machinery and equipment 5,286 4,926
Capitalized interest 310 292
Construction 222 345

7,688 7,246

Less: accumulated depreciation 4,722 4,292

Total $ 2,966 $ 2,954

The principal lives (in years) used in
determining depreciation rates of
various assets are: buildings and
improvements (10-50); machinery
and equipment (5-20); automobiles,
trucks and tank cars (3-10); furniture
and fixtures, laboratory equipment
and other assets (5-10).  The life of
capitalized software, included in
machinery and equipment, is 5 years.

Gross book values of assets depreciated
by accelerated methods totaled $726
million and $772 million at December

31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Assets
depreciated by the straight-line
method totaled $6,591 million and
$5,987 million at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

In 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively,
interest costs of $18 million, $20 mil-
lion and $17 million were capitalized
and added to the gross book value of
land, buildings and equipment.
Amortization of such capitalized
costs included in depreciation
expense was $15 million in 2003, $14

million in 2002 and $15 million in
2001.

Depreciation expense was $411 mil-
lion, $388 million and $406 million
in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

In 2002 and 2003, we implemented
several restructuring initiatives
throughout most of our businesses.
Certain buildings and equipment
were affected and written down to
their fair values (see Note 3:
Provision for Restructuring and Asset
Impairments).
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Note 14: Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, net

SFAS No. 142
Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.”  In accordance
with this statement, as of January 1,
2002, we ceased amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets
deemed to have indefinite lives, and
reclassified certain intangible assets
to goodwill, net of deferred taxes.
Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and
certain indefinite-lived intangible
assets are no longer amortized but
instead are reviewed for impairment
on an annual basis or more frequent-
ly if an event occurs or circumstances
change that would more likely than
not reduce the fair value of a report-
ing unit below its carrying amount.

Fair value is estimated based upon
forecasted cash flows discounted to
present value using an appropriate
discount rate.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, we
were required to perform a transition-
al impairment test.  As a result,  we
recorded in 2002 a transitional impair-
ment charge of $830 million ($773
million after-tax).  The transitional
impairment charge was reported as a
cumulative effect of accounting
change in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.  The impairment con-
sisted of a $668 million charge to
goodwill and a $162 million ($105 mil-
lion after-tax) charge to indefinite-
lived intangible assets within the Salt
segment.  The after-tax charge was as
follows:  Coatings - $42 million;
Electronic Materials - $281 million;

Performance Chemicals - $230 mil-
lion; and Salt - $220 million.  The
impairment charges were primarily
the result of the economic downturn
in the years leading up to 2002, which
affected growth assumptions in cer-
tain key markets.  In addition, cus-
tomer consolidation in some areas has
led to downward pressure on pricing
and volume.  

We completed our annual recoverabil-
ity review as of May 31, 2003 and 2002
and determined that goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets were
fully recoverable as of these dates. 

Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount
of goodwill for the year ended
December 31, 2003, by business seg-
ment, are as follows:

Adhesives
and Electronic Performance

(in millions) Coatings Sealants Materials Chemicals Monomers Salt Total

Balance as of  January 1, 2003 (1)                       $  305 $ 462 $ 318 $ 156 $ 18 $ 358 $ 1,617
Goodwill related to acquisitions (2) 5   -           12             1       - - 18      
Currency effects (3) 10 7 - 7 - - 24
Opening balance sheet  adjustments (4) (14) (18) (8) (11) - (15 ) (66)
Other (5) 2 3 (10) 2 - 3 -
Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ 308 $ 454 $ 312 $ 155 $ 18 $ 346 $ 1,593

(1) Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. 
(2) Goodwill related to acquisitions is due to the following: Coatings – Ferro acquisition; Electronic Materials – Rodel acquisition; Performance

Chemicals – Kureha acquisition.  See Note 2:  Acquisitions and Dispositions of Assets for further detail.
(3) Certain of our goodwill amounts are denominated in foreign currencies and are translated using the appropriate U.S. dollar exchange rate.
(4) Represents adjustments to opening balance sheet assets and liabilities due primarily to settlement of certain tax related matters.
(5) Certain current year re-allocations have occurred to align goodwill with appropriate business unit.  
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Other Intangible Assets 
SFAS No. 142 established two broad
categories of intangible assets: defi-
nite-lived intangible assets which are
subject to amortization and indefi-
nite-lived intangible assets which are
not subject to amortization. 

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets
In connection with the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, effective January 1,
2002, we identified certain intangible
assets with indefinite lives in our Salt
segment.  Amortization of these
assets ceased effective January 1,
2002.  As part of our SFAS No. 142
transitional impairment review of
indefinite-lived intangible assets, we
recognized an impairment loss of
$162 million ($105 million after-tax).

Finite-lived Intangible Assets
Finite-lived intangible assets are long-
lived intangible assets, other than
investments, goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets.  They are
amortized over their useful lives and
are reviewed for impairment in

accordance with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”  

In June 2003, we recognized a $102
million, net impairment charge, of
which $95 million was recorded to
adjust the carrying value of certain
finite-lived intangible assets to their
fair values.  Fair value was estimated
based upon forecasted cash flows dis-
counted to present value using an
appropriate discount rate.  The
charge consisted of $80 million relat-
ed to the Lamineer product line of
the Powder Coatings business and $15
million associated with our Specialty
Magnesia product line in the
Performance Chemicals segment.
The Lamineer charge was primarily
the result of a sustained down turn in
the office furniture market, while the
$15 million Specialty Magnesia
charge was primarily due to internal
and external changes in the business.
The charge was recorded as a provi-
sion for restructuring and asset
impairments in the Consolidated

Statement of Operations.  See Note 3:
Provision for Restructuring and Asset
Impairments for additional informa-
tion on the impairments. 

In 2002, we recognized a $121 mil-
lion, net impairment charge, of
which $103 million was recorded to
adjust the carrying value of certain
finite-lived intangible assets to their
fair values.  Fair value was estimated
based upon forecasted cash flows dis-
counted to present value using an
appropriate discount rate.  The
charge was due to a sustained down-
turn in the dry film photoresist prod-
uct line of the Printed Wiring Board
business.  The charge was recorded
as a provision for restructuring and
asset impairments in the
Consolidated Statement of
Operations.  See Note 3: Provision for
Restructuring and Asset Impairments for
additional information on the
impairments. 

The following table provides informa-
tion regarding our intangible assets:

At December 31, 2003 At December 31, 2002

(in millions) Gross Gross
carrying Accumulated carrying Accumulated

amount(2) amortization Net amount amortization Net

Finite-lived Intangibles:
Customer list $    973 $  (112) $    861 $ 986 $    (95) $    891
Tradename 158 (22) 136 177 (22) 155
Developed technology 394 (102) 292 458 (95) 363
Patents, license agreements

and other 171 (82) 89 142 (50) 92

1,696 (318) 1,378 1,763 (262) 1,501

Indefinite-lived Intangibles:
Tradename 318 (20) 298 320 (20) 300
Strategic location (1) 62 (4) 58 64 (4) 60

380 (24) 356 384 (24) 360

Total $ 2,076 $ (342) $ 1,734 $ 2,147 $ (286) $ 1,861

(1) Strategic location is a specific customer-related asset that recognizes the intangible value of our supply source in relation to a
customer’s location.

(2) Certain of our intangible assets are denominated in foreign currencies and are translated using the appropriate U.S. dollar
exchange rate.  During 2003, the total currency translation adjustment was $29 million and is included in gross carrying
amount.  In addition, $6 million of finite-lived intangibles were added during 2003 in connection with recent acquisitions.  
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Amortization expense for finite-lived
intangible assets was $67 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003
compared to $69 million in 2002 and
$156 million for goodwill and intan-
gible assets in 2001.  Estimated future
amortization expense during the

next five years is $64 million in 2004,
$60 million in 2005, $59 million in
2006, $59 million in 2007 and $59
million in 2008. 

A reconciliation of reported earnings
(loss) from continuing operations

before cumulative effect of account-
ing change and reported net earn-
ings (loss), as adjusted to reflect the
adoption of SFAS No. 142 is as 
follows:

(in millions, except per share amounts) For the years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001(1,2)

Reported earnings (loss) from continuing operations before   
cumulative effect of accounting change $ 288 $ 210 $ (71)

Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangibles  - -         79

Adjusted earnings (loss) from continuing operations before 
cumulative effect of accounting change $  288  $     210 $ 8

Reported net earnings (loss) $  280 $ (570 ) $ 395
Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived  

intangibles    - - 79
Adjusted net earnings (loss) $  280 $ (570 ) $ 474

Reported basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.30    $ .95 $ (.32)

Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangibles           - - .36

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.30   $ .95  $ .04 

Reported diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing    
operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.30    $ .95 $ (.32)

Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangibles           - - .35

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing   
operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $  1.30   $  .95 $ .03

Reported basic earnings (loss) per share $  1.26 $ (2.58 ) $ 1.79
Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived 

intangibles - - .36
Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.26 $ (2.58 ) $ 2.15
Reported diluted earnings (loss) per share $  1.26 $ (2.57 ) $ 1.79
Add back: Amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived 

intangibles - - .35

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share $  1.26 $ (2.57 ) $ 2.14

(1) Reported diluted loss per share for 2001 was calculated using 220.2 million weighted average shares outstanding.  There is no dilu-
tive effect of stock options if we report a loss from continuing operations.

(2) Adjusted diluted earnings per share for 2001 was calculated using 221.2 million weighted average shares outstanding, reflecting
the effect of dilutive securities.
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Note 15:  Other Assets

(in millions) 2003 2002

Prepaid pension cost (see Note 8) $ 272 $ 303
Rabbi trust assets (see Note 8) 53 45
Other employee benefit assets 11 15
Fair market value of interest rate swaps (see Note 5) 55 94
Other non-current assets 73 104

Total $ 464 $ 561

Note 16:  Short-Term Obligations

(in millions) 2003 2002

Other short-term borrowings $ 97 $ 132
Current portion of long-term debt 10 48

Total $ 107 $ 180

Generally, our short-term borrowings
consist of bank loans with an original
maturity of twelve months or less. As of
December 31, 2003, we had uncom-
mitted credit arrangements with finan-
cial institutions to provide local credit
facilities to our foreign subsidiaries for
working capital needs. At December
31, 2003 and 2002, $73 million and
$109 million, respectively, was out-
standing under such arrangements.
The weighted-average interest rate of
short-term borrowings was 5.2% and
3.4% at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.  

In October 2003, we terminated our
revolving credit agreement due April
2004 and replaced it with a new facili-
ty. This new credit commitment of
$500 million, which expires in 2006,
carries various interest rates and fees
and is maintained for general corpo-

rate purposes including support for
any future issuance of commercial
paper. The commitment was unused
at December 31, 2003.  No compen-
sating balance is required for this
revolving credit agreement.

During November 2003, we entered
into a three-year receivables securiti-
zation agreement under which one
of our operating subsidiaries in
Japan sells a defined pool of trade
accounts receivable without recourse
to an unrelated third party financier
who purchases and receives owner-
ship interest and the risk of credit
loss in those receivables.  The trans-
fers qualify for sales treatment under
SFAS No. 140,"Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities."  The utilized balance
under the receivables securitization

agreement, $4 million at December
31, 2003, is not included in debt on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets but
rather is reflected as a reduction of
receivables.  The maximum availabil-
ity under the agreement is $17 mil-
lion.  We continue to retain collec-
tion and administrative responsibili-
ties in the receivables.  When the
third party financier sells the receiv-
ables the associated discount is
accounted for as a loss on the sale of
receivables and has been included in
other expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. This dis-
count was immaterial in fiscal year
2003.  Due to the short-term nature
of the non-interest bearing receiv-
ables sold, changes to the key
assumptions would not materially
impact the recorded loss on the sale
of receivables.
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In December of 2003, we retired
early the $451 million 6.95% notes
due in July 2004.  This debt retire-
ment resulted in an after-tax charge
of $2 million.

On February 27, 2002, we issued 20
billion yen-denominated 3.5% notes
due 2032 with interest payable semi-
annually every March 29th and
September 29th.  The notes are
callable at par value annually after
March 2012.  Proceeds from the
issuance were used for general cor-
porate purposes.

During 2002, we retired approxi-
mately $76 million of the 7.85%
debentures due 2029, $38 million of
the 9.50% notes due 2021 and $15
million of the obligation due 2012.
These debt retirements resulted in
an after-tax charge of $8 million.

We use interest rate swap agreements
to convert substantial portions of cer-
tain fixed rate notes into floating
rates based on three-month LIBOR
and six-month EURIBOR.  Under

GAAP, the LIBOR components of
these notes are adjusted to fair mar-
ket value while the swaps are recog-
nized at fair market value in an off-
setting amount as either an asset or
liability.  See Note 5:  Financial
Instruments for a more complete dis-
cussion of interest rate swap agree-
ments.  At December 31, 2003 and
2002, aggregate fair market value
adjustments for these notes were $55
million and $94 million, respectively,
and are included in other assets in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets
(see Note 15: Other Assets).

The 9.65% debentures due 2020,
previously issued by Morton, are
credit-sensitive unsecured obliga-
tions of the company (Debentures).
The coupon interest rate on the
Debentures is subject to adjustment
upon changes in the debt rating of
the Debentures as determined by
Standard and Poor’s Corporation or
Moody’s Investors Service.  The 40
basis-point increase in the coupon
rate of the Debentures resulting

from the November 2002 downgrade
by Standard and Poor’s is not signifi-
cant to us.  Upon acquiring Morton,
we recorded a fair market value
adjustment on the Debentures,
which is being amortized ratably over
the remaining life of the Debentures.

Our revolving credit and other loan
agreements require that earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization, excluding certain
items, exceed 3.5 times consolidated
interest expense on a rolling four-
quarter basis.  There are no restric-
tions on the payment of dividends.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, we made
interest payments, net of capitalized
interest, of $143 million, $139 million
and $199 million, respectively.

Aggregate debt maturities at
December 31, 2003 were: $10 million
in 2004, $10 million in 2005, $10 mil-
lion in 2006, $532 million in 2007, $8
million in 2008 and $1,795 million
thereafter.

Note 17:  Long-Term Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

The following table illustrates the carrying value of long-term debt included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2003 and 2002.

2003 2002

Fair Market Fair Market
Value Value

(in millions) Principal Adjustments Total Principal Adjustments Total

7.85% debentures due 2029 $ 882 $ - $ 882 $ 882 $ - $ 882
7.40% notes due 2009 500 55 555 500 70 570
6.95% notes due 2004 - - - 451 24 475
6.0% notes due 2007 (denominated in Euro) 504 - 504 420 - 420
3.50% notes due 2032 (denominated in Yen) 187 - 187 169 - 169
9.65% debentures due 2020 145 21 166 145 22 167
9.80% notes due 2020 111 - 111 118 - 118
8.74% obligation due through 2012 26 - 26 28 - 28
9.50% notes due 2021 (callable 2002 at 104.75%) - - - - - -
1.55% notes due 2003 (denominated in Yen) - - - 29 - 29
Other 10 37 47 18 44 62

2,365 113 2,478 2,760 160 2,920

Less current portion (10) (48)

Total long-term debt $ 2,468 $2,872
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Note 18: Accrued Liabilities

(in millions) 2003 2002

Salaries and wages $ 158 $ 141
Interest 80 94
Sales incentive programs and other selling accruals 96 91
Taxes, other than income taxes 58 42
Employee benefits 88 79
Reserve for restructuring (see Note 3) 75 34
Insurance and legal 35 18
Reserve for environmental

remediation (see Note 25) 30 26

Other 161 185

Total $ 781 $ 710

Note 19: Other Liabilities

Note 20: Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The reconciliation from basic to diluted earnings (loss) per share is as follows:

(in millions) 2003 2002

Reserves for environmental remediation (see Note 25) $ 97 $ 97
Deferred revenue on supply contracts 54 63
Other 87 58

Total $ 238 $ 218

Earnings
(in millions, except per share amounts) (Loss) Shares Per Share

(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

2003
Net earnings available to shareholders $ 280 221.5 $ 1.26
Dilutive effect of options(a) - .9
Diluted loss per share $ 280 222.4 $ 1.26
2002
Net loss available to shareholders $ (570) 220.9 $ (2.58)
Dilutive effect of options(a) - 1.0
Diluted loss per share $ (570) 221.9 $ (2.57)

2001
Net earnings available to shareholders $ 395 220.2 $ 1.79
Dilutive effect of options(a) - -
Diluted earnings per share $ 395 220.2 $ 1.79

(a)  For the year ended December 31, 2003, 5.5 million shares attributable to stock options were excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings per share as the exercise price of the stock options was greater than the average market price.  For the year
ended December 31, 2002, 5.4 million shares attributable to stock options were excluded from the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share as the exercise price of the stock options was greater than the average market price.  For the year ended
December 31, 2001, 8.0 million shares attributable to stock options were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per
share given the loss from continuing operations.  
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Note 23:  Stock Compensation
Plans

We have various stock-based compen-
sation plans for directors, executives
and employees.  The majority of our
stock-based compensation grants
through 2003 were made in restrict-
ed stock, restricted stock units and
non-qualified stock options.   Prior to
2003, we accounted for these plans
under APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees.”  Accordingly, no com-
pensation expense was recognized
for stock options.  Effective January
1, 2003, we prospectively adopted the
fair value method of recording stock-
based compensation as defined in
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.”  As a result,
we began to expense the fair value of
stock options that were awarded to
employees after January 1, 2003.
Total compensation expense recog-
nized in the Consolidated Statement

of Operations for stock options was
$3 million in 2003.  

All employee stock option and
restricted stock awards are expensed
over their respective vesting periods,
which are typically three years for
stock options and five years for
restricted stock awards.  The value of
compensation expense is equal to
the fair value on the date of grant.
We calculate the fair value of stock
options utilizing the Black-Scholes

Note 21: Stockholders' Equity

Dividends paid on ESOP shares,
used as a source of funds for meet-
ing the ESOP financing obligation,
were $13 million, $13 million and
$14 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.  These dividends were
recorded net of the related U.S. tax
benefits.  The number of ESOP
shares not allocated to plan mem-
bers at December 31, 2003 and 2002
were 10.5 million and 11.1 million,
respectively.

We recorded compensation expense
of $7 million in 2003, $6 million in
2002 and $6 million in 2001 for
ESOP shares allocated to plan mem-
bers.  We expect to record annual
compensation expense at approxi-
mately this level over the next 17
years as the remaining $100 million

of ESOP shares are allocated.  The
allocation of shares from the ESOP is
expected to fund a substantial por-
tion of our future obligation to
match employees savings plan contri-
butions as the market price of Rohm
and Haas stock appreciates.

We repurchased an insignificant
number of shares in 2003, 2002 and
2001.  

Shareholders’ Rights Plan
In 2000, we adopted a shareholders’
rights plan under which the Board of
Directors declared a dividend of one
preferred stock purchase right
(Right) for each outstanding share of
our common stock held of record as
of the close of business on November
3, 2000.  The Rights initially are
deemed to be attached to the com-
mon shares and detach and become
exercisable only if (with certain

exceptions and limitations) a person
or group has obtained or attempts to
obtain beneficial ownership of 15%
or more of the outstanding shares of
our common stock or is otherwise
determined to be an “acquiring per-
son” by the Board of Directors.  Each
Right, if and when it becomes exer-
cisable, initially will entitle holders of
the Rights to purchase one one-thou-
sandth (subject to adjustment) of a
share of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock for $150 per one
one-thousandth of a Preferred Share,
subject to adjustment.  Each holder
of a Right (other than the acquiring
person) is entitled to receive a num-
ber of shares of our common stock
with a market value equal to two
times the exercise price, or $300.
The Rights expire, unless earlier
exercised or redeemed, on
December 31, 2010.

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Cumulative translation adjustments $ 13 $ (67) $ (120)

Minimum pension liability adjustments (62) (75) (25)

Net gain (loss) on derivative instruments (3) (2) (1)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (52) $ (144) $ (146)

Note 22: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

 



83.

fair value model.  The fair value of
restricted stock awards is equal to the
average of the high and low price of
Rohm and Haas Company shares on
the date of grant.   Total compensa-
tion expense recognized for restrict-
ed stock awards was $8 million, $3
million and $3 million in 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.  

1999 Stock Plan
Under this plan, as amended in 2001,
we may grant as options or restricted
stock up to 19 million shares of com-
mon stock with no more than 3 mil-
lion of these shares granted to any
employee as options over a five-year
period.  No more than 50% of the
shares in this plan can be issued as
restricted stock.  Awards under this
plan may be granted to our employ-
ees and directors.  Options granted
under this plan in 2003, 2002 and
2001 were granted at the fair market
value on the date of grant and gener-
ally vest over three years expiring
within 10 years of the grant date.
Restricted stock awards issued in
2003 totaled 1,133,133 at a weighted
average grant-date fair value of
$28.62 per share.  Stockholders are
being asked to amend this plan at the
2004 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders.  Additional informa-
tion is available in our 2004 Proxy
Statement.  

Non-Employee Directors' Stock Plan
of 1997
Under the 1997 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Plan, directors
receive half of their annual retainer
in deferred stock.  Each share of
deferred stock represents the right to
receive one share of our common
stock upon leaving the board.
Directors may also elect to defer all
or part of their cash compensation
into deferred stock.  Annual com-
pensation expense is recorded equal
to the number of deferred stock
shares awarded multiplied by the
market value of our common stock
on the date of award.  Additionally,
directors receive dividend equiva-
lents on each share of deferred stock,
payable in deferred stock, equal to
the dividend paid on a share of com-
mon stock.

Rohm and Haas Company Non-
Qualified Savings Plan
Under this plan, as amended in 2003,
employees above a certain level can
add to their retirement savings by
deferring compensation into the

plan.  We match 60% of participant’s
contributions, up to 6% of the partic-
ipant’s compensation in Rohm and
Haas Stock Units which are rights to
acquire shares of Rohm and Haas
Company common stock.  Partici-
pants can also make an irrevocable
election to convert restricted stock on
which restrictions are about to lapse
into Rohm and Haas Stock Units.  We
do not match these elections.    

Restricted Stock Plan of 1992
Under this plan, executives were
paid some or all of their bonuses in
shares of restricted stock instead of
cash.  Most shares vested after five
years.  No grants were made from
this plan after 1998 and no further
grants can be made under this plan.  

Fixed Stock Option Plans
We have granted stock options to key
employees under our Stock Option
Plans of 1984 and 1992.  Options
granted pursuant to the plans are
priced at the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of the
grant.  Options vested after one year
and most expire 10 years from the
date of grant.  No further grants can
be made under either plan. 

2003 2002 2001

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average

Shares Exercise Shares Exercise Shares Exercise
(000s) Price (000s) Price (000s) Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 11,586 $ 34.19 8,035 $ 30.60 5,696 $ 28.56

Granted 1,221 28.94 4,466 38.88 2,910 33.19

Forfeited (302) 37.26 (222) 37.01 (117) 35.44

Exercised (1,195) 27.03 (693) 21.80 (454) 20.37

Outstanding at end of year 11,310 34.30 11,586 34.19 8,035 30.60

Options exercisable at year end 6,744 33.65 5,470 30.64 4,612 27.75

Weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during the year $ 8.11 $ 13.12 $ 10.74

A summary of our stock options as of December 31 is presented below:
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The Black-Scholes option pricing
model was used to estimate the fair
value for each grant made under the

Rohm and Haas plan during the year.
The following are the weighted-aver-

age assumptions used for all shares
granted in the years indicated:

2003 2002 2001

Dividend yield 2.84% 2.06% 2.42%
Volatility 34.48 34.36 33.82
Risk-free interest rate 3.08 4.76 4.95

Expected life 6 years 6 years 6 years

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Range Number Average Average Number Average
Of Outstanding Remaining Exercise Exercisable Exercise

Exercise Prices (000s) Life (Years) Price (000s) Price

$17 to 25 723 1.9 $ 22.17 723 $ 22.17
$25 to 37 5,430 6.6 $ 31.14 3,390 $ 31.43
$37 to 45 5,157 7.7 $ 39.33 2,631 $ 39.67

11,310 6,744

Note 24: Leases

We lease certain properties and
equipment used in our operations,
primarily under operating leases.
Most lease agreements require mini-
mum lease payments plus a contin-
gent rental based on equipment
usage and escalation factors. Total
net rental expense incurred under
operating leases amounted to $85
million in 2003, $75 million in 2002
and $73 million in 2001.  

Total future minimum lease pay-
ments under the terms of non-cance-
lable operating leases are as follows:

Note 25: Contingent Liabilities,
Guarantees and Commitments 

There is a risk of environmental
impact in chemical manufacturing
operations.  Our environmental poli-
cies and practices are designed to
ensure compliance with existing laws
and regulations and to minimize the
possibility of significant environmen-
tal impact.   

The laws and regulations under
which we operate require significant
expenditures for capital improve-
ments, the operation of environmen-
tal protection equipment and reme-
diation.  Future developments and
even more stringent environmental
regulations may require us to make
additional unforeseen environmen-
tal expenditures.  Our major com-
petitors are confronted by substan-
tially similar environmental risks and
regulations.

We are a party in various government
enforcement and private actions
associated with former waste disposal
sites, many of which are on the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency's
(EPA) National Priority List, and we
have been named a potentially
responsible party (PRP) at approxi-
mately 140 inactive waste sites where
remediation costs have been or may
be incurred under the Federal
Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and
Liability Act and similar state
statutes.  In some of these cases we
may also be held responsible for
alleged property damage.  We have
provided for future costs at certain of
these sites.  We are also involved in
corrective actions at some of our
manufacturing facilities.  

We consider a broad range of infor-
mation when we determine the
amount necessary for remediation

(in millions)

2004 $ 63

2005 49

2006 37

2007 30

2008 29

Thereafter 55
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accruals, including available facts
about the waste site, existing and pro-
posed remediation technology and
the range of costs of applying those
technologies, prior experience, gov-
ernment proposals for this or similar
sites, the liability of other parties, the
ability of other PRPs to pay costs
apportioned to them and current
laws and regulations.  We assess the
accruals quarterly and update as
additional technical and legal infor-
mation becomes available.  However,
at certain sites, we are unable, due to
a variety of factors, to assess and
quantify the ultimate extent of our
responsibility for study and remedia-
tion costs.  Among the sites for which
we have accrued liabilities are both
non-company-owned Superfund sites
and company facilities.  Our signifi-
cant sites are described in more
detail below.

Wood-Ridge Site
In Wood-Ridge, New Jersey, Morton
and Velsicol Chemical Corporation
(Velsicol) have been held jointly and
severally liable for the cost of reme-
diation of environmental problems
associated with a mercury processing
plant (Site) acquired by a Morton
predecessor.  As of the date we
acquired Morton, Morton disclosed
and accrued for certain ongoing
studies related to the Site.
Additional data gathering has
delayed completion of these studies.
In our allocation of the purchase
price of Morton, we accrued for addi-
tional study costs and additional
remediation costs based on the ongo-
ing studies.

Our exposure at the Site will depend
in part on the results of attempts to
obtain contributions from others
believed to share responsibility.  In
2001, Velsicol stopped paying its

share of expenses.  Velsicol’s indem-
nitor, Fruit of the Loom, Inc., has
been reorganized under Chapter 11
bankruptcy and was discharged of its
responsibility for this Site after a pay-
ment to us of approximately $1 mil-
lion.  In 2002, the bankruptcy court
approved a government settlement
entered into with Velsicol, Fruit of
the Loom, and other parties, which
created a fund to be used to respond
to the Velsicol liabilities at several
sites, including Wood-Ridge.
Although Morton has contractual
rights against Velsicol for payment of
a share of remedial costs that are not
affected by the government settle-
ment, we believe Velsicol’s ability to
pay is limited.

In addition, we paid $225,000 for the
EPA to develop a work plan for a sep-
arate study of contamination in
Berry’s Creek, which runs near the
Site, and of the surrounding wet-
lands. In 2002, the EPA requested
information relating to sources of
contamination in Berry’s Creek; we
understand this request was sent to
over ninety potentially responsible
parties.  Today, there is much uncer-
tainty as to what will be required to
address Berry’s Creek, but cleanup
costs could be very high and our
share of these costs could be materi-
al to the results of our operations,
cash flows and consolidated financial
position.

Moss Point
During 1996, the EPA notified
Morton of possible irregularities in
water discharge monitoring reports
filed by its Moss Point, Mississippi
plant in early 1995.  Morton investi-
gated and identified other environ-
mental issues at the plant.  Although
at the date of acquisition Morton had
accrued for some remediation and

legal costs, we revised these accruals
as part of the allocation of the pur-
chase price of Morton based on our
discussions with the authorities and
on the information available as of
June 30, 2000.  In 2000, we reached
an agreement with the EPA, the
Department of Justice and the State
of Mississippi, resolving these histori-
cal environmental issues.  The agree-
ment received court approval in early
2001.  The accruals established for
this matter were sufficient to cover
the costs of the settlement.  As a part
of this agreement, 23 chemical facili-
ties were subject to environmental
audit by an independent consultant.
Findings were provided to the gov-
ernment, but penalties, if any, associ-
ated with the findings have not yet
been negotiated.  In December 2001,
we closed the chemicals portion of
the Moss Point facility and are in the
process of closing the remaining
Electronic Materials portion as part
of the sale of the dry film business.
In December 2002, a complaint was
filed in Mississippi on behalf of over
700 plaintiffs against Morton
International, Rohm and Haas,
Joseph Magazzu, a former Morton
employee, and the Mississippi
Department of Environmental
Quality alleging personal injury and
property damage caused by environ-
mental contamination. Similar com-
plaints were filed in March 2003 in
Mississippi on behalf of additional
plaintiffs.  At this time, we see no
basis for these claims and we will
defend these cases vigorously.

Paterson
We closed the former Morton plant
at Paterson, New Jersey in December
2001, and are currently undertaking
remediation of the site under New
Jersey’s Industrial Site Recovery Act.
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Investigation of contamination of
shallow soils and groundwater is
nearly complete, with further investi-
gation of deeper groundwater ongo-
ing.  Remediation systems for prod-
uct and shallow groundwater recov-
ery are in operation. Removal of
most of the contaminated soil is com-
plete and further soil remediation
measures are under design. An
accrual was recorded for known
remediation activities in September
2000, and revised in September 2002,
to address information obtained dur-
ing the ongoing site investigation.  

Groundwater Treatment and Monitoring
Major remediation for certain sites,
such as Kramer, Whitmoyer,
Woodlands and Goose Farm has
been completed.  We are continuing
groundwater remediation and moni-
toring programs.  Reserves for these
costs have been established. 

Company Manufacturing Facilities
We also have accruals for corrective
action programs under governmen-
tal environmental laws at several of
our manufacturing sites.  The more
significant of these accruals have
been recorded at the following sites:
Bristol, Pennsylvania; Houston,
Texas; Ringwood, Illinois; and
Mozzanica, Italy.

Remediation Reserves, Reasonably Possible
Amounts and Insurance Settlements
Our reserves for environmental

remediation, as presented below, are
recorded appropriately as current
and long-term liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

consolidated financial position or
consolidated cash flows, but could
have a material adverse effect on con-
solidated results of operations or
cash flows in any given period.

We have actively pursued lawsuits
over insurance coverage for certain
environmental liabilities.  It is our
practice to reflect environmental
insurance recoveries in the results of
operations for the quarter in which
the litigation is resolved through set-
tlement or other appropriate legal
processes.  These resolutions typical-
ly resolve coverage for both past and
future environmental spending.   We
settled with several of our insurance
carriers and recorded earnings pre-
tax of approximately $58 million, $76
million and $13 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.  Although we have
recorded significant gains from
insurance settlements in the past  two
years, we cannot expect to receive
like amounts in future settlements.

Other Environmental Matters
Capital spending for new environ-
mental protection equipment was
$18 million in 2003 versus $23 mil-
lion in 2002 and $26 million in 2001.
Spending for 2004 and 2005 is
expected to be $21 million and $25
million, respectively.  Capital expen-
ditures in this category include proj-
ects whose primary purposes are pol-
lution control and safety, as well as
environmental aspects of projects in
other categories that are intended
primarily to improve operations or
increase plant efficiency.  We expect
future capital spending for environ-
mental protection equipment to be
consistent with prior-year spending
patterns.  Capital spending does not
include the cost of environmental
remediation of waste disposal sites.

(in millions) Balance Note

December 31, 2001 $ 150
Amounts charged to earnings 3 (1)
Spending (30)
December 31, 2002 $ 123
Amounts charged to earnings 23
Spending (19)
December 31, 2003 $ 127

Note:
(1) Includes an adjustment to decrease the liability for our Whitmoyer site, based on

a favorable settlement with GlaxoSmithKline in January 2003.

Our reserves represent those costs that
we believe to be probable and reason-
ably estimable.  Other costs, which
have not met the definition of proba-
ble, but are reasonably estimable have
been included in our disclosure of rea-
sonably possible loss contingencies.  In
addition to accrued environmental lia-
bilities, we have identified reasonably
possible loss contingencies related to
environmental matters of approxi-
mately $84 million and $70 million at
December 31, 2003 and December 31,
2002, respectively.  

Further, we have identified other
sites, including our larger manufac-
turing facilities, where additional
future environmental remediation
may be required, but these loss con-
tingencies cannot be reasonably esti-
mated at this time.  These matters
involve significant unresolved issues,
including the number of parties
found liable at each site and their
ability to pay, the outcome of negoti-
ations with regulatory authorities,
the alternative methods of remedia-
tion and the range of costs associated
with those alternatives.  We believe
that these matters, when ultimately
resolved, which may be over an
extended period of time, will not
have a material adverse effect on our
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The cost of operating and maintain-
ing environmental facilities was $105
million, $101 million and $129 mil-
lion in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respec-
tively, and was charged against cur-
rent-year earnings.

Other Litigation
In February 2003, we were served
with European Commission
Decisions requiring submission to
investigations in France and the
United Kingdom, a search permit in
Japan from the Japanese Fair Trade
Commission, an order for the pro-
duction of records and information
in Canada and two grand jury
records subpoenas in the United
States all relating to a global antitrust
investigation of the Plastics Additives
industry. We also received a request
for information from the Japanese
Fair Trade Commission.  The
Japanese Fair Trade Commission has
initiated proceedings against named
Japanese plastics additives producers
but did not initiate action against
Rohm and Haas.  We do not expect
further action in the Japanese inves-
tigation.  We are cooperating fully
with all governmental authorities.

In addition, the company has been
served with seven private civil
antitrust actions in U.S. District Court
for the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania and one in State Court
in Ohio.  These actions have been
brought against Rohm and Haas and
other producers of plastics additives
products by purchasers of these prod-
ucts and seek civil damages as a result
of alleged violations of the antitrust
laws.  The named plaintiffs in each of
these actions are seeking to sue on
behalf of all similarly situated direct
purchasers of plastics additives prod-
ucts.  Federal law provides that per-
sons who have been injured by viola-
tions of Federal antitrust law may

recover three times their actual dam-
ages plus attorneys fees.  Ohio state
antitrust law provides for double dam-
age indemnity.  We do not believe
these cases have merit and will defend
them vigorously.

There has been increased publicity
about asbestos liabilities faced by
manufacturing companies. In the
past, many companies with manufac-
turing facilities had asbestos on their
premises.  As a result of the bank-
ruptcy of asbestos producers, plain-
tiffs’ attorneys are increasing their
focus on peripheral defendants,
including the company, which had
asbestos on its premises.   Histori-
cally, these premises cases have been
dismissed or settled for minimal
amounts because of the minimal like-
lihood of exposure at our facilities.
As the asbestos producers are bank-
rupted, the demands against compa-
nies with older manufacturing facili-
ties of any type in the United States,
such as the company are increasing.
We have reserved amounts for prem-
ises asbestos cases that we currently
believe are probable and estimable;
we cannot reasonably estimate what
our asbestos costs will be if the cur-
rent situation deteriorates and there
is no tort reform.

There are also pending lawsuits filed
against Morton related to employee
exposure to asbestos at a manufac-
turing facility in Weeks Island,
Louisiana with additional lawsuits
expected.  We expect that most of
these cases will be dismissed because
they are barred under worker’s com-
pensation laws; however, cases involv-
ing asbestos-caused malignancies
may not be barred under Louisiana
law.  Subsequent to the Morton
acquisition, we commissioned med-
ical studies to estimate possible
future claims and recorded accruals

based on the results.  Morton has also
been sued in connection with
asbestos related matters in the for-
mer Friction Division of the former
Thiokol Corporation, which merged
with Morton in 1982.  Settlement
amounts to date have been minimal
and many cases have closed with no
payment.  We estimate that all costs
associated with future claims, includ-
ing defense costs, will be well below
our insurance limits.  

We are also parties to litigation arising
out of the ordinary conduct of our
business.  Recognizing the amounts
reserved for such items and the
uncertainty of the ultimate outcomes,
it is our opinion that the resolution of
all these pending lawsuits, investiga-
tions and claims will not have a mate-
rial adverse effect, individually or in
the aggregate, upon our results of
operations, cash flows or our consoli-
dated financial position.  

Indemnifications
In connection with the divestiture of
several of our operating businesses,
we have agreed to retain, and/or
indemnify the purchaser against cer-
tain liabilities of the divested busi-
ness, including liabilities relating to
defective products sold by the busi-
ness or environmental contamina-
tion arising or taxes accrued prior to
the date of the sale.   Our indemnifi-
cation obligations with respect to
these liabilities may be indefinite as
to duration and may or may not be
subject to a deductible, minimum
claim amount or cap.  As such, it is
not possible for us to predict the like-
lihood that a claim will be made or to
make a reasonable estimate of the
maximum potential loss or range of
loss.  No company assets are held as
collateral for these indemnifications
and no specific liabilities have been
established for such guarantees.
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certain leasehold improvements at
the end of the lease term.  

The adoption of SFAS No. 143 result-
ed in a transition charge of $11 mil-
lion ($8 million after-tax), reported
as a cumulative effect of accounting
change in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.  At January
1, 2003, we recognized a liability of
$14 million representing total asset
retirement obligations, which is
included in other liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Additionally, the carrying values of
the related long-lived assets were
increased by $3 million, net of accu-
mulated depreciation.  Below is a rec-
onciliation of total estimated retire-
ment obligations from January 1,
2003 through December 31, 2003.

issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of
FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No.
13, and Technical Corrections.”  This
statement amends SFAS No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases,” and other
existing authoritative pronounce-
ments in order to make various tech-
nical corrections, clarify meanings,
or describe their applicability under
changed conditions and also limits
the classification of debt extinguish-
ments as extraordinary items.  We
adopted this statement effective
January 1, 2003.  For the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
recorded losses on early extinguish-
ment of debt of $12 million ($8 mil-
lion after-tax) and $2 million ($1 mil-
lion after-tax), respectively as an
extraordinary item.  In accordance
with this statement, we have now
reclassified the $12 million and $2
million pre-tax loss from extraordi-
nary to continuing operations.

Guarantor’s Accounting
In November 2002, the FASB issued
FASB Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” (FIN 45).  FIN 45 requires
that the guarantor recognize, at the
inception of certain guarantees, a lia-
bility for the fair value of the obliga-
tion undertaken in issuing such guar-
antees.  FIN 45 also requires addi-
tional disclosure requirements about
the guarantor’s obligations under
certain guarantees that it has issued.
The initial recognition and measure-
ment provisions of this interpreta-
tion are applicable on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modi-
fied after December 31, 2002 and the
disclosure requirements were effec-

Note 26:  New Accounting
Pronouncements

Asset Retirement Obligations
Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.”   This statement
requires us to recognize the fair
value of a liability for an asset retire-
ment obligation during the period in
which it is incurred.  The correspon-
ding asset retirement costs are capi-
talized as part of the carrying value
of the related long-lived assets and
depreciated over the asset’s useful
life.  Changes in the liability balance
due to the passage of time are meas-
ured by applying an interest method
of allocation to the liability amount
at the beginning of the period.  This
amount is recognized as an increase
to the liability balance and as an
operating expense in our
Consolidated Statements of
Operations.  Revisions to the timing
or the amount of the original esti-
mate of undiscounted cash flows, are
recognized as an increase or
decrease in the carrying amount of
the liability and the related asset
retirement costs capitalized as part of
the underlying long-lived asset.  

Our asset retirement obligations are
primarily associated with the follow-
ing: 1) the capping of certain brine
and gas wells used by our Salt seg-
ment for the production of various
products; and 2) the contractual
requirement to remove or dismantle

(in millions)

Balance as of January 1, 2003 $ 14
Liabilities settled (2)
Accretion expense 1
Currency effects 1
Revisions in estimated cash flows (1)
Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ 13

The disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 143 provide that the pro forma
liability be presented upon adoption.
Our pro forma asset retirement obli-
gation would have been $13 million
if SFAS No. 143 was adopted on
January 1, 2002.

The liability for certain asset retire-
ment obligations cannot currently be
measured as the retirement dates are
not yet determinable.  We will recog-
nize the liability when sufficient
information exists to estimate a
range of potential retirement dates.

Debt Extinguishment and Lease
Accounting
In April 2002, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
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tive for financial statement periods
ending after December 15, 2002.
The adoption of FIN 45 did not have
a material impact on our financial
statements.

Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2002, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation - Transition
and Disclosure,” which amends SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” to provide
alternative methods of transition for
a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for
stock-based compensation.  The
statement amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to
require prominent disclosures in
both annual and interim financial
statements of the method of account-
ing for stock-based employee com-
pensation and the effect of the meth-
ods used to calculate reported
results.  While SFAS No. 148 does not
require companies to account for
employee stock options using the fair
value method, the disclosure provi-
sions of SFAS No. 148 are applicable
to all companies with stock-based
employee compensation, regardless
of whether they account for that
compensation using the fair value
method of SFAS No. 123 or the
intrinsic value method of APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.”  The
transition guidance and annual and
interim disclosure provisions of SFAS
No. 148 were effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002.  We
adopted the annual disclosure provi-
sions as of December 31, 2002.  

Effective January 1, 2003, we
prospectively adopted the fair value
method of recording stock-based
compensation as defined in SFAS
No. 123.  As a result, in 2003 we
began to expense the fair value of
stock options that were awarded to
employees after January 1, 2003.
Prior to 2003, we did not recognize
compensation expense for stock
options.  Under the prospective
method, the initial year impact is
roughly one-third (based on our vest-
ing policy) of the total estimated fair
value of the 2003 grants.  The annual
impact of adopting this pronounce-
ment will increase expense in subse-
quent years until a full “run rate” of
expense is achieved.  Results for
prior years have not been restated.  

Variable Interest Entities
In January 2003, the FASB issued
FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46).  FIN 46 requires
that a variable interest be consolidat-
ed by a company if that company is
subject to a majority of the risk of loss
from the variable interest entity’s
activities or entitled to receive a
majority of the entity’s residual
returns or both.  The consolidation
requirements apply immediately to
variable interest entities created after
January 31, 2003.  The consolidation
requirements apply to older entities
in the first fiscal year or interim peri-
od ending after December 15, 2003.
Certain of the disclosure require-
ments apply in all financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003,
regardless of when the variable inter-
est entity was established.   On

February 1, 2003, we adopted FIN 46
for variable interest entities created
after January 31, 2003 and it did not
have a material impact on our finan-
cial statements.  In December 2003,
the FASB deferred the provisions of
FIN 46 for all other variable interest
entities until March 31, 2004.   We
believe that the adoption of this
statement will not have a material
impact.   

Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 149, “Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” to improve finan-
cial reporting by requiring that con-
tracts with comparable characteris-
tics be accounted for similarly.  The
statement amends and clarifies finan-
cial accounting reporting for deriva-
tive instruments, including certain
derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts and for hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
The statement clarifies: 1) under
what circumstances a contract with
an initial net investment meets the
characteristic of a derivative; 2) when
a derivative contains a financing
component; and 3) amends the defi-
nition of an “underlying.”  SFAS No.
149 is effective for contracts entered
into or modified after June 30, 2003.
The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did
not have a material impact on our
financial statements.  
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2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Deducted from Accounts Receivable -
Allowances for losses:

Balance at beginning of year $ 55 $ 54 $ 43 
Additions charged to earnings 20 16 25 
Acquisitions - - 1 
Charge-offs, net of recoveries (18 ) (15 ) (15)

Balance at end of year $ 57 $ 55 $ 54 

SCHEDULE II
ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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